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.~ ORIGINAL 2033

ILLINOIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD

APPLICATION FOR PERMIT RECEIVED

SECTION 1. IDENTIFICATION, GENERAL INFORMATION, AND CERTIFICATION, 0 5 9 2012

This Section must be completed for all projects.

SEEVEALTH FACILITIES &
.. . e L. IC
Facility/Project Identification ES REVIEW BOARD
Facility Name: Center for Comprehensive Services, Inc., Palatine
Street Address: 1158 North Deer Ave,
City and Zip Code: Palatine, IL 50067
County: Cook Health Service Area VII Health Planning Area: N/A
Applicant /Co-Applicant Identification
Provide for each co-applicant [refer to Part 1130.220].
Exact Legal Name: MENTOR ABI- LLC
Address: 313 Congress Street Boston, MA 02210
Name of Registered Agent:
Name of Chief Executive Officer: wiliam dufty
CEO Address: 313 Congress Boston, MA 02210
Telephone Number: 617-7s04841
Type of Ownership of Applicant/Co-Applicant
O Non-profit Corporation O Partnership
] For-profit Corporation [l Governmental
[x] Limited Liability Company ] Sole Proprietorship ] Other
o Corporations and limited liability companies must provide an lllinois certificate of good
standing.
o Partnerships must provide the name of the state in which organized and the name and address of
each partner specifying whether each is a general or limited partner.
APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-1 IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM. . .

Primary Contact
Perscn to receive all correspondence or inquiries during the review period]

Name: Chris Williamson

Title: vice President of Central Operations

Company Name: NeuroRestorative

Address: 308 W, M Street Carbondale, Il 62801

Telephone Number; 618-529-3060

E-mail Address: chns willamson@thementornetwork com

Fax Number: s18-529.3002

Additional Contact
Persaon who is also authorized to discuss the application for permit]

Name’ Chris Cutler

Title: Business Direclor

Com pany Name: NeuroRestorative

Address: 306 w. Mill Carbondale, IL 62901
Telephone Number: 6184574729

E-mail Address: chns.cutier@thementornetwork com

Fax Number: s18-520-2083
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ILLINQIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD APPLICATION FOR PERMIT- May 2010 Edition

Post Permit Contact
[Person to receive all correspondence subsequent to permit issuance-THIS PERSON MUST BE
EMPLOYED BY THE LICENSED HEALTH CARE FACILITY AS DEFINED AT 20 ILCS 3960

Name: Chris Wiliamson

Title: vice President of Central Region

Company Name: NeuroRestorative

Address: 306 wW. Ml Street Carbondala, IL 62501

Telephone Number: 618-529-3080 EXT 104

E-mail Address: chris wilismson@thementometwork com

Fax Number: 618-520-2002

Site Ownership
[Provide this information for each applicable site]

Exact Legal Name of Site Owner: Scioto Properties, SP-15. LLC

Address of Site Owner: 5940 Wilcox Place, Suite A Dublin, OH 43016

Street Address or Legal Description of Site: 460 W. Daniels. Palatine, IL 60067
Proof of ownership or control of the site is to be provided as Attachment 2. Examples of proof of ownership
are property tax statement, tax assessor's documentation, deed, notarized statement of the corporation

attesting to ownership, an option to lease, a letter of intent to lease or a lease.

APPEND ODOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-2, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTTAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM. _ __ .

Operating ldentity/Licensee
{Provide this information for each applicable facility, and insert after this page.]

Exact Legal Name: Center for Comprehensive Services, Inc

Addrass: 306 W. Mil Carbondale, IL 52901

OJ Non-profit Corporation 40 Partnership
[] For-profit Corporation U Governmental
O Limited Liability Company O] Sole Proprietorship O Other

o Carporations and limited liability companies must provide an lllinois Certificate of Good Standing.

o Partnerships must provide the name of the state in which organized and the name and address of
each partner specifying whether each is a general or limited partner.

o Persons with 5 percent or greater interest in the licensee must be identified with the % of
ownership.

as; ?-‘,M{*W sl s
APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT- 3,IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM. e . . N

Organizational Relationships

Provide (for each co-applicant) an organizational chart containing the name and relationship of any
person or entity who is related (as defined in Part 1130.140). |If the related person or entity is participating
in the development or funding of the project, describe the interest and the amount and type of any
financial contribution.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-4, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM.
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Flood Piain Requirements
[Refer to application instructions.]

Provide documentation that the project complies with the requirements of lllinois Executive Order #2005-5
pertaining to construction activities in special flood hazard areas. As part of the flood plain requirements
please provide a map of the proposed project location showing any identified floodplain areas. Floodplain
maps can be printed at www.FEMA.gov or www.illinoisfloodmaps.orq. This map must be in a
readable format. In addition please provide a statement attesting that the project complies with the

requirements of lllinois Executive Order #2005-5 {bttp://iwww.hfsrb.illinois.qov).

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT -5, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APFLICATION FORM. .

Historic Resources Preservation Act Requirements
[Refer to application instructions.]

Provide documentation regarding compliance with the requirements of the Historic Resources
Preservation Act.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-6, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM.

DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT

1. Project Classification
|Check those applicable - refer to Part 1110.40 and Part 1120.20(b)]

Part 1120 Applicability or Classification:
Part 1110 Classification: [Check ane cnly.]
] Substantive [0 Part 1120 Not Applicable

[0 Category A Project
O Non-substantive @ Categary B Project

{1 DHS or BVA Project
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ILLINOIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD APPLICATION FOR PERMIT- May 2010 Edition

2. Narrative Description

Provide in the space below, a brief narrative description of the project. Explain WHAT is to be done in State Board
defined terms, NOT WHY it is being done. If the project site does NOT have a street address, include a legal
description of the site. Include the rationale regarding the project’s classification as substantive or non-substantive.

The applicant proposes to expand on the approved 100 bed CON in the category of Community Based
Residential Rehabilitation Center through renovations of an existing house that we will lease in Palatine,
Illinois. The application is seeking approval for an additional 8 beds under the initial 100 bed approval.
We are making this request because the current bed capacity has remained consistently full throughout
the year.

Center for Comprehensive Services, inc, currently operates 2 of the 5 IDPH licensed Community-Based
Residential Rehabilitation Centers in Illinois. The original license was approved by the (llinois Health
Facilities Planning Board in 2000, and is consistently full at 100 beds. The Carbondale program has great
clinical success, and using the Carbondale program as a model, CCS, Inc., has developed similar
programs in 18 states. CCS is recognized as a national leader in the field.,

The program includes a continuum of post-acute rehabilitation services and community based support
programs, fecusing on individuals who have sustained brain injuries. Services are provided in the
following settings: residential, smafl group, congregate, in-home, host home, outpatient and day
treatment. Individual rehabhilitation plan are developed and used for each participant, reflecting the
person’s strengths, barriers, and interests. The plans focus on the achievement of real life goals, and are
continuously refined as the individual progresses.

The project proposes the expansion of currently approved 100 bed CON, and as such is classified as
substantive. We are seeking approval of a second unit within the 100 approved beds.

Pq 3& L‘l




ILLINOIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD APPLICATION FOR PERMIT- May 2010 Edition

Project Costs and Sources of Funds

Complete the following tabte listing all costs {refer to Part 1120.110) associated with the project. When a

project or any component of a project is to be accomplished by lease, donation, gift, or other means, the
fair market or dollar value (refer to Part 1130.140) of the component must be included in the estimated
project cost. If the project contains non-reviewable components that are not related to the provision of
heaith care, complete the second column of the table below. Note, the use and sources of funds must

equal.

Project Costs and Sources of Funds

USE OF FUNDS CLINICAL

NONCLINICAL

TOTAL

Preplanning Costs

Site Survey and Soil Investigation

Site Preparation

Off Site Wark

New Construction Contracts

Modernization Contracts 180,000

180,000

Contingencies 9000

9,000

Architectural/Engineering Fees

Consulting and Other Fees

Movable or Other Equipment {not in construction
contracts) 1 41 ,400

141,400

Bond Issuance Expense (project related)

Net Interest Expense During Construction (project
related)

Fair Market Value of Leased Space or Equipment 523,000

523,000

Other Costs To Be Capitalized

Acquisition of Building or Other Property (excluding
land}

TOTAL USES OF FUNDS 853,620

853,620

SOURCE OF FUNDS CLINICAL

NONCLINICAL

TOTAL

Cash and Securities 330,400

330,400

Pledges

Gifts and Bequests

Bond tssues (project related)

Mortgages

Leases (fair market value} 523,220

523,220

Governmental Appropriations

Grants

Other Funds and Sources

TOTAL SQURCES OF FUNDS 853,620

853,620

NOTE: {TEMIZATION OF EACH LINE ITEM MUST BE PROVIDED AT ATTACHMENT-7, [N NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER

THE LAST PAGE OF THE APPLICATION FORM.
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Related Project Costs
Provide the following information, as applicable, with respect to any land related to the project that

will be or has been acquired during the last two calendar years:

Land acquisition is related to project (JYes [ No
Purchase Price:  $NA
Fair Market Value: $Na

The project involves the establishment of a new facility or a new category of service

C] Yes @ No

If yes, provide the dollar amount of all non-capitalized operating start-up costs {including
operating deficits) through the first full fiscal year when the project achieves or exceeds the target

utilization specified in Part 1100.

Estimated start-up costs and operating deficit cost is § NA

Project Status and Completion Schedules
Indicate the stage of the project’s architectural drawings:

] None or not applicable (W] Preliminary

[ ] Schematics [ Final Working
Anticipated project completion date (refer to Part 1130.140). 10012

Indicate the following with respect to project expenditures or to obligation (refer to Part
1130.140):

[l Purchase orders, leases or contracts pertaining to the project have been executed.
[ Project obligation is contingent upon permit issuance. Provide a copy of the
contingent “certification of obligation” document, highlighting any language related to
CON Contingencies

@_ Project obligation will occur after permit issuance.

" APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-8, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM. e T

State Agency Submittals
Are the following submittals up to date as applicable:
[] Cancer Registry
(] APORS
(W] All formal document requests such as IDPH Questionnaires and Annual Bed Reports been
submitted

{_] Al reports regarding outstanding permits
Failure to be up to date with these requirements will result in the application for permit being

deemed incomplete.

Page &




ILLINOIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD

Cost Space Requirements

APPLICATION FOR PERMIT- May 2010 Edition

Provide in the following format, the department/area DGSF or the building/area BGSF and cost. The type
of gross square footage, either DGSF or BGSF, must be identified. The sum of the department costs
MUST equal the total estimated project costs. Indicate if any space is being reallocated for a different
purpose. Inciude outside wall measurements plus the department’s or area’s portion of the surrounding
circulation space. Explain the use of any vacated space.

Gross Square Feet

Amount of Proposed Total Gross Square Feet

That Is:

Dept. / Area

Cost

Existing | Proposed

New
Const.

Modernized

Asls

Vacated
Space

REVIEWABLE

321,400

3,615 o

o

3815

o]

1]

Medical Surgical

Intensive Care

Diagnostic
Radiology

MRI

Total Clinical

NON
REVIEWABLE

Administrative

Parking

Gift Shop

Total Non-ctinical

TOTAL

321,400

615

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-3, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL OROER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE

APPLICATION FORM,
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ILLINDIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD

Facility Bed Capacity and Utilization

APPLICATION FOR PERMIT- May 2010 Edition

Complete the following chart, as applicable, Complete a separate chart for each facility that is a part of
the project and insert following this page. Provide the existing bed capacity and utilization data for the
latest Calendar Year for which the data are available. Include observation days in the patient day
Any bed capacity discrepancy from the Inventory will result in the

application being deemed incomplete.

totals for each bed service.

FACILITY NAME: Center for Comprehensive Services, Inc

aty: Des Plaines and Palatine, IL

REPORTING PERIOD DATES:

From:

to:

Category of Service

Authorized
Beds

Admissions

Patient Days

Bed
Changes

Proposed
Beds

Medical/Surgical

Obstetrics

Pediatrics

Intensive Care

Comprehensive Physical
Rehabilitation

Acute/Chronic Mental lliness

Neonatal Intensive Care

General Loang Term Care

| Specialized Long Term Care

Long Term Acute Care

Other ((identify)

+8

16

TOTALS:

+8

16
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ILLINOIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD ARPLICATION FOR PERMIT. May 2010 Edillon

CERTIFICATION
The application must be signed by the authorized representative(s) of the applicant entity, The
authorized representatlve(s) are;

o In the case of a corporation, any two of its officers or members of [ts Board of Directors,

o inlhe case of a imiled liability company, any two of its managers or members (or the sole
manger or member when two or more managers or members do not exist);

o inthe case of a partnership, two of its general partners (or the scle general partner, when two or
more general partners do not exist);

o inthe case of estates and trusts, two of its beneficiaries (or the sole beneficlary when two or more
teneficlaries do net exist); and

o In the case of a sole proprietor, the indlvidual that is the proprietor.

This Application for Pormit Is flled on the behalf of Mentor P\B'I-n LEC *
in accordance with the requirements and procedures of the lliinols Health Facilities Planning Act.
The underslgned certifies that he or she has the authority to execute and flle this application for
permit on behalf of the applicant entlty. Tha undersigned further certifies that the data and
information provided heraln, and appended hareto, are complete and correct to the best of his or
her knowledge and beltef. The undersigned also certifles that the permit application feo requlred
for this application Is sent herewith or will be pald upon request.

=Y

SIGNATURE SIGNATURE
JﬂrZC;MriﬁuF’H M F i //(/Q//CL

"PRINTED NAME PRINTE NAME
Cod Dres

PRINTED TITLE PR!NTED TITLE

Notarlzation: Notarlzalion:

ﬁﬁ'ﬁ For o, oy 20/ mlsﬂmm&aﬁ
inse D bitborrs (om0 T gitlre

Signature of Nolary Signatura of Notary
Seal Seal
[~y CARMEL T. KILLORAN . [N CARMEL T. KILLORAN
MOTARY PUBLIC NOTARY PUBLIC
*inserE _Iggal RENTaLSr hé'asphauaTs ; £ "L HAVEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
S TSR EXDTGS May 23, 2014 e TN Cornmission Expires May 23, 2078
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ILLINOIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD APPLICATION FOR PERMIT- May 2010 Edition

CERTIFICATION
The appfication must be signed by the authorized rapresentative(s) of the applicant enlity, The
authorized representative(s) are:

o Inthe case of a corporation, any two of its offlcers or members of its Board of Directors;

o ’Inthe case of a fimltad llability cormnpany, any two of its managars or members (or the sole
manger or member whan two or more managers or members do nof exIst);

o Inthe case of a parinership, two of its genéral partners (or the sole general pariner, when two or
more general partners do not exist);

o inthe case of estates and trusts, two of Its beneficlaries (or the sole bensficlary when two or more
beneficlarles do not exist); and

o inthe case of a sole propretor, the individual that is the proprietor,

This Appllcation for Permit s filad on the behalf of Center for Comprehensive Services, Inc. ¢
in accordance with the requirements and procedures of the lliinois Health Facillites Planning Act,
The underslgned certHies that he or she has the authority to execute and file this application for
perimit on behalf of the applicant entity, The undorstyned further certifies that the data and
Information provitded herein, and appended hereto, are complete and correct to the best of his or
her knowledge and bellef. The undersigned also certlfies that the permit application fee required
for this application is sent herewlth or wili be pa!d upon request.

SIGNATUR SIGNATURE’ U& /JJ //eL

) Wi Dy P Ayl

NOTARY PUBLIC
MLIOIAEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

PRINTED NAME PRlNTE NAME
Coo ?/&f/ s

PRINTED TITLE PRINTED TITLE

idotarization: bet Notarfzation:

Suby ad and & to before me Subscribed and sworn to before me

this 9 dey of 7} MQ o 0F F this 7 _ day of &

Signalure of Notery Signatura of Notary

Seal £ CARMEL T. KILLORAN Seal CARMEL T. KILLORAN '

I
NOTARY PUBLIC
COMMONVEAL FH OF MASSACHUSETTS

Co1
*insert @ggal nama-ofithe appicant 2014

4

b ey -
—Hi-Catanusiem-Eepios bay. 332044




(LLINOQIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD APPLICATION FOR PERMIT- May 2010 Edition

SECTIONIl. DISCONTINUATION

This Section is applicable to any project that involves discontinuation of a health care facility or a category
of service. NOTE: If the project is solely for discontinuation and if there is no project cost, the remaining
Sections of the application are not applicable.

Criterion 1110.130 - Discontinuation

READ THE REVIEW CRITERION and provide the following information:

GENERAL INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS
1. ldentify the categories of service and the number of beds, if any that is to be discentinued.
2. Identify all of the ather clinical services that are to be discontinued.
3. Provide the anticipated date of discontinuation for each identified service or for the entire facility.
4. Provide the anticipated use of the physical plant and equipment after the discontinuaticn occurs.

5. Provide the anticipated disposition and location of all medical records pertaining to the services
being discontinued, and the iength of time the records will be maintained.

6. For applications involving the discontinuation of an entire facility, certification by an authorized
representative that all questionnaires and data required by HFSRB or DPH (e.g., annual
questionnaires, capital expenditures surveys, etc.) will be provided through the date of
discontinuation, and that the required information will be submitted no later than 60 days following
the date of discontinuvation.

REASONS FOR DISCONTINUATION

The applicant shall state the reasons for discontinuation and provide data that verifies the need for the
propesed action. See criterion 1110.130(b) for examples.

IMPACT ON ACCESS

1. Document that the discontinuation of each service or of the entire facility will nat have an adverse
effect upon access to care for residents of the facility's market area.

2. Document that a written request for an impact statement was received by all existing or approved
health care facilities {that provide the same services as those being discontinued) located within
45 minutes travel time of the applicant facility.

3. Provide copies of impact statements received from other resources or health care facilities
located within 45 minutes travel time, that indicate the extent to which the applicant's workload
will be absorbed without conditions, limitations or discrimination.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-10, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL CRDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM.

Page #]




ILLINCIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD APPLICATION FOR PERMIT- May 2010 Edition

SECTION Il - BACKGROUND, PURPOSE OF THE PROJECT, AND ALTERNATIVES -
INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS

This Section is applicable to all projects except those that are solely for discontinuation with no project
costs.

Criterion 1110.230 — Background, Purpose of the Project, and Alternatives

READ THE REVIEW CRITERION and provide the following required information;

BACKGROUND OF APPLICANT

1. Alisting of all health care facilities owned or operated by the applicant, including licensing, and certification if
applicable.

2. A certified listing of any adverse action taken against any facility owned and/or operated by the applicant
during the three years prior to the filing of the application.

3. Authorization permitting HFSRB and DPH access to any documents necessary to verify the information
submitted, including, but not limited to: official records of DPH or other State agencies; the licensing or
certification records of other states, when applicable; and the records of naticnally recognized accreditation
organizations. Failure to provide such authorization shall constitute an abandonment or withdrawal
of the application without any further action by HFSRB.

4, If, during a given calendar year, an applicant submits more than one application for permit, the
documentation provided with the prior applications may be utilized to fulfill the information requirements of
this critericn. In such instances, the applicant shall attest the information has been previously provided, cite
the project number of the prior application, and certify that no changes have occurred regarding the
information that has been previously provided. The applicant is able to submit amendments to previously
submitted information, as needed, to update and/or clarify data.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-11, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL OﬁDER AFTER THE LAST
PAGE OF THE APPLICATION FORM. EACH ITEM (1-4) MUST BE IDENTIFIED IN ATTACHMENT 11.

PURPOSE OF PROJECT

1. Document that the project will provide health services that improve the health care or well-being of the
market area population to be served.

2. Define the planning area or market area, ar other, per the applicant's definition.

3. Identify the existing problems or issues that need to be addressed, as applicable and appropriate for the
project. {See 1110.230(b) for examples of documentation }

4. Cite the sources of the informaticn provided as documentation.

5. Detail how the project will address or impraove the previously referenced issues, as well as the papulation's
health status and well-being.

6. Provide goais with quantified and measurable objectives, with specific timeframes that relate to achieving
the stated goals as appropriate.

For projects involving moadernization, describe the conditions being upgraded if any. For facility projects, include
statements of age and condition and regulatery citations if any. For equipment being replaced, include repair and
maintenance records.

NOTE: Information regarding the “Purpose of the Project” will be iricludéd,l'in the State Agency Report.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-12, IN NUMERIC SEQUEl;lTiAL:"'OIibEﬁ AFTER THE LAST
PAGE OF THE APPLICATION FORM. EACH ITEM {t-6) MUST BE IDENTIFIED IN ATTACHMENT 12.
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ILLINOIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD APPLICATION FOR PERMIT- May 2010 Edition

ALTERNATIVES
1} Identify ALL of the alternatives to the proposed project:
Alternative options must include:
A) Proposing a project of greater or lesser scaope and cost;
B} Pursuing a joint venture or simitar arangement with one or more providers or

entities to meet all or a portion of the project's intended purposes; developing
alternative settings to meet all or a portion of the project’s intended purposes;

C} Liilizing other health care resources that are available to serve all or a portion of
the population proposed to be served by the project; and
D) Provide the reasons why the chosen altemative was selected.
2) Documentation shall consist of a comparison of the project to alternative options. The

comparison shall address issues of total costs, patient access, quality and financial
benefits in both the short term (within one to three years after project completion) and long
term. This may vary by project or situation. FOR EVERY ALTERNATIVE IDENTIFIED
THE TOTAL PROJECT COST AND THE REASONS WHY THE ALTERNATIVE WAS
REJECTED MUST BE PROVIDED.

3) The applicant shall provide empirical evidence, including quantified outcome data that
verifies improved quality of care, as available.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-13, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL CRDER AFTER THE LAST
PAGE OF THE APPLICATION FORM.

Page } 3
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SECTION IV - PROJECT SCOPE, UTILIZATION, AND UNFINISHED/SHELL SPACE
Criterion 1110.234 - Project Scope, Utilization, and Unfinished/Shell Space

READ THE REVIEW CRITERION and provide the following information:
SIZE OF PROJECT:

1. Document that the amount of physical space propeosed for the proposed project is necessary and not
excessive. This must be a narrative.

2. | the gross square footage exceeds the BGSF/OGSF standards in Appendix B, justify the discrepancy by
documenting one of the following::

a. Additional space is needed due %o the scope of services provided, justified by clinical or operational
needs, as supported by published data or studies;

b. The existing facility's physical configuration has constraints or impediments and requires an
architectural design that results in a size exceeding the standards of Appendix B;

c. The project involves the conversion of existing space that results in excess square footage,

Provide a narrative for any discrepancies from the State Standard. A table must be provided in the
following format with Attachment 14.

SIZE OF PROJECT
DEPARTMENT/SERVICE PROPQSED STATE DIFFERENCE MET
BGSF/DGSF STANDARD STANDARD?
Community Based Residential Rehab 3,615 No no State Standard | No State standard

AFPEND DOCUMENTATICN AS ATTACHMENT-14, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM,

PROJECT SERVICES UTILIZATION:

This criterion is applicable only to projects or portions of projects that involve services, functions or equipment
for which HFSRB has established utilization standards or occupancy targets in 77 Ill. Adm. Code 1100.

Document that in the second year of operation, the annual utilization of the service or equipment shall meet or exceed the
utilization standards specified in 1110.Appendix B. A narrative of the rationale that supports the projections must be

provided.

A table must be provided in the following format with Attachment 15.

UTILIZATION
DEPT./ HISTORICAL PRQJECTED STATE MET
SERVICE UTILIZATION UTILIZATION | STANDARD | STANDARD?
(PATIENT DAYS)

(TREATMENTS)
ETC.
YEAR 1 CBRR 120 3646 yes
YEAR 2 1497 3642

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-15, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE.
APPLICATION FORM.
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UNFINISHED OR SHELL SPACE:
Provide the following information:
1. Total gross square footage of the proposed shell space,

2. The anticipated use of the shell space, specifying the proposed GSF tot be allocated to each
department, area or function;

3. Evidence that the shell space is being constructed due to
a. Requirements of governmental or certification agencies; or
b. Experienced increases in the historical occupancy or utilization of those areas proposed
to accupy the shell space.

4. Provide:
a. Historical utilization for the area for the latest five-year period for which data are
available; and
k. Based upon the average annual percentage increase for that period, projections of future
utilization of the area through the anticipated date when the shell space will be placed
into operation.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-16, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM. : . .

ASSURANCES:
Submit the following:

1. Verification that the applicant will submit toc HFSRB a CON application to develop and utilize the
shell space, regardiess of the capital thresholds in effect at the time or the categories of service
invalved.

2. The estimated date by which the subsequent CON application {to develop and utilize the subject
shell space) will be submitted; and

3. The anticipated date when the shell space will be completed and placed into operation.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-17, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM. ¢
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ILLINCIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD APPLICATION FOR PERMIT- May 2010 Edition

P.

Community-Based Residential Rehabilitation Center

This section is applicable to all projects proposing to establish a Community-based Residential
Rehabilitation Center Alternative Health Care Model.

A.

Criterion 1110.2830(a), Staffing
Read the criterion and provide the following information:

1. Adetailed staffing plan that identifies the number and type of staff positions dedicated to
the model and the qualifications for each position; and

2. How special staffing circumstances will be handled; and

3. The staffing patterns for the proposed center; and

4.  The manner in which non-dedicated staff services will be provided.

B.

Criterion 1110.2830(b), Mandated Service

Read the criterion and provide a narrative description documenting how the applicant will
provide the minimum range of services required by the Alternative Health Care Delivery Act and
specified in 1110 2820(b).

Criterion 1110.2830(c), Unit Size

Read the criterion and provide a narrative description that identifies the number and location of
all beds in the model. include the total number of beds for each residence and the total number
of beds for the model.

Criterion 1110.2830(d), Utilization

Read the criterion and provide documentation that the target utilization for the model will be
achieved by the second year of the model's operation. Include supporting information such as
historical utilization trends, population growth, expansion of professional staff or programs, and
the provision of new procedures that may increase utilization.

E. Criterion 1110.2830(e), Background of Applicant

Read the criterion and provide documentation that demonstrates the applicant’s experience in
providing the services required by the model. Provide evidence that the programs offered in the
model have been accredited by the Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities as
a Brain Injury Community-Integrative Program for at least three of the last five years.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-35, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM.
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The following Sections DO NOT need to be addressed by the applicants or co-applicants responsible for
funding or guaranteeing the funding of the project if the applicant has a bond rating of A- or better from
Fitch's or Standard and Poor's rating agencies, or A3 or better from Moody's (the rating shall be affirmed
within the latest 18 month period prior to the submittal of the application);

» Section 1120.120 Availability of Funds - Review Criteria
*  Section 1120.130 Financial Viability - Review Criteria
* Section 1120.140 Economic Feasibility — Review Criteria, subsection {a)

VIll. - 1120.120 - Availability of Funds

The applicant shall document that financial resources shall be available and be equal to or exceed the estimated total
project cost plus any related project costs by providing evidence of sufficient financial resources from the following
sources, as applicable: Indicate the dollar amount to be provided from the following sources:

853 620 a) Cash and Securities - staternents (e.qg., zudited financial statements, letters from financial
’ institutions, board resolutions) as to;

1) the amount of cash and securities available for the project, including the

identification of any security, its valug and availability of such funds; and

2) interest to be earned on depreciation account funds or to be earned on any
asset from the date of applicant's submission through project completion;

b} Pledges - for anticipated pledges, a summary of the anticipated pledges showing anticipated
receipts and discounted value, estimated time table of gross receipts and related fundraising
expenses, and a discussion of past fundraising experience.

c} Gifts and Bequests - verification of the dollar amount, identification of any conditions of use, and
the estimated time table of receipts,

d) Debt - a statement of the estimated terms and cenditions (including the debt time period, variable
or permanent interest rates over the debt time period, and the anticipated repayment schedule) for
any interim and for the permanent financing proposed to fund the project, including:

1) For general abligation bonds, proof of passage of the required referendum or
evidence that the governmental unit has the authority to issue the bands and
evidence of the dollar amount of the issuve, including any discounting
anticipated;

2) For revenue bonds, proof of the feasibility of securing the specified amount ang
interest rate;

3) For mortgages, a letter from the prospective lender attesting to the expectation
of making the loan in the amount and time indicated, including the anticipated
interest rate and any conditions associated with the mortgage, such as, but not
limited to, adjustable interest rates, balloon payments, etc.;

4) Fer any lease, a copy of the lease, including all the terms and conditions,
including any purchase options, any capital improvements to the property and
provision of capital equipment;

5 For any option to lease, a copy of the option, including all terms and conditions.

e} Governmental Appropriations — a copy of the appropriation Act or ordinance accompanied by a
statement of funding availability from an official of the governmental unit. If funds are to be made
available from subsequent fiscal years, a copy of a resolution or other action of the governmental
unit attesting to this intent;

f Grants - a letter from the granting agency as to the availability of funds in terms of the amount and
time of receipt;

a} All Other Funds and Sources — verification of the amount and type of any other funds that will be
used for the project.

TOTAL FUNDS AVAILABLE
B53 v

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-39, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM.
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IX. 1120.130 - Financial Viability

All the applicants and co-applicants shall be identified, specifying their roles in the project funding or
guaranteeing the funding (sole responsibility or shared} and percentage of participation in that funding.

Financial Viability Wajver

The applicant is not required to submit financial viability ratios if:

1. All of the projects capital expenditures are completely funded through internal sources

2. The applicant's current debt financing or projected debt financing is insured or anticipated to be
insured by MBIA (Municipal Bond Insurance Association Inc.) or equivalent

3. The applicant provides a third party surety bond or performance bond letter of credit from an A
rated guarantor.

See Section 1120.130 Financial Waiver for information to be provided

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-40, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST
PAGE OF THE APPLICATION FORM.

]

The applicant or co-applicant that is responsible for funding or guaranteeing funding of the project shall provide
viability ratios for the latest three years for which audited financial statements are available and for the first full
fiscal year at target utilization, but no more than two years following project completion. When the applicant's
facility does not have facility specific financial statements and the facility is a member of a health care system that
has combined or consclidated financial statements, the system's viability ratios shall be provided. If the health care
system includes one or more hospitals, the system's viability ratios shall be evaluated for conformance with the
applicable hospital standards.

Provide Data for Projects Classified Category A or Category B (iast three years) Category B
as: (Projected)

Enter Historical andior Projected
Years:

Current Ratic

Net Margin Percentage

Percent Debt to Total Capitalization

Projected Debt Service Coverage

Days Cash on Hand

Cushion Ratia

Provide the methodology and worksheets utilized in determining the ratios detailing the calculation
and applicable Jine item amounts from the financial statements, Complete a separate table for each
ca-applicant and provide worksheets for each.

2. Variance
Applicants not in compliance with any of the viability ratios shall document that another organization,

public or private, shall assume the legal responsibility to meet the debt obligations should the
applicant default.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 41, IN NUMERICAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM.
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X. 1120.140 - Economic Feasibility

This section is applicable to all projects subject to Part 1120.

A. Reasonableness of Financing Arrangements

The applicant shall document the reasonabteness of financing arrangements by submitting a
notarized statement signed by an authorized representative that attests to one of the following:

1} That the total estimated project costs and refated costs will be funded in total with cash
and equivalents, including investment securities, unrestricted funds, received pledge
receipts and funded depreciation; or

2} That the total estimated project costs and related costs will be funded in total or in part by
borrowing because:

A) A portion or all of the cash and equivalents must be retained in the balance sheet
asset accounts in order to maintain a current ratio of at least 2.0 times for
hospitals and 1.5 times for al! other facilities; or

B) Borrowing is less costly than the liquidation of existing investments, and the
existing investments being retained may be converted to cash or used to retire
debt within a 60-day period.

B. Conditions of Debt Financing

This criterion is applicable only to projects that involve debt financing. The applicant shall
document that the conditions of debt financing are reasonable by submitting a notarized statement
signed by an authorized representative that attests to the following, as applicable:

1) That the selected form of debt financing fer the project will be at the lowest net cost
available;
2) That the selected form of debt financing will not be at the fowest net cost available, but is

more advantageous due to such terms as prepayment privileges, no required mortgage,
access to additional indebtedness, term (years), financing costs and other factors;

3) That the project involves (in totat or in part) the leasing of equipment or facilities and that
the expenses incurred with leasing a facility or equipment are less costly than constructing
a new facility or purchasing new equipment.

C. Reascnableness of Project and Related Costs
Read the criterion and provide the following:

1. Identify each department or area impacted by the proposed project and provide a cost
and square footage allocation for new construction and/or modernization using the
following format {insert after this page).

COST AND GROSS SQUARE FEET BY DEPARTMENT CR SERVICE

A B » D E F G H
Department Total
{list below) Cost/Square Foot Gross Sq. Ft, Gross Sq. Ft. Const. $ Med. $ Cost
New Mod. New Circ* | Mod. Circ.” (AxC) (B x E) (G+H)
$49.79 3,615 $180,000| $180,000
Contingency $7.73 $18,000 | $18,000
TOTALS $57.52 3,615 $198,000( $198,000

* Include the percentage (%) of space for circulation

Page {9
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D. Projected Operating Costs

The applicant shall provide the projected direct annual operating costs {in current dollars per equivalent
patient day or unit of service) for the first full fiscal year at target utilization but no more than two years
following project completion. Direct cost means the fully allocated costs of salaries, benefits and supplies
for the service.

E. Total Effect of the Project on Capital Costs

The applicant shall provide the total projected annual capital costs (in current dollars per equivalent
patient day) for the first full fiscal year at target utilization but no more than two years following project
completion.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT -42, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM.

Xl Safety Net Impact Statement

SAFETY NET IMPACT STATEMENT that describes all of the following must be submitted for ALL SUBSTANTIVE AND
DISCONTINUATION PROJECTS:

1. The project's material impact, if any, on essential safety net services in the cammunity, to the extent that it is feasible for an
applicant to have such knowledge.

2. The project’s impact on the ability of another provider or health care system to cross-subsidize safety net services, if reasonably
known to the applicant.

3. How the discontinuation of a facility or service might impact the remaining safety net providers in a given community, if
reascnably known by the applicant,

Safety Net Impact Statements shall also include all of the following:

1. For the 3 fiscal years prior to the application, a certification describing the amount of chanty care provided by the applicant. The
amount calculated by hospital applicants shall be in accordance with the reporting requirements for charity care reporting in the
inois Community Benefits Act. Non-hospital applicants shall report charity care, at cost, in accordance with an appropriate
methodology specified by the Board.

2. For the 3 fisca!l years prior to the application, a certification of the amount of care provided to Medicaidpatients. Hospital and non-
hospital applicants shall provide Medicaid information in a manner consistent with the information reported each year to the lllinois
Department of Public Health regarding "Inpatients and Qutpatients Served by Payor Source” and "Inpatient and Outpatient Net
Revenue by Payor Source” as required by the Board under Section 13 of this Act and published in the Annual Hospital Profile.

3. Any information the applicant believes is directly relevant to safety net services, including information regarding teaching,
research, and any other service.

A table in the following format must be provided as part of Attachment 43.

Safety Net Information per PA 96-0031
CHARITY CARE
Charity {# of patients) Year Year Year
Inpatient 4 4 4
Qutpatient
Total 4 4 4
Charity (cost In dollars)
inpatient $286,248 $283,763 190,101
Qutpatient
Total 286,248 283,763 190,101
MEDICAID
Medicaid (# of patients) Year Year Year
Inpatient 85 81 77
Outpatient
Total 85 81 75
Page'iﬂ—o
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Medicaid {revenue)

Inpatient | $18,946,351

Outpatient
Total $18,946,351

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-43, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
AFPLICATION FORM.

Xii. Charity Care Information

Charity Care information MUST be furnished for ALL projects.

1. All applicants and co-applicants shall indicate the amount of charity care for the latest three audited fiscal years, the cost
of charity care and the ratio of that charity care cost to net patient revenue.

2. if the applicant owns or operates one ar more facilities, the reperting shall be for each individual facility located in Mingis, if
charity care costs are reported on a consolidated basis, the applicant shall provide documentation as to the cost of charity
gare, the ratio of that charity care to the net patient revenue for the consolidated financial statement; the aliocation of
charity care costs; and the ratio of charity care cost to net patient revenue for the facility under review.

3 If the applicant is not an existing facility, it shall submit the facility's projected patient mix by payer source, anticipated
charity care expense and projected ratio of charity care te net patient revenue by the end of its second year of operation.

Charity cara” means care provided by a health care facility for which the provider does not expect to receive payment from
the patient or a third-party payer. {20 ILCS 3960/3) Charity Care must be provided at cost.

A table in the following format must be provided for all facilities as part of Attachment 44,

CHARITY CARE
Year Year Year
Net Patient Revenue $29,827.666 29,053,261 28,124 983
Amount of Charity Care {charges}) $298,175 $295,586 $97,790
Cost of Charity Care $286,248 $283,763 587,402

R

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT-44, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AFTER THE LAST PAGE OF THE
APPLICATION FORM. el
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After paginating the entire, completed application, indicate in the chart below, the page numbers for the
attachments included as part of the project's application for permit:

INDEX OF ATTACHMENTS
ATTACHMENT
NO. PAGES
1 | Applicant/Coapplicant Identification including Certificate of Good 273
Standing
2 | Site Ownership 243l
3 | Persons with 5 percent or greater interest in the licensee must be
identified with the % of ownership. 27
4 | Organizational Relationships {Crganizational Chart) Certificate of 4
Good Standing Etc. 3
5 | Flood Plain Requirements 39-4o
6 | Histaric Preservation Act Requirements “4
7 | Project and Sources of Funds ltemization 4
8 | Cbligation Document if required A/a
9 | Cost Space Requirements !
10 | Discontinuation ¥
11 | Background of the Applicant K
12 | Purpose of the Project Lig-HF
13 [ Alternatives to the Project 9¢
14 | Size of the Project 49-<5
15 | Project Service Utilization 5/
16 | Unfinished or Shell Space N/n
17 | Assurances for Unfinished/Shell Space |
18 | Master Design Project {
19 | Mergers, Consclidations and Acquisitions ~
Service Specific:
20 | Medical Surgical Pediatrics, Obstetrics, ICU M/a
21 | Comprehensive Physical Rehabilitation |
22 | Acute Mental lliness
23 | Neonatal Intensive Care
24 | Open Heart Surgery
25 | Cardiac Catheterization
26 | In-Center Hemodialysis
27 | Non-Hospital Based Ambulatory Surgery
28 | General Long Term Care
29 | Specialized Long Term Care
30 | Selected Organ Transplantation
31 | Kidney Transplantaticn
32 | Subacute Care Hospital Model
33 | Post Surgical Recovery Care Center
34 | Children's Community-Based Health Care Center y
35 | Community-Based Residential Rehabititation Center 52-%9
36 | Long Term Acute Care Hospital Nia
37 | Clinical Service Areas Other than Categories of Service i
38 | Freestanding Emergency Center Medical Services 4
Financial and Economic Feasibility: §0 - 133
38 | Availability of Funds wia
40 | Financial Waiver <+
41 | Financial Viability JELRETS
42 | Economic Feasibility [3L-137
43 | Safety Net Impact Statement F3%-139
44 | Charity Care Information 139
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File Number 5128-716-9

To all to whom these Presents Shall Come, Greeting:

I, Jesse White, Secretary of State of the State of Illinois, do
hereby certify that

CENTER FOR COMPREHENSIVE SERVICES, INC., A DOMESTIC CORPORATION,
INCORPORATED UNDER THE LAWS OF THIS STATE ON OCTOBER 20, 1977, APPEARS
TO HAVE COMPLIED WITH ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THE BUSINESS CORPORATION
ACT OF THIS STATE RELATING TO THE PAYMENT OF FRANCHISE TAXES, AND AS OF

THIS DATE, IS IN GOOD STANDING AS A DOMESTIC CORPORATION IN THE STATE OF
ILLINOIS.

In Testimony Whereof, I nereto set

my hand and cause to be affixed the Great Seal of
the State of Illinois, this 6TH

day of MARCH ADD. 2012

~ i [ Q_\
: . 2 ______.-" ’
NS bg e WA L5

Authenticate at; http://www.cyberdriveillinois.com

SECRETARY OF STATE

n1+p¢-,_~@¢.'3
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LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT ("Lease”) is entered into as of February 28. 2012 by and between
SCIOTO PROPERTIES SP-15 LLC (Lessor’) and Center for Comprehensive Services, Inc.

dib/a NeuroRestorative lilinois ("Lessee”).
RECITALS

Based on Lessee’s request, Lessor has acquired and owns a single-family residential home located
at 1158 Deer Ave, Palatine, IL, 60067 ("Home"). Lessee is a provider of human services. Lessor
desires to lease the Home to Lessee as housing for individuals with specialized continuing care
needs ("Residents”). Lessee desires to lease the Home from Lessor on the terms and conditions

set forth In this Lease.

STATEMENT OF AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:

Section 1. Home:

Section 1.1. Use. Lessor leases to Lessee and Lesses leases from Lessor the Home.
Lessee agrees to use the Home solely to provide resldential support services (*Services”) to the
Residents living in the Home as their personal residence, including office and administrative
tasks incldental to the provision of Services. If Lessee no longer provides, or is no longer
authorized to provide, Services at the Home, Lessee must promptly provide notice to Lessor,
including a copy of any formal notice received by Lessee related to its inability to provide
Services at the Home.

Section 1.2. Due Diligence Process. Lessee has the responsibllity for determining
whether the Home is suitable for use in providing Services to the Resldents. Lessee
acknowledges that Lessor has no decision making authority or rasponsibility for selecting the
Residents or providing Services in the Home. However for the bsnefit of Lessee, Lessor
undertook a due diligence process, at its own expense, pursuant to which Lessor obtained an
appraisal, title commitment, house inspection and other information regarding the condition of
the Home and, if requested by Lessee and at Lessee's expense, zoning information applicable
to the Home. Lessee acknowledges that Lessor provided Lessee with the Information obtained
during such due diligence process to enable Lessee to make a business judgment, in its sole
discretion, that the Home was sultable for providing Services to the Residents. In addition,
Lessee acknowledges that Lessor purchased the Home only afler Lessor was notified by
Lessee that it determined the Home was sultable for use in providing Services to the Residents.
Furthermore, Lessor makes no warranties, expressed or implied, with respect to the suitability
or use of the Home by Lessee in providing Services to the Residents.

Section 1.3. As Is Conditlon. Lessee acknowledges that all improvements, fixtures
and equipment in the Home are used. Lessor makes no warranties, express or implied, with
respect to the condition, which is delivered to Lessee in "AS 1S, WHERE IS" condition, subject
to any ftems set forth on either (a) the written Yst of fems to be repaired by Lessee pursuant to
the home inspection undertaken by Lessor or {b) a written repairs and maintenance checkiist
that Lessee provides to Lessor within 14 days of the later of (i) the start date or (i) date of

occupancy.
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Section 1.4. Good Condition. Upon temination of thls Lease for any reason, Lessee
must surrender the Home in good condition, subject to ordinary wear and fear. Lessee agrees
to make repairs as needed to maintain the Home in good condition and repair during the term of
this Lease and upon termination of this Lease as set forth in Section 5.2.

Section 2. Tam:

Section 2,1, Initial Term. The initial term begins on the start date set forth on
Schedule 1. The Initial term ends on the end date set forth on Scheduls 1 unless sooner
terminated as provided in this Lease.

Section 2.2. Renewal Terms. This Lease automatically renews for the number of
renewal terms and periods specified on Schedule 1, unless Lessee delivers a notice to Lessor
at least four months prior to the end of the then-current term that it is not renewing this Lease.

Section 2.3. Month-to-Month Holding Over. This Lease terminates at the end of the
inltial term or a renewal term if Lessee delivers a notice to Lessor that if is not renewing this
Lease pursuant to Section 2.2. Should Lessee remaln in the Home beyond the termination of
this Lease for any reason, such holding over opsrates as an extension of the terms of this
Lease on a month-to-month basis except as provided in Section 3.4 with respect to the monthly
rent. During such holding over, either party may terminate this Lease upon 30 days prior notice
to the other party, Nothing in this Section 2.3 constitutes consent by Lessor to any holding over
by Lessee upon termination of this Lease.

Section 3, Rent:

Section 3.1. Monthly Rent. Subject to the annual adjustment described in Section
3.2, Lessee agrees to pay monthly rent during the term of this Lease In the amount set forth on
Schedule 1. The monthly rent is payable in advance on or before the 5 business day of each
month during the term of this Lease. If the start date is not the first day of a month, the menthly
rent for the inltial month is prorated based on the number days in such month. Lessee is to
dsliver the monthly rent payment to Lessor at 5940 Wilcox Place, Suite A, Dublin, Ohio 43016-
6805 or such other address subsequently provided pursuant to Section 10,

Section 3.2. Annuatl Rent Adjustment. Effective on the adjustment date set forth on
Schedule 1 and on each anniversary of the adjustment date during the term of this Lease, the
monthly rent is increased. The percentage by which the monthly rent is increased over the
monthly rent for the previous lease year is set forth on Schedule 1. No notice must be given to
Lesses to ad]ust the monthly rent, which is automatically effective on the applicable adjustment
date. The specific monthly rent for each lease year showing the annual adjustment during the
initial term is set forth on Schedule 1.

Section 3.3, Late Charge and Interest. [f the monthly rent, any amount due under
Section 5 or Section 6 aor any amount that Lessor advances under this Lease that Lessee is
otherwise obligated to pay is not received within five business days after Lessor has given
notice that such payment is past due ("Penalty Date"), Lessor incurs additional expenses. As a
result, Lessee agrees to pay a late charge equal to ten percent of the unpald amounts on the
Penalty Date as additional rent. Lessee also agrees to pay interest on all unpaid amounts from
the Penalty Date until the date of payment at an annual rate of (a) the prime rate listed in The

2
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Wall Street Journal on such date plus three percent or (b) the maximum rate permitied by law,
whichever is lower.

Section 3.4. Hold Over Rent. If Lessee remains in the Home following termination of
this Lease, the monthly rent during the month-to-month holding over period described in Section
2.3 is 150 percent of the monthly rent in effect immediately before the start of the holding over

period.

Section4.  Security Deposit. Upon the execution of this Lease, Lessse shall deposit
with Lessor a security deposit in the amount sst forth on Schedule 1. Lessee is to deliver the
security deposit to Lessor at the same address to which the monthly rent is delivered. Upon
termination of this Lease and return of the Home to Lassor, Lessor must refund all or a postion of
the security deposit to Lessee within 30 days. The amount to be refunded is the difference between
the security deposit and the amount deducted for damages fo the Home, unpaid rent and other
amounts due under Section 5 or Section 6 and other deductions permitted under this Lease and by
law in accordance with this Section 4. If Lessor proposes to deduct any amount from the security
deposit, Lessor must provide Lessee with prior notice and supporting documents regarding such
amount and may deduct such amounts only with Lessee’s prior consent, which shall not be
unreasonably withheld, If Lessee objects to all or any portion of the deduction, Lesses must deliver
a notice to Lessor, and Lessor shall place the disputed amount in a standalone account ("Deposit
Account’) pending resolution of the disputed amount, which Deposit Account must be interest-
bearing if the disputed amount is in excess of $2,600. Both parties agree to cooperate and act in
good faith to resolve the disputed deductions prompfly. Upon resolution of the disptte, the interest
eamed, if any, in the Deposit Account shall be allocated between Lessor and Lessee proportionate
to the final allocation of the disputed amount held in the Deposit Account. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Lessee's consent shall be deemed to have been received if Lassee does not respond to
Lessor's notice under this Section 4 within ten business days. Lessee acknowledges that Lessor is
entitted to use all or any portion of the security deposit to cover losses incurred by Lessor arising
from Lessee’s failure to comply with the terms of this Leass, subject to the terms of this Section 4.
Except as required by this Section 4 upon any dispute on retum of the security deposit, no interest
is accrued or pald on the security deposit. Furthermore, except as provided by this Section 4,
Lessor may commingle the security deposit with other funds without any accounting to Lessee.

Section 5.  Lessee’s Other Financial Obilgations:

Section 5.1. Utilitles. During the tarm of this Lease, Lesses is responsible, at its own
expense, for paying all charges for water, sewaer, slectric, heating, gas, telephone, cable, trash
removal, recycling and any other utilities used with respect to the Home (“Utilities”). Lessee
agrees to establish accounts for the Utllitles and to pay all Utilities directly to the utility company
providing the service. If Lessor recelves any bill for Utilities, Lessor agrees to send promptly a
copy of such bill to Lessee. If Lessee falls to timely pay for the Utliitles, Lessor has the right to
pay such Utilities on behalf of Lessee. In such event, Lessee agrees to reimburse Lessor
promptly for such payment upon raceipt of a notice requesting reimbursement for such Utilities

from Lessor,

Section 5.2. Malntenance and Repairs. During the term of this Lease and upen
termination of this Lease for any reason, Lessee is responsible, at its own expense, for all
maintenance and repairs (Including replacement, if necessary, upon the end of the useful !ife of
an item) that are necessary or appropriate to maintain the Home in good condition and repair,
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subject to ordinary wear and tear, in accordance with Section 1.4. The obligation under this
Section 5.2 includes without limitation:

(a) Maintaining and repairing the roof, fiooring, interior and exterior walls, interior and
exterior doors, windows and glass, garage, driveway, sidewalks and HVAC,
electrical and plumbing systems;

{b) Keeping the exterior free of snow, ice, rubbish and other obstructions; and

(c) Maintaining the yard and landscaping around the Home.

Furthermore, during the term of this Lease, Lessee is responsible, at iis own expense, for
implementing a routine preventative maintenance program (including termite and pest controf} to
undertake its obligation under this Section 5.2, If Lessee fails to undertake its obligation under this
Section 5.2 and such failure continues (J) for emergency repairs necessary to protect the safety of
the Resldents or preservation of the Home or (i) for 30 days for all other repalrs following nofice to
Lesses, Lessor has the right to undertake such maintenance or repairs on behaff of Lessee. In
such event, Lassee agrees to reimburse Lessor promptly for such payment upon receipt of a notice
requesting reimbursement for such maintenance and repairs from Lessor. Obtalning insurance
coverage required under Section 8.2 does not change the obligation of Lessee to mainfain the
Home in good condition and repair even if the damages to the Home might be covered by such

Insurance.

Section 5.3. Regulatory Compliance. During the term of this Lease, Lessee is
responsible, at its own expense, for substantially complying with all laws, regulations and
private restrictions, like homeowners’ assoclation rules, applicable to Lesses's use of the Home
to provide Services to the Residents. in addition during the term of this Lease, Lessee agrees,
at its own expense, o make any repairs, replacements, modifications or addltions to the Home
that are required by any iaw, regulation or private restriction applicable to Lessee's use of the
Home to provide Services {o the Residents. Lessee agress to hold Lessor harmless from any
cost or liability that may be Imposed or assessed against Lessor or the Home in connection with
Lessee's failure to comply with this Section 5.3 during the term of this Lease.

Section 8.  Additional Financial Obfigations:

Section 8.1. Taxes. During the term of this Lease, Lessee is responsible, at its own
expense, for paying all real and parsonal properly taxes and assessments, if any, and any
interest and psnalties for late payment (except if such late payment is due fo Lessor's act or
omisslon), assessed or accrued with respect to the Home ("Taxes®). The parties agree that the
Taxes due for the calendar year in which the tem of this Lease begins and ends are prorated
on a per diem basis. Lessor agrees to send promptly a copy of any Tax bill that Lessor receives
to Lessee. Lessee agrees to pay timely all Taxes directly to the applicable taxing authority.
Lessee, upon the request of Lessor, agrees {¢ provide evidence of payment of the Taxes to
Lessor. [f Lessee fails to pay timely the Taxes, Lessor has the right to pay such Taxes on
bahalf of Lessee. In such event, l.essee agrees to reimburse Lessor promptly for such payment
upon recelpt of a notice requesting reimbursement for such Taxes from Lessor. Furthermore,
Lesses is responsible, at ils own expense, for paying all assessments and dues to
homeowners’ or community assoclations, if any, and any interest and penalties for late
payment, assessed or accrued with respect to the Home.

Section 6.2, Insurance. During the term of this Lease, Lessee is responsible, at its
own expense, for obtaining and maintaining In full force the insurance coverage sat forth on
Schedule 2 attached to this Lease (“Insurance”). Unless waived in writing by Lessor, each

4
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policy required by Lessee under this Section 6.2 must contain a provision that it may be
canceled or modifiad by the issuing insurer only if that insurer endeavors fo provide 30 days
prior written notice fo Lessor and, if applicable, Lessor's mortgage lender (“Lendsr”) with
respect to the Home. Lessee agrees to provide prompt notice o Lessor if Lessee receives any
notice from issuing insurer that it will not be renewing any insurance coverage required under
this Section 6.2. Lessee agrees to deliver o Lessor and, if applicable, the Lender, a certificate
evidencing each required policy upon execution of this Lease, upon renewal or change of each
such pollcy or upon the request of Lessor during the term of this Lease. Furthermore, Lessee
agrees to defiver to Lessor a copy of each required pollcy upon the request of Lessor during the
term of this Lease. On each applicable policy, Lessee agrees to have (a) Lessor named as an
additional Insured and loss payee and (b) the Lender named as an additional insured on the
liability policles and a loss payee on the property policy. If Lessee fails to obtain the Insurance
required under this Section 6.2, Lessor has the right to obtaln such Insurance on behalf of
Lessee. [n such event, Lescee agrees to reimburse Lessor prompfly for such payment upon
receipt of a notice requesting reimbursement for such Insurance from Lessor. The parties waive
any recovery of damages against each other {including thelr employees and agents) for loss or
damage to the Home, Lessee's improvements, fixtures, equipment, and any other personal
property to the extent covered by the Insurance required under this Section 6.2. If the
Insurance purchased by Lessee does not allow the insured to waive rights of recovery agalinst
others prior to loss, Lessee agrees to have such policy endorsed with a waiver of subrogation.

Section 7. Changes to Home:

Section 7.1. Improvements. During the term of this Lease, Lessee, at its own
expense, may make modifications and additions ("improvements®) to the Home, with the prior
consent of Lessor, which may not be unreasonably withheld. Any Improvements made by
Lessee must be constructed of good materials and done in a good and workman llke manner.
in the event Lessee makes Improvements, Lessee must remove, at its own expense, such
improvements upon termination of this Lease if required by Lessor in fts consent for making
such Improvements. The monthly rent j8 not adjusted in the event Lessee makes
improvements to the Home. Every Improvement made to the Home constitutes a part of the
Home and thus is Lessor's property. Lessee agrees fo indemnify Lessor against any mechanic's
lten or other lien arising out of any Improvements mads to the Home by Lessee.

Section 7.2. Casualty. !n the event all or any portion of the Home is damaged or
destroyed by fire, windstorm, hurricane, tomado, flood or any other casualty ("Casualty”),
Lessee must immediately notify Lessor of such Casualty. Lessee is responsible, at its own
expense, to repalr the damage or destruction causad by the Casuality so the Home is at least as
great in value and functionality as it was prior to such Casualty. The monthly rent is not abated
during the repair pariod for the Home. Subject to the right of the Lender, Lessee is entitled to
use the proceeds from the Insurance for such repalr. [f the Lender does not consent to Lessee
using such proceeds and Lessor does not advance the funds necessary for such repair (which
Lessor has no obligation to do s0), Lessea may terminate this Lease immediately upon notice to
Lessor,

Section 7.3. Eminent Domain. If the event all or any portion of the Home is
condemned or taken by eminent domain, then this Lease terminates as to the part so taken on
the date Lessee is required to sumender possession ("Surrender Date”). As of the Sumender
Date, the monthly rent is reduced proportionately based on the portion of the Homs taken. If the
amount of the Home taken impalrs the usefulness of the Home to provide Services to the
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Residents, in Lesses's reasonable judgment, then Lessee may terminate this Lease as of the
Surrender Date by notice to Lessor. All compensation awarded for such taking of the fee in the
Home bslongs to and is the property of Lessor. Lessee assigns all its rights in such award to
Lessar; provided, however, Lessor is not entitled to any portion of the award made to Lessee,
including but not limited to any award made for the leasehold estate in the Home and the cost of
removing its personal property from the Home.

Section 8.  Lessee’s Additional Non-Financilal Obligations:

Section 8.1. Right of Entry. Lessee grants Lessor and its employees and agents the
right, upon advance notice to Lesses, to enter the Home during normal business hours to:

(a) With not less than 24 hours notice, inspect the Home periodicafly;

(b) Make repairs as may be necessary for the safety of the Resldents or preservation of
the Home;

{c) With not less than 48 hours notice, exhibit the Home as needed if Lessor is
considering refinancing its indebtedness secured by the Home; or

(d)  With not less than 48 hours notice, exhibit the Home as needsd if Lessee does not
renew this Lease or it Is within six months of the end of the term of this Lease,

Lessor agrees to exercise its rights under this Saction 8.1 in a manner that does not unreasonably
interfere with Lessee providing Services at the Home. Furthermore, Lessor agrees to exercise its
rights In a manner that respects the privacy of the Residents living in the Home.

Section 8.2. Environmental Covenant. During the term of this Lease, Lessee may
not cause or permit the presence, use, disposai or release of any Hazardous Substance at or
around the Home. Lessee agrees not to do, or allow any other person to do, anything affecting
the Home, which (a) is in violation of any Environmental Law or (b) due to the presence, use or
release of a Hazardous Substance, creates a condition that adversely affects the value of the
Homse. The restrictions contalned in this Section 8.2 do not apply to the presence, use or
storage at or around the Home of small quantitltes of Hazardous Substances generally
recognized as appropriate for normal resldential uses and maintenance of the Home. Lessee
agrees to promptly notify Lessor of (i} any investigation, claim or other action involving the
Home and any Hazardous Substance or Environmental Law of which Lessee has actual
knowledge and (i) any condition caused by the presence, use or release of any Hazardous
Substance, which adversely affects the value of the Home. For purposes of this Section 8.2,
“Hazardous Substance® means those substances defined as toxic or hazardous substances,
pollutants or wastes by Environmental Law and *Environmental L.aw” means federal laws and
the laws of the jurisdiction where the Home Is located that relate to health, safety and
environmental protection. Lessee agrees to indemnify and hold hammless Lessor from and
against any and ail claims, charges, damages, fines, Judgments, penalties, costs, liabllities or
losses (including, wihout limitation, any and all sums paid for settlement of claims, reasonable
attorneys’ fees, consultant and expert fees) arising during or after the term of this Lease, which
arise out of, are based upon or in connection with Lessee's failure to comply with the
environmental covenant set forth in this Section 8.2. The indemnification confained in this
Section 8.2 survives termination of this Lease.

Section 8,3, Indemnification. The following indemnification provisions contained in
this Section 8.3 shall survive termination of this Lease:

(a) Lessee. Lessee agrees to indemnify Lessor and its members, directors, officers,
employees, agents and the Lender and save them harmless from and against any
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and all claims, actions, damages, Habiities and expenses (including reasonable
attomeys’ fees) in connection with loss of life, personal Injury and/or damage to
property aricing from the occupancy and/or use of the Home to provide Services to
the Residents during the term of this Lease or from the act or omission by Lesses,
any Resident or guest, except that caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of
Lessor or its agents or employees. In the event Lessor, without fault on its part, is
made a party to any Migation commenced by or against Lessee, then Lessee
agrees to protect and hold Lessor harmiess in connection with such litigation,
Lessee also agrees to pay all costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’
fees) that may be incurred or paid by Lessor in enforcing the terms of this Lease
against Lessee.

(b} Lessor. Lessor agress to indemnify Lessee and its members, directors, officers,
employees, agents and Residents and save them harmless from and against any
and all claims, actions, damages, liabllities and expenses (including reasonable
attorneys’ fees) in connection with loss of life, personal injury and/or damage to
property arising from Lessar's duties as a landlord under this Leass, except that
caused by the negligence or wilifil misconduct of Lessee or its agents or
employees, Residents or guests or from Lessee’s failure to perform its duties and
obligations related to the provision of Services at the Home. In the event Lessee,
without fault on its part, is made a party to any iftigation commenced by or against
Lessor, then Lessor agrees to protect and hold Lessee harmiess in connection with
such litlgafion. Lessor also agrees to pay afl costs and expenses (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees) that may be incurred or pald by Lessee in enforcing the
terms of this Lease against Lessor.

Section 8.4. Business Information. During the term of this Lease, Lessee agrees to
provide to Lessor reasonable access to information respecting Lessee’s business conducted at,
and the Residents’ occupancy of, the Home as Lessor may reasonably request or may be
requested by the Lender; provided the notice requesting such information must set out the
legitimate business purpose and must comply with any federal or state privacy law, including
HIPAA, applicable fo the Residents, in Lessee’s reasonable judgment. Lessee agrees to
promptly provide such requested business information following notice from Lessor.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Section 8.4 shall obligate Lessee to provide
Information about any Resident that might tend te identify such Resident. Lessor agrees to
keep all information provided by Lessee under this Section 8.4 confidential unless such
information is required by law or court order to be disclosed or is generally publicly available.

Section 8.5. Representations. The partles represent tc each other as follows:

(a) Lesses. Lessee represents to Lessor that (i) Lessee Is a duly organized and validiy
existing entity under the laws of the state of its formation; (i) Lessee possesses (or
will possess at the start date of the Lease) all authorizations, approvals,
cerlifications, licenses and pemits necessary to provide Services at the Home,
which are (or will be as of the start date) in full force and effect; (lil} this Lease has
been duly executed and delivered by Lessee and constitutes the legal, valid and
binding obligations of Lessee, enforceable in accordance with its terms; and (iv) this
Lease and the consummation of the transaction contemplated under this Lease are
not subject to any authorization, consent, approval or review of any govemmental
body, regulatory authority or any other person not already obtained or effected.
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(b)

Lessor represents fo Lessee that {f) Lessor is a duly organized and validly existing
entity under the laws of the state of its formation; and (ii) this Lease has been duly
executed and delivered by Lessor and constitutes the legal, valid and binding
obligations of Lessor, enforceable in accordance with its terms.

Section 9. Lessee’s Default;

Section 9.1. Event of Default. Each of the following is considered a default by
Lessee ("Event of Default”) under this Lease if if occurs and continues to occur following notice

and the applicable cure period:

(a)

(b}

{c)

Failure to Pay Amounts Due. Lessee in two consecutive months fails to imely pay
the monthly rent within five business days of when due or Lessee has an amount
unpaid to Lessor under this Lease in excess of two times the monthly rent.

Non-Performeance, Lessee fails to perform any of its material obligations under this
Lease (other than payment of money) and such failure continues uncorrected for a

period of 30 days after notice from Lessor.

Financial Inability. Lessee (i) becomes insolvent; (i} admits in writing its Inabllity to
pay its debts; (i) makes a general assignment for the benefit of crediors; (iv) files a
petition in bankruptcy or other insolvency proceeding; or {v) has a petition in
bankruptcy or other insclvency proceeding filed against it that is not discharged by
Lesses within 60 days of such filing.

Section 9.2. Lessor's Remedies. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default,
without any prior notice to or demand upon Lesses, Lessor may pursue one or more of the
following remedies:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Cure Default, Lessor may re-enter the Home and cure any default of Lessee. iIn
such event, Lessee Is obligated to relmburse Lessor for all reasonable costs that
Lessor incurs to cure the default. Lessor, at its option, may use the security deposit
to pay for its costs in accordance with Section 4, Lessor is not liable to Lessee for
any loss or damage that Lesses may sustain due to Lessor’s action, except for loss
or damage caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Lessor, its employees

or agents.

Terminate. Lessor may terminate this Lease and declare the remaining monthly
rents due under this Lease to be immediately due and payable. In such event,
Lesses is obligated to pay Immediately the present value (discounted using the
current prime rate listed in The Wall Strest Joumnal) of the remaining monthly rents
due for the balance of the term of this Lease.

Take Possession and Relet. Lessor may, without terminating this Lease, terminate
Leseee’s right of possession to the Home upon notice to Lasses. Upon receipt of
the notice, Lessee must immediately surrender the Home to Lessor to allow Lessor
to re-enter and take possession of the Home without prejudice to any other remedy
that Lessor may have. Lessor may relet the Home for a term different from the
remaining term of this Lease and for rents and terms different from this Lease. In
such event, Lessee Is obligated to pay immediately the present value (discounted
using the current prime rate listed in The Wall Streel Joumal} of the difference
between the monthly rent due under this Lease and the rent under any nsw (ease
for the reletting of the Home for the balance of the term of this Lease.
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Notwithstanding anything contained in this Section 9.2, and in limitation of the foregoing remedies,
Lessor agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate the damages arising from
Lessee’s default, including making commercially reasonable efforts to re-let or sell the Home to a

third party for fair market value.

Section 9.3. Effect of Waiver of Default. No waiver of an Event of Default by Lessor
is Implied because of any omission by Lessor to take any action on account of such Event of
Defauit if such default persists or is repeatad. Any expressed waiver must b2 by a notice and
only affe'cts the specific Event of Default stated in the notice and only to the extent stated in
such notice.

Section 9.4. Remedles Cumulative. All rights and remedies provided in this Lease
are cumulative and none excludes any other right or remedy allowed by law or equity. Such
rights and remedies may be exercised and enforced concurrently or successively by a party at
its option.

Sectlon 10. Nofices. Each notice, request or consent required or authorized under this
Lease must be In writing. Such notice, request or consent is sufficient if (a) mailed by certified malil,
retumn receipt requested and postage prepald; (b) delivered by a natfionally recognized ovemight
courier service; or (c) except for a notice of default, sent by fax or email with confirmation of receipt,
to the address set forth under the signature of the party. In addition, for any nofice of default, a
copy of such notice shall be sent to The Mentor Network, 313 Congress Strest, Boston, MA 02210,
Atin; General Counsel. Any nofice, request or consent shall be deemed to have been served at the
earlier of: (i) the tims the same was received as indicated by the return receipt; (ii) three days after
deposited into US mall; (fii) one day after deposited with a natlonally recognized ovemight carrer; or
{iv) the time the same was received by fax or email as indicated on the confirnation. A party may
change its address from time to time by a notice to the other party pursuant to this Section 10.

Section 11. Miscellaneous:

Section 11.1. Quiet Enjoyment. Lessor covenants to Lessee that Lessee may
peacefully and quietly enjoy the Home, free of claims by or through Lessor, subject to the terms
of this L.eass, including, without (imltation, Lessor's remedias upon an avent of defautt.

Section 11.2. Subordination and Attornment. This Lease and all of the rights of
Lessee under this Lease are subject and subordinate to (a) the lien of any mortgage in place
now or hereafter on the Home and (b) any and all renewals, modifications, consolidations,
replacements, extensions or substitutions of such morigages. If any such mortgage s
foraclosed, upon request of the mortgages, Lessee agrees to attorn to the purchaser at such
foreclosure sale. Lessee agrees to exscute and deliver any instrument reasonably required by
Lessor or the Lender to further evidence the obligations under this Section 11.2.

Section 11.3. Assignment or Sublease. Lessee may neither assign this Lease nor
sublet all or any portion of the Home without the prior consent of Lessor, which may not be
withheld unreasonably. Howsever, Lessor acknowledges that the Residents to whom Lessee is
providing Services may live in the Home, subject to the terms of this Lease.

Section 11.4. Niiscellaneous Property Matters. Upon the request of either party, the
parties agree to execute a Memorandum of Lease in recordable form and in accordance with
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applicable law. Upon request by Lessor, Lessee agrees to execute and deliver to Lessor an
estoppel ceriificate in a form reasonably satisfactory to Lessor with respect to the status of this
Lease and the compliance of Lessee with its terms. The parties acknowledge that they have
properly executed the "Disclosure of Information on Lead-Based Paint and Lead-Based Paint
Hazards” in accordance with federal regulations.

Section 11.5. Relationship of the Parties. Nothing contained in this Lease is to be
deemed or construed by the parties, or by any third party, as creating the relationship of
principal and agent, or of partnership, or of joint venture, or of any other relationship, except as
landlord and tenant, between the parties.

Section 11.6. Construction. This Lease inures to the benefit of, and is binding on,
each party and its successors and assigns. This Lease constitutes the entire agreement
between the parties with respect to the use of the Home and supersedes all prior agreements
and understandings, oral or written, between the parties with respect to the use of the Home.
This Lease may be executed in one or more counterparts, and by facsimile, each of which shall
be deemed an original, but all of which together constitute one and the same document. This
Lease may be amended or modified only by a written document executed by the parties, This
[.ease is governed by, and construed under, the laws of the State in which the Home is located,

Section 11.7. National Lease Arrangement Agreement. The parties acknowledge
that this Lease is not covered by the National Lease Arrangement Agreement dated March 1,
2008 by and between Scioto Properties LLC (an affiliate of Lessor) and National Mentor
Holdings, Inc. (as affiliate of Lessee).

SIGNATURES

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Lease as of the date set forth above.

LESSOR:

Signed and Acknowledged in the presence of; SCIOTO PROPERTIES SP-15 LLC

~ g By: Scioto Properties LLC, its member
9 T NIV TN
Signature ¥ _. S}’ ‘ A
Print Name: o (L SORLLIM— By: 7 Y (ﬂ ./‘ L
Mary Bea Eaton
R . Its;  Chief Operating Officer
\._»(ll}(aft_ P A @(‘4’— Fetl Address:

Signature ¢, I
Print Name: 2w Vlone O ke

Si and Acknowledged in the presence of:

Signature
Print Name:

M
’mﬁ% Phillev

1

5940 Wilcox Place, Suite A
Dublin, Ohio 43016-6805
Phone: 614.889.5191

Fax; 614.889.5202
Email: mbeaton@scioto.com
LESSEE:

Center for Comprehensive Services, Inc.
dfb/a NeuroRestorative lllinois

By: Cf‘\ﬂ/ —

2l iz
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Chris Kozakis
Iits: Vice President of Real Estate
Address:
The Msntor Network
6600 France Avenue South, Suite 500
Edina, Minnesota 55435
Phone: 952.945.49560
Fax: 952.925.6080

Email: chris.kozakis@thementomstwork.com

GUARANTY OF LEASE

In considaration of the execution of the Lease for the Home located at 1158 Deer Ave, Palatine, IL,
60067, NATIONAL MENTOR HOLDINGS, INC. ("Guarantor”) hereby guarantees to Lessor the
prompt payment of rent and other charges and the full performance of all obligations of Lessee
under the Lease. Guarantor acknowladges that this guaranty Is absolute and unconditional.

Sig and Acknowledged in the presence of: NATIONAL MENTOR HOLDINGS, INC.
Stgnature ,H{A M W By: U\-— f)é\ 2 ’ 14 ) I
Print Napg*: Chris Kozakis

5 lts:  Vice President of Real Estate
, g ;4
Sfgnature / s / é
Print Name: 4’4« [

&
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SCHEDULE 1

SPECIFIC LEASE TERMS
Address: 1158 Deer Ave, Palatins, IL, 60087
Start Date: March 6, 2012
End Date: WMarch 31, 2019
Renewal Terms: Number: 2 | Years: 5
Adjustment Date: Aprl 1, 2013
Monthly Rent {first year): $5,360.36
NMonthly Rent (year 2); $5,467.57
Monthly Rent (year 3): $5,576.92
Monthly Rent (year 4): $5,688.46
Monthly Rent {year 6): $5,802.23
Monthly Rent {year 6): $5,018.27
Monthly Rent (year 7): $6,036.64
Annua! Rent Adjustment % | 2.0%
(to be applied in any
renewal terms):
Security Deposit: $5,360.36
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SCHEDULE 2
SPECIFIC INSURANCE COVERAGE

LESSEE'S REQUIRED INSURANCE -

1. Commercial Property Insurance includes (a) General Properly Insurance that covers the
Home, fixtures, equipment and Lessee's Improvements in the Home in an amount equal to
the full estimated replacement cost of the Home and other property insured and covers risks
nomally included in a policy for single-family residential homes; and (b) to the extent
required by the Lender or requested by Lessor, Speclal Property Insurance that covers
damages to the Home from flood, earthquake and/or hurricane in an amount equal to the full
estimated replacement cost of the Home. Any colnsurance requirement in such policy must
be eliminated through either (i) attachment of the agreed amount endersement or (il)
activation of the agreed value optlon. In the event that Lessee obtains coverage for the
general property Insurance through a self-insurance program or a policy that has a
deductible or self-retention amount in excess of $10,000, Lesses must submit evidencs, to
the satisfaction of Lessor, that it has the ability to pay for any damagss to the Home that
may not otherwise be funded by insurance proceeds.

2. Business Interruption Insurance that provides business income, business interruption,
extra expense or simllar coverage in an amount of the monthly rent for a period of not less
than six months. Lessee acknowledges that Lessor is not liable for any business
interruption or consequentia! loss sustained by Lessee, whether or not the negligence of
Lessor (and its employees and agents) cause such loss.

3. Commercial General and Umbrella Liability Insurance that provides comprehensive
liabitity coverage in an amount not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000
aggregate written on a claims made or occurrence basis. The policy must apply as primary
insurance coverage maintained by Lessee for the beneflt of Lessor under this Lease. Such
policy must either (a) contain no endorsement or modification to make it excess over other
available insurance or (b) if the policy states that it is excess or pro rata, It is endorsed to be
primary with respect to the additional insured. Lessee walves all rights against Lessor (and
it employees and agents) for recovery of damages to the extent these damages are covered
by the coverage required under this paragraph 3. Furthermore, if the policy Is written on a
claims-made basls Lessee must name Lessor as an additional insured and carry coverage
for three years following termination of this Lease,

4. Professionai Liability Insurance that provides professional liability coverage in such
amount and type customary for entities sngaged in providing Services In the state where the
Home is located.

5. Workers' Compensation Insurance that provides the coverage required in the state where the
Home is located and which Is in such amount and type required by the state with respect to
Lessee and its operations. Lessee may obtain the coverage through a state program, private
insurance or self-insurance as required or authorized by such state.

6. Personal Property Insurance (optional in Lessee's discretion) that covers Lessee's
psrsonal property and contents in the Home regardless of who owns such personal property
or contents. Lessee acknowledges that Lessor is not llable for any damage to, or loss of
use of, personal property or contents sustained by Lessee, whether or not the negligence of
Lessor (and its employees and agents) cause such loss.
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File Number 5128-716-9

To all to whom these Presents Shall Come, Greeting:

I, Jesse White, Secretary of State of the State of Illinois, do
hereby certify that

CENTER FOR COMPREHENSIVE SERVICES, INC., A DOMESTIC CORPORATION,
INCORPORATED UNDER THE LAWS OF THIS STATE ON OCTOBER 20, 1977, APPEARS
TO HAVE COMPLIED WITH ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THE BUSINESS CORPORATION
ACT OF THIS STATE RELATING TO THE PAYMENT OF FRANCHISE TAXES, AND AS OF

THIS DATE, IS IN GOOD STANDING AS A DOMESTIC CORPORATION IN THE STATE OF
ILLINOIS.

In Testimony Whereof, I hereto set
my hand and cause to be affixed the Great Seal of
the State of Ilinois, this 6TH
day of MARCH A.D. 2012

.,'. 3| / > 3 G 2hdi 7 I
Authentication # 1206601318 M

Authenticate at: hitp:/fwww.cyberdriveillinois.com
proc 1 €3)

SECRETARY OF BTATE
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AR, TX, TN, Paducah Program Director Don Nidiffer
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Des Plaines, IL M Progrmam Director Senior Laadership Tesm
Jackie Zdenek T —— Blacksburg, VA
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FLOOD PLAIN

The home that Center for Comprehensive Services, Inc will be leasing for the new
Community Based Residential Rehabilitation Center is located on Deer Avenue in
Palatine, IL. As evidenced by the map, the house is not in a flood plain.

We are also not classified as a critical care facility as defined within the regulations.

Thank you,

Chris Williamson, MS

VP Central Region

ATTACHMENT 5

37



NOTES TO USERS
PR v o Earptpui e e ot
v

i A el ey Ta———
By i e vir ey e
Anie Bt aiine Lo, F Al s Lokt b iad
4 g 43 [7 T s
P4 W R | e = ATV Pt e et Torm
- e

N AN e atamaar gy R i
R i K2R AT X ot DRI Ptirpare W
7R gt

Pt 4Lt pfan o e g el L | S 3 e
o Euomn, il Ladks LS ON, 5Tt 1F Bt R R [t ik Tt

10 B KT W1 R 2 by Bt W gy
e bk SE 3 ok P i er i e
M 4 S T i ot

4 e e i Ayl o hdns 8 e bl s S
1 e ks Al 4 e AV
1 v L VT S Lt § A, g S0 T
B iy Per P ey s e

| A RS 3 R e v i g -
AR A L et gy e $ R ety e P
ALl e e

THA by e e MRS B WAL TV o i
4 it el i i AR 0 k] A i Kk
AL 1 A PP B

skttt o Tk s k2 1T b U | g
Tt L i iy et W sl 38 vt e 3

e el o Ry it by Sl s
s 1 d E o Vo e Lt s

o i B AT Ak ] s gt gy s e
i g i ATY 1 AL S L 8
| e m S 3 o . P A 2 G e
.. Froy
it b )t P e TR D

o Mt i Al e P L, R W i

et e, o g el e M i - e ¢ P
e

et WL A )
W Sy ML iy
ay
e M Zad

T Db s A e AN
ity rny bt w Fumg
i e T G

T 7l P g A 1 Ayt by b £t ey
o A Py e oy el o 2

Wik gy ot it it e e e Fa
[ T

b
v o auniny <
Nt - Pt LS a4 iy S [ Mt o, S
T P Sty N I T v ah g

e o o e 1 e 7o St P o 8 e 3 i o

» “ntet
AR it sl B San 1] BT A A,
pridpaaeinetoy

P T P B Nl A e e g, o T R
24 iy il Rrdermry mma mapCllry e ¢
e bty ldcr s Pt catieia FARTE A x amch
-

L Wt e ® Lt 3 Fin WP s it 5 i

Tems w i U e kw1
it L ok A B (il By b el 3 T
[

AT s e g 4 e s mneimy T ey T
g G e DATE P L R T
EEFri Ve

PANEL INDEX

o
B¥
ks
It

e b
et

FR it

il I3

+

I
by o

=
-.{v
L
SHE A

53
s |

i

L AT 8
afl

W

i . BT
il

....l.m\ Aps ..M\vﬂ'r_w\?.

Q
ey

At Ay i AL | L (W R R
LERL LYoy SN B
T By g A T S 1 o e W
PNy e LB & e e b e A P
P LA U T L o e ot il
LM P AT bt T ey f uaataar v b L
(LA e e
L Nt A L et
At S - s .
- T e o L et T S
——
. Rt T P el s R 4 e
srghrn 44 el Pt o Wb iy J |
il
by G TG Lo e R LT e P 3

- gk A i gyt ke Bt
Ay st e S AT

- ik Ll e P e S B 2 s W

MOGEN T WA F P

Pru B &ty Loyl 9 4 B Lt o VI e, 45
A ek g [ AL M TN L4 Y i il
R e

i wues ot
i o T A W e pd b

kg T | R s i
" e s o T e e ¢

[ wencon
-

M o S B A Tt Y
nalw = ek el by il

V.ﬂ”m GTLh oLty T [ AN AT M 0 S

— bt Sy bt e
g T T

—— g P ]

(TS v "o Lty o At - iR
p

Ty ] e S o P i, 8 A

& 0 evsirem
G D e
L LAty 2 B s et ol (gl n Ly
) A
e Ty HE Y e 1]
LR AR b R ket T
PP der i uteert i
. P
i

dat . o
amy WL - dpE
e b | e 4 e S
47" Lo vl P T
[E=me e el
T
L T M ke e R332 L s
10 iy ) Vi - £n O Dl e £ b
e

e T e b b b b 4 A B ol s
B L T T Tty ot e s W Vo 2 e

e, o e ke i, Yo § 4 L
o P e P it B o e

vt Ay s s #1413
WAk RTALE 1T W

ijFL!FHELUS“v—

T TR TSR e —
g v 3 23

|

ESIERY

FAREL M

i
i
I

1 FIRM

WEFRIeEN

ANIFISCLHRPUR A )

B PAKEL 39 OF B3
“m T TR M L S e T
gy
Y whlamy
m w [4h] A" L]
I e
T AW 4 i
S [
H v cmaa
H
1

S TTONAL, RGBT (RS

e .

vt b | i iy Whetinia




Illinois Historic

—==- Preservation Agency
. FAX (217) 7B2-8161

17" 1 Oid State Capitol Plaza + Springfield, lllinois 62701-1512 « www.illinois-history.gov

Cook County
Palatine
CON - Rehabilitation to Establish an 8 Bed Community-Based Residential
Rehabilitation Center
1158 N. Deer Ave.
IHPA Log #012012412

February 9, 2012

Chris Williamson
NeuroRestorative
P.O. Box 2825

306 W. Mill St.
Carbondale, IL 62902

Dear Ms. Williamson:

This letter is to inform you that we have reviewed the information provided
concerning the referenced project.

Qur review of the records indicates that no historic, architectural or
archaeological sites exist within the project area.

Please retain this letter in your files as evidence of compliance with Section 4 of
the Illinois State Agency Historic Resources Preservation Act (20 ILCS 3420/1 et.
seq.}. This clearance remains in effect for two years from date of issuance. It
does not pertain to any discovery during construction, nor is it a clearance for
purpeses of the Illinois Human Skeletal Remains Protection Act (20 ILCS 3440).

If you have any further questions, please contact me at 217/785-5027,

Sincerely,

Anne E. Haaker
Deputy State Historic
Presgservation Officer

ﬂﬁﬁﬂcﬁﬂﬁﬁ‘(;

A teletypewriter for the speechihearing impaired is available at 217-524-7128. It is not a voice or fax line. 1 t_{ {




Modernization Contracts
Leashold Improvernents
(accessibilty enhancements, floering, efc.)
Fire sprinklers and alarm system
Emergency Generator

Contingencies (10% of LH improvements)

Movable or Other Equipment
Furniture
Appliances
Medical and Therapy equipment
QOffice equipment
Lift-equipped van

Fair Market Value of Leased Space

180,000
135,000

20,000
25,000

18,000

141,400
37,600
12,500
33,900
11,400
46,000

523,220

Attachment 7




March 26, 2012

Illinois Health Facilities and Review Board
525 West Jefferson
Springfield, lllinois62761

To Whom It May Concern:

In accordance with Review Criterion 1110.230.b, Background of the Applicant, we are submitting this
letter assuring the Health Facilities and Services Review Board that:

1. Neither Center for Comprehensive Services, Inc., nor MENTOR ABI, LLC has had any adverse
actions against any facility owned or operated by either lllinois entity during the three year
period prier to filing the application, and

2. Center for Comprehensive Services, Inc. and MENTOR ABI, LLC authorizes the State Board
Agency access to information to verify documentation or information submitted in response
to the requirements of Review Criterion 1110.230.b or to obtain any documentation or
information which the State Board or agency finds pertinent to the application.

If we can in any way provide assistance to your staff regarding these necessary assurances, or any other
issue relevant to this application, please do not hesitate to call me. | can be reach at 618-529-3060.

Sincerely,

Ch W@ e

Chris Williamson
Vice President of Central Region

NOTARIZED:

rORFICIAL SEAL”
ga‘”q "5“1252’3? 1tinois ATTACHMENT 11
Notary PUTT s 6-11-2012 N
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PURPQSE

The purpose of the proposed project is to provide residents of the metropolitan Chicago area access to
the services of an IDPH-licensed community —based residential rehabilitation center. By granting this,
the health care of area residents who have acquired brain injuries will be greatly enhanced. There are
only 3 facilities with this type of license in the State, one of which is operated the applicant in Des
Plaines. The program runs at capacity and has had to turn people away for services or delay their
services. The people in the home are from the Chicagoland area. The purpose is ta open its 2" home on
its current Des Plaines IDPH license of 100 beds. The approval would allow us to apen our second facility
in the Chicago land area. The opening of the second facility will be modeled after the current Center for
Comprehensive Services, Inc, d/b/a as NeuroRestortive-lllinois and NeuroRestorative-Carbondale
facilities.

The goal of the program will we he to return the participant to his ar her optimal living situation in their
haome community. In addition, the program focus is to allow the individual to be as independent as
possible. The individual’s abilities, in terms of independence, are evaluated prior te admission, at
admission, monthly, at discharge and also post discharge.

Graphs are included portraying the outcomes for Center for Comprehensive Services.

Attachment 12

o4



[LLIN@IS New¥, . —NewsW

Cm bondzzle Hlinois
Ove IVICW Brain Injury Rebabilitation and Support Services

Jor Adudes, Children & Adolescents

. L NeuroRestorative Iflinois
Together NeuroRestorative Carbondale and NeuroRestorative lllinois NeuroRestora twe Carbon dale

offer a continuum of community-based programs for adults, children

and adolescents with brain injury and other neurological challenges.
Founded in 1977, NeuroRestorative Carbondale was the first dedicated
after-hospital rehabilitation program in the country for people with brain
injury and has continued as a leader in the field for more than thirty years.
Continuing this tradition of excellence we have recently expanded our
programs and are proud to now offer services in the Chicage area.

Location & Settings

Our flagship location in Carbondale, lilinois is a campus-style setting
located across from Southern lllinois University, which provides a unique
opportunity for collaborative research efforts and, for some participants,
reintegration intc post-secondary education.

Just outside of Chicago, our Des Plaines location provides a quiet
neighborhood setting with convenient access to area physicians,
recreational activities and shopping.

Programs
Each location provides individualized, outcome-driven programs and
support services in the most independent setting possible.

» Neurorehabilitation _ » Day Treatment
= Neurobehavioral = Cutpatient
» Supported Living » Respite

= Host-Home

Services
We offer the following array of services based on the needs and goals of
each program participant:

» Physical Therapy » Counseling
= Speech-Language Pathology » Structured Day Rehabilitation
» Occupational Therapy » Community Integration

» Behavior Therapy Vocational & Productive

» Medication Management Social & Recreational Activities
» Neuropsychological Consultation = Nursing

Medical Consulting 24-Hour Emergency On-Call

» Case Management Support

Life Skills Therapy Educational Services

"Services offered throughout the state vary by each individual location. For more information !
on the services offered at a particular location please visit our website. 800'—743_6802
referral line

Prrpey 1L




Our Outcomes

Speak For Themselves

In partnership with participants and their families, our clinical experts establish individual rehabilitation goals and carefully
measure each participant’s progress. As participants move through the phases of their programs, we assess and measure
the physical and functional abilities that affect an individual’s ability to live independently on a day-to-day basis.

We also work to identify trends and set a series of measurements which are crucial to determining the overall
effectiveness of our programs and services, including:

= Establishing baselines for stages along our continuum of care

= Measuring incremental progress and major milestones

= Projecting outcomes in various functionat areas

» Comparing individual participant measurements to outcome trends and projections

Total participants admitted - 2056
Total participants one year follow-up - 722

Outcomes I Admit B oicchege [l 1 Yeor Follow-Up

SIS e S g o ™ - r

Level of Independence
(73]

! - e i - -
1 | ; | | I
Independence Behavioral Community Awareness Vocational Health Relationships  Quality of Life
Invelvement A/ A
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SUMMARY COMPARISON OF ALTERNATIVES TO PROPOSED PROJECT

Cost

Alternative 1
Develop Without a Permit approx. $80,000 less

in short-term cost
no long-term costs

Altemnative 2

Open 100 Beds Immediately

for Renovation: approx. $352,000/yr
in additional lease
payments (short and
long-term)

*ldentical to the proposed project

Quality

likely to be identical*

hikely to be identical*

Accessibility

less accessibility due to

3™ party payor
requirements

likely to be identical*



ALTERNATIVES

The co-applicants are seeking a Permit to open a second home under their current 100
bed CON approved license in the Chicago land area. The second home under the
current 100 bed CON, is intended to be operated like the current home under this CON
and the model of the Carbondale based CON licensed program.

Two alternative models were considered by the co-applicants.

Alternative One-Develop Second home without CON

This was immediately dismissed...consistent with NeuroRestorative wanting to comply
with all governmental regulations and would not want to put our other licensed facilities
at risk for government interventions.

Alternative two-Open all 100 Beds Concurrently

This model is dismissed quickly as well. We already have approval of the 100 bed CON,
but are simply requesting an expansion for the current 8 approved beds under the CON
to add an additional 8 beds. Our model involves the renovation of existing homes for
use as "residences”, each of which provides between 3 to10 beds. The homes are
acquired and owned by a reputable real estate company, unrelated to the co-applicants,
and NeuroRestorative enters into a lease agreement for the property.

The center will open additional homes as demand materializes and homes are acquired.
As an alternative, a single 100 bed facility could be constructed or we could acquire
enough homes to have 100 beds. This was dismissed as well, because our model is to
acquire single family homes and provide family like residences. We want to add houses
as the demand for our services expands.

Please refer to Attachment 12 for outcome data.

Attachment 13
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SIZE OF PROJECT

DEPARTMENT/SERVICE

PROPOSED BGSF/DGSF

STATE STANDARD

DIFFERENCE

MET STANDARD?

NR - Palatine - CBRRC

3,615

N/A

N/A

N/A

Attachment 14
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SIZE

IDPH does not maintain space standards for community-based residential rehabilitation
centers. This residence to be used is a ranch-style home, with a connected 3 car
garage, and consists of 3615 square feet, or 723 square feet of living space per resident
bed. Existing bedrooms range from 182 to 324 square feet each. Once reconfigured,
all bedrooms will range from ~162 square feet to ~216 square feet each, with an
average of 10 square feet being dedicated closet space per room.

The home will undergo interior renovation, including the widening of corridors and
doorways, the creation of a wheelchair accessible shower facility, and the conversion of
the residence into a fully accessible residence, meeting and in many instances
surpassing all ADA requirements. The residence will also receive installation of a full
residential sprinkler system and centrally monitored alarm system to enhance life-safety

features of the home.

Attachment 14
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UTILIZATION

It has been the experience of the co-applicants that the demand for the types of high
quality services provided by NeuroRestorative in its facilities, including Carbondale and
Des Plaines, tar exceeds the supply. As a result, Carbondale and Des Plaines operates
at near 100% capacity, with vacant beds for only minimal times between discharges. A
similar high occupancy is expected at the new home to be opened in Palatine.
Utilization is expected at 95% of existing capacity, understanding that additional
residences, up to a total of 100 beds will be made available over time while foliowing
licensure guidelines.

The proposed facility is an expansion under the current CON that was granted for 100
beds. Assuming an average length of stay of 120 days, it is projected that 23-24
patients will be admitted to the next home during its first year of opening based on
current demand.

Attachment 15




STAFFING

The co-applicants are very familiar with the licensure and adequate staffings needs of
IDPH, CARF, and JCAHO requirements for community based residential rehabilitation
centers, and will meet or surpass all applicable requirements.

The primary methodology used to staff the facility will be the use of advertisements in
selected professional journals and major Chicago newspapers, in addition to web
based advertising. Staff will interviewed and hired by personnel currently employed in
management positions with the co-applicants, and having an understanding of the
requirements of each position to be filled.

The following table identifies the co-applicant’s typical staffing plan for each residence,
as being proposed, and this staffing will be implemented based on need at the propsed
facility.

MANDATED SERVICES

The scope of services to be provided through the proposed community-based
residential rehabilitation center will exceed those identified in 210 ILCS 3/35, and will be
modeled after NeuroRestorative-lllinois. This facility also falls under this current CON as
we are asking for an expansion to the CON of an additionai 8 beds.

The mandated services identified in 210 ILCS 3/35 are: case management, training and
assistance with activities of dalily living, nursing consultation, traditional
therapies(physical, occupational, and speech), funcational interventions in the residence
and community(job placement, shopping, banking, recreation}, counseling, self
management strategies, productive activities and multiple opportunities for skill
acquisition and practice throughout the day.

Below is a list of services currently offered through NeuroRestorative-lllinois, and will be
dulplicated as clinically appropriate for individual clients in the proposed facility:

24 supervision by direct care staff
Medical Direction

Nursing Services

Medical Management

Physical therapy

Occupational therapy

ATToRmaT 25
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Life Skills training

Neuropsychological Evaluation

Crisis intervention

Coordination of Physician visits

Coordination of all Medical Equipment/Supplies
Speech-Language Pathology

Behavior Analysis and Therapy

Case Management Services

Family Education and Training

Counseling Services

Vocational/Productive Activities

Job Placement and coaching

Transportation

Community Integration

Coordination of Specialty Medical/Physician Consultations
Coordination of Laboratory and Radiology as needed

Attached, and to provide additional information related to the programs and services
offered is the webpage for NeuroRestorative.

ATTACHMENT 35
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Bed capacity 6
Occupancy  92%

Average Daily Placements: 5.5
Program and House Management 64
Life Skills Therapists 392
RN and LPN 152
PT, OT, Speech, Counseling, Behavior Therapy 83

Total weekly direct hours 691
Average hours per calendar day, per placement 18

Clerical, accounting, admissions, maintenance 61
Staff Training hours per week 16
Medical Director hours per week 1

The personnel identified above will all be direct employees
or contracted therapists of the licensee. They will be
supported, on a consulting basis by persons providing
additional services as dictated by specific client needs.
Attached are sample consulting agreements for a Social
Worker and Neuropsychologist representing the nature of
these third party provider arrangements.

Attachment 35




CONSULTING AGREEMENT

This Consulting Agreement (“Agreement”) is made by and between NeuroRestorative, D/B/A
Center for Comprechensive Services (“Company”) and The Comprehensive Group, a consultant
retained by Company as an independent contractor (“Consultant”).

Company and Consultant agree as follows:

. 1. Term of the Agreement: This Agreement shall commence at 8:00 AM
on July 19", 2010, through July 18™ 2011 and shall terminate upon thirty (30)
days written notice by either party, for any or no reason. If the parties have not
negotiated a new agreement or terminated the Agrecment on July 19™ 2011, then
the terms of this agreement will continue on a month-to-month basis until a new
agreement is negotiated.

. 2. Services to be Performed: Consultant agrees to perform those therapy
consulting services for the adult programs, as may be requested by Company.
Exhibit “A” to this Agreement contains a description of the general services to be
provided by Consultant to Company under this Agreement. Consultant will at all
times, and notwithstanding any term or provision of this Agreement, have
complete and sole discretion for the manner in which the services provided under
this Agreement will be performed. Company will advise Consultant of any issues
related to the work performed in order to ensure thal the services are in
compliance with the quality, safety and other standards established by Company.

. 3. Qualifications of Consultant: Consultant represents that he/she has the
qualifications and skills necessary to perform the services under this Agreement
in a competent, professional manner, without the advice, direction, or supervision
of Company. Consultant will provide Company with all documents requested by
Company to establish Consultant’s qualifications and appropriate credentials and
licenses for the services to be performed under this Agreement. Exhibit “B” to
this Agreement sets forth the specific certifications, registrations and licenses that
Consultant must establish and maintain in order to provide the services requested
by Company under this Agreement. Consultant’s obligations and services
hereunder must be performed in compliance with all applicable Federal and State
laws.

4. Compensation: Consultant will be compensated for all consulting
services requested by Company and performed by Consuliant at the rate of
$XX.00 per hour for on site visits on a weekly basis as needed by the Company.
Consuitant agrees to bill Company in hourly increments. Consultant agrees to

32051815.1/85721.000001
Consultant;

Company:
ATI 32091758v1
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delineate, on the invoice, the dates of service, number of billed hours those
particular dates, and times. Company and Consultant will be permitted to adjust
hours or weeks worked with the prior consent of the company.

. 5. Status as Independent Contractor: Consultant is an independent
contractor and not an employee or agent of Company.

. 6. Control of Work: In the performance of its consulting services.
Consultant at atl times has exclusive control over the manner, method and details
of all services performed by Consultant without supervision by Company.
Consultant will not direct, manage, supervise or control any employees of
Company.

. 7. Non-Exclusivity of Services: During the term of this Agreement.
Consultant shall be free to perform consulting services for persons and business or
governmental entities other than Company; provided, however, that in no instance
shall Consultant use or disclose any confidential information or trade secrets of
Company or its affiliates, clients or consumers other than in the performance of
consulting services on behalf of Company.

. 8. Taxes: Consistent with Consultant’s status as an independent contractor,
Company shall withhold no federal, state or local income, social security,
Medicare, Medicaid, or other payroll taxes from compensation paid to Consultant
under this Agreement. Consultant will obtain the necessary taxpayer
identification number from the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS™) and provide that
number to Company. Company will provide an IRS Form 1099 for amounts paid
to the Consultant for services performed during the tax year. Consullant is at all
times responsible for paying when due al) federal, state and local income taxes,
including estimated and self-employment taxes, incurred as a result of the
compensation paid by Company to Consulitant for services under this Agreement.
Consultant agrees to indemnify Company for any claims, costs, losses, fees.
penalties, interest, or damages suffered by Company as a result of Consultant’s
failure to comply with this provision.

. 9. Benefits: By executing this Agreement, Consultant agrees that he/she is
only entitled to that compensation as set forth in paragraph 4 of this Agreement,
and no other payments, benefits, or other compensation of any kind, including
worker’s compensation and unemployment insurance benefits.

. 10.  Insurance: Consultant agrees to maintain, thronghout the term of this
Agreement, professional liability insurance in the minimum amounts of

32051815.1/85721.000001
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Company:
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$1.000,000.00 per occurrence and $3,000,000.00 aggregate, and to provide
evidence of such insurance to the Company at any time upon request.

. 11, Assignments Prohibited: This Agreement is an agreement for personal
services of Consultant who is an independent contractor as contemplated under
the laws of the State of Illinois and all applicable laws of the United States of
America. Therefore, neither this Agreement, nor any right or obligation of
Consultant may be transferred, assigned, or encumbered by Consultant without
Company’s prior written consent, which consent may be withheld for any or no
reason. Any purported transfer, assignment or encumbrance without that consent
will be void and of no force or effect.

. 12, Waiver: No delay or failure by either party to exercise any right under
this Agreement, and no partial or single exercise of that right, will constitute a
waiver of that or any other right, unless otherwise expressly provided herein.

. 13, Modification: No modification or waiver of any provision of this
Agreement will be effective unless the same is in writing and signed by the parties
and then such modification or waiver will be effective only in the specific
instance and for the purpose for which it was given after signed by the parties.

. 14.  Notices: Any notice required to be given under the terms of this
Agreement to a party will be in writing and sent via the United States Postal
Service, postage prepaid, and addressed to the addresses under such party’s
signature below.

. 15. Forum Selection, Venue, and Choice of Law: The parties expressly
agree that the laws of the State of Illinois will govern the validity, construction,
interpretation, effect, and enforcement of this Agreement. Each party hereby
irrevocably and unconditionally consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction
of the state and Federal courts located in the State of Hlinois with respect to any
action relative to this Agreement and the parties hereby waive any objection to
personal jurisdiction of, venue at, and service of process of any of the
aforementioned Federal or state courts.

. 16.  Partial Invalidity: In case any one or more of the provisions contained in
this Agreement should be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, the
validity, legality. and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein
will not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

. 17.  Entire Agreement: This Agreement contains the entire understanding
between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. There are no

32051815.1/85721.000001
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representations or promises other than those expressly set forth herein. The
parties acknowledge that they are relying fully upon the contents of this
Agreement and not upon any other promises, representations or warranties,
expressed or implied, not contained herein concerning the subject matter hereof to
induce them to execute this Agreement. The headings contained in this
Agreement are for convenience only and are not intended to modify of affect the
meaning of any provision of this Agreement.

CONSULTANT: COMPANY:
By: By:

Name: Name:

Date: Date:
Address: Address

Center for Comprehensive Services, Inc.
P.G. Box 2825

Carbondale, 1L. 62902-2825

32051815.1/85721.000001
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EXHIBIT “A”

Company and Consuliant agree that during the term of this Agreement, Consultant shall perform

the following services for Company and its clients:

Provide Speech, Physical, and Occupational therapy services to Company’s program
partictpants.

Prepare and Provide therapy summaries

Prepare and submit report materials, establishing clear objectives of treatment
4 Prepare and submit weekly services summaries

Participate in team and conference meetings when requested

Assure to comply with CARF regulations
4 Pursue continuing education for own postion

Communicate with payor sources when needed to assist with treatment planning and length
of stay recommendations.

® Provide copies of certifications and insurance coverage as noted in Exhibit B

32051815.1/85721.060000]
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Consultant will only bill the Company for professional services rendered under this
agreement, unless arrangements have been made in advance with Company representatives
and third party payers to bill a program participant’s funding source directly. In no instance
will Consultant bill the Company for professional services which have also been billed to
third party payers. Company will not be held liable for any reimbursement due directly to
Consultant from third party funding sources or other parties.

4 Consultant will complete transfer training with NeuroRestorative Staff.

32051815.1/85721.000001
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EXHIBIT “B”

Consultant must maintain the following in order to provide the services requesied by Company

under this Agreement:

Current and Valid Professional Regulation License

32051815 1/85721.000001
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CONSULTING AGREEMENT

This Consulting Agreement (“Agreement™) is made by and between NeuroRestorative
(“The Company”) and Dr. Arthur Skladman a consultant retained by The Company as an
independent contractor (“Consultant”).

The Company and Consultant agree as follows:

. 1. Term of the Agreement: This Agreement shall commence at 8:00 am
on 8/16/2010, and shall terminate at 8:00 am on 8/15/2011, unfess terminated
earlier by either party, for any or no reason, upon thirty (30) days written notice.

. 2. Services to be performed: Consultant agrees to perform those consulting
services for NeuroRestorative Inc, as may be requested by The Company. Exhibit
“A” to this Agreement contains a description of the general services to be
provided by Consullant to The Company under this Agreement. Consunltant will at
afl times, and notwithstanding any term or provision of this Agreement, have
complete and sole discretion for the manner in which the services provided under
this Agreement will be performed. The Company will have the sole discretion to
determine whether the work performed by Consultant is satisfactory to The
Company and in compliance with the quality, safcty and other standards
established by The Company.

. 3. Qualifications of Consultant: Consultant represents that he/she has the
qualifications and skills necessary to perform the services under this Agrcement
in a competent, professional manner, without the advice, direction, or supervision
of The Company. Consultant will provide The Company with all documents
requested by The Company to establish Consultant’s qualifications and
appropriate credentials and licenses for the services (o be performed under this
Agreement. Exhibit “B” to this Agreement sets forth the specific education,
certification, licensure and insurance requirements that Consultant must establish
and maintain in order to provide the services requested by The Company under
this Agreement.

. 4. Compensation: Consultant will be compensated for all consulting
services requested by The Company and performed by Consultant at the rates in
exhibit A of this agreement.

32051815.1/85721.000001
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5. Status as Independent Contractor: Consultant is an independent
contractor and not an employee or agent of The Company.

. 6. Control of Work: In the performance of its consulting services,
Consultant at all times has exclusive control over the manner, method and details
of all services performed by Consultant without supervision by The Company.
Consultant will not direct, manage, supervise or control any employees of The
Company.

. 7. Non-Exclusivity of Services: During the term of this Agreement,
Consultant shall be free to perform consulting services for persons and business or
governmental entities other than The Company; provided, however, that in no
instance shall Consultant use or disclose any confidential information or trade
secrets of The Company or its affiliates, clients or consumers other than in the
performance of consulting services on behalf of The Company.

. 8. Taxes: Consistent with Consultant’s status as an independent contractor,
The Company shall withhold no federal, state or local income, social security,
Medicare, Medicaid, or other payroll taxes from compensation paid to Consultant
under this Agreement. Consultant will obtain the necessary taxpayer identificaiion
number from the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS™) and provide that number to
The Company. The Company will provide an IRS Form 1099 for amounts paid to
the Consultant for services performed during the tax year. Consultant is at all
times responsible for paying when due all federal, state and local income taxes,
including estimated and self-employment taxes, incurred as a result of the
compensation paid by The Company to Consultant for services under this
Agreement. Consultant agrees to indemnify The Company for any claims, costs,
losses, fees, penalties, interest, or damages suffered by The Company as a result
of Consultant’s failure to comply with this provision.

. 9. Benefits: By executing this Agreement, Consultant agrees that he/she is
only entitled to that compensation as set forth in paragraph 4 of this Agreement,
and no other payments, benefits, or other compensation of any kind, including
worker’s compensation and unemployment insurance benefits.

. 10.  Indemnification: Consultant shall indemnify, defend and held harmless
The Company, and all of its employees, officers, agents, and assigns, from any
and all claims, demands, losses, costs, expenses, obligations, liabilities, damages,
and deficiencies including interest, penalties, attorney’s fees, liquidated damages,
and costs that The Company may incur as a result of any negligence, active or
passive fault, or breach by Consultant.

32051815.1/85721.00000)
Consultant:

The Company:
ATI 32091758¥1

G3



. 11.  Insurance: Consultant agrees to maintain. throughout the term of this
Agreement, professional liability insurance in the minimum amounts of
$1,000,000.00 per occurrence and $3,000,000.00 aggregate, and to provide
evidence of such insurance to the Company at any time upon request.

. 12. Assignments Prohibited: This Agreement is an agreement for personal
services of Consultant who is an independent contractor as contemplated under
the laws of the State of lllinois and all applicable laws of the United States of
America. Therefore, neither this Agreement, nor any right or obligation of
Consultant may be transferred, assigned, or encumbered by Consultant without
The Company’s prior written consent, which consent may be withheld for any or
no reason. Any purported transfer, assignment or encumbrance without that
consent will be void and of no force or effect.

. 13. Waiver: No delay or failure by either party to exercise any right under
this Agreement, and no partial or single exercise of that right, will constitute a
waiver of that or any other right, unless otherwise expressly provided herein.

. 14.  Modification: No modification or waiver of any provision of this
Agreement will be effective unless the same is in writing and signed by the parties
and then such modification or waiver will be effective only in the specific
instance and for the purpose for which it was given.

. 15.  Notices: Any notice required to be given under the terms of this
Agreement to a party will be in writing and sent via the United States Postal
Service, postage prepaid, and addressed to the addresses under such party’s
signature below.

. i6.  Forum Selection, Venue, and Choice of Law: The parties expressly
agree that the laws of the State of Nllinois will govern the validity, construction,
interpretation, effect, and enforcement of this Agreement. Each party hereby
irrevocably and unconditionally consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction
of the state and Federal courts located in the State of Illinois with respect to any
action relative to this Agreement and the parties hereby waive any objection to
personal jurisdiction of, venue at, and service of process of any of the
aforementioned Federal or state courts,

. 17.  Partial Invalidity: In case any one or more of the provisions contained in
this Agreement should be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respeci, the
validity, legality, and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein
will not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
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18.  Entire Agreement: This Agreement contains the entire understanding
between the parties with respect to the subject matier hereof. There are no
representations or promises other than those expressly set forth herein. The
parties acknowledge that they are relying fully upon the contents of this
Agreement and not upon any other promises, representations or warranties,
expressed or implied, not contained herein concerning the subject matter hercof to
induce them to execute this Agreement. The headings contained in this
Agreement are for convenience only and are not intended to modify of affect the
meaning of any provision of this Agreement.

CONSULTANT: THE COMPANY:
By: By:

Name: Name:

Date: Date:

Address: Address:
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EXHIBIT “A”

The Company and Consultant agree that during the term of this Agreement, Consultant

shall perform the following services for The Company and its clients:

1.

2.

4.

5.

6.

Serve as the program’s Administrative Medical Director Consultant.

Review medical records prior to admission as/if requested and consult with the
Program Director and/or RN regarding recommendations.

Advocate for medical necessily on behalf of persons referred to the program who
meet admission criteria either by verbal or written communication (i.e. peer to peer
contact) with the funding source representative.

Sign off on program medical policy and procedures and review as needed.

Be physician of record on license and funding contracts.

Participate in marketing endeavors as available (i.e. communication with potential

funding sources, presentations at conferences, web-casts, etc.)

Service requests will be initiated by NeuroRestorative clinical Team and must be pre-approved

by NeuroRestorative Program Director prior to services being rendered. All services to be

reimbursed at the following rate:

$ 1000 per month not to exceed 4 hours per month.

All clinical visits by participants of NeuroRestorative at the physician office of Dr. Arthur N.
Skaldman, MDSC at 415 West Golf Road, Arlington Heights will be pre-authorized and billed
directly by the hospital/practice directly to the funding source.
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Lodging fees, vehicle rental (including insurance), mileage (for personal vehicle use only}
incurred during services provided to The Company will be reimbursed by The Company.

The Consultant shall be responsible for retaining and submitting the appropriate paperwork and

receipts for reimbursement of expenses incurred during the provision of stated Services in
accordance of the policies of The Company.
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EXHIBIT ‘“B”

The following is a listing of the specific education, certification, licensure, insurance and
other requirements that Consultant must establish and maintain in order to provide the services
requested by The Company under this Agreement:

Education:

Certification:

Licenses:
Maintenance and retention of appropriate Medical licenses as well as any other required licenses
required by the states where services are provided to The Company.

Insurance (in addition to that set forth in paragraph 11 of the Aereement):

Maintenance and retention of appropriate Liability and Malpractice insurances additional to
those outlined by the terms of this agreement as may be dictated by the states in which services
are provided to The Company.

Other:
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CONSULTING AGREEMENT

This Consulting Agreement (“Agreement’) is made by and between MENTOR ABI
(“Company”) and NeuroPsychologist, a consultant retained by Company as an independent
contractor (“Consultant™),

Company and Consultant agree as follows:

1, Term of the Agreement: This Agreement shall commence at 8:00 AM
on January Jst, 2011 and shall terminate at 5:00 PM on December 31st, 2011,
unless terminated earlier by cither party, for any or no reason, upon thirty (30)
days written notice.,

2. Services to be Performed: Consuitant agrees to perform those consulting
services for the Mentor Network-Center for Comprehensive Services, as may be
requested by Company. Exhibit “A” to this Agreement contains a description of
the general services to be provided by Consultant to Company under this
Agreement. Consultant will at all times, and notwithstanding any term or
provision of this Agreement, have complete and sole discretion for the manner in
which the services provided under this Agreement will be performed. Company
will have the sole discretion to determine whether the work performed by
Consultant is satisfactory to Company and in compliance with the quality, safety
and other standards established by Company.

3. Qualifications of Consultant: Consultant represents that he/she has the
qualifications and skills necessary to perform the services under this Agreement
in a competent, professional manner, without the advice, direction, or supervision
of Company. Consultant will provide Company with all documents requested by
Company to establish Consultant’s qualifications and appropriate credentials and
licenses for the services to be performed under this Agreement. Exhibit “B” to
this Agreement sets forth the specific education, certification, licensure and
insurance requirements that Consultant must establish and maintain in order to
provide the services requested by Company under this Agreement,

4. Compensation: Consultant will be compensated for all consulting
services requested by Company and performed by Consultant at the rates in
exhibit A of this agreement.
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. 5. Status as Independent Contractor: Consultant is an independent
contractor and not an employee or agent of Company.

. 6. Control of Work: In the performance of its consulting services,
Consultant at all times has exclusive control over the manner, method and details
of all services performed by Consultant without supervision by Company.
Consultant will not direct, manage, supetvisc or control any employees of
Company.

. 7. Non-Exclusivity of Services: During the term of this Agreement,
Consultant shall be free to perform consulting services for persons and business or
governmental entities other than Company; provided, however, that in no instance
shall Consultant use or disclose any confidential information or trade secrets of
Company or its affiliates, clients or consumers other than in the performance of
consulting services on behalf of Company.

. 8. Taxes: Consistent with Consultant’s status as an independent contractor,
Company shall withhold no federal, state or local income, social security,
Medicare, Medicaid, or other payroll taxes {rom compensation paid to Consultant
under this Agreement. Consultant will obtain the necessary taxpayer identification
number from the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and provide that number to
Company. Company will provide an IRS Form 1099 for amounts paid to the
Consultant for services performed during the tax year. Consultant is at all times
responsible for paying when due all federal, state and local income taxes,
including estimated and self-employment taxes, incurred as a result of the
compensation paid by Company to Consultant for services under this Agreement.
Consultant agrees to indemnify Company for any claims, costs, losses, fees,
penalties, interest, or damages suffered by Company as a result of Consultant’s
failure to comply with this provision.

’ 0. Benefits: By executing this Agreement, Consultant agrees that he/she is
only entitled to that compensation as set forth in paragraph 4 of this Agreement,
and no other payments, benefits, or other compensation of any kind, including
worker’s compensation and unemployment insurance benefits.

. 10.  Indemnification: Consultant shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless
Company, and all of its employees, officers, agents. and assigns, from any and all
claims, demands, losses, costs, expenses, obligations, Habilities, damages, and
deficiencies including interest, penalties, atlorney’s fees, liquidated damages, and
costs that Company may incur as a result of any negligence, active or passive
fault, or breach by Consultant.
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. 11.  Insurance: Consultant agrees to maintain, throughout the term of this
Agreement, professional liability insurance in the minimum amounts of
$1,000.000.00 per occurrence and $3,000.000.00 aggregate, and to provide
evidence of such insurance to the Company at any time upon request.

. 12. Assignments Prohibited: This Agreement is an agrcement for personal
services of Consultant who is an independent contractor as contemplated under
the laws of the State of lllinois and alt applicable faws of the United Siates of
America. Therefore, neither this Agreement, nor any right or obligation of
Consultant may be transferred, assigned, or encumbered by Consultant without
Company’s prior written consent, which consent may be withheld for any or no
reason. Any purported transfer, assignment or encumbrance without that consent
will be void and of no force or effect.

. 13. Waiver: No delay or failure by either party to exercise any right under
this Agreement, and no partial or single exercise of that right, will constitute a
waiver of that or any other right, unless otherwise expressly provided herein.

. 14.  Modification: No modification or waiver of any provision of this
Agreement will be effective unless the same is in writing and signed by the parties
and then such modification or waiver will be effective only in the specific
mnstance and for the purpose for which it was given.

. 15.  Notices: Any notice required to be given under the terms of this
Agreement o a party will be in writing and sent via the United States Postal
Service. postage prepaid, and addressed 1o the addresses under such party’s
signature below.

. 16.  Forum Selection, Venue, and Choice of Law: The parties expressly
agree that the laws of the State of Illinois will govern the validity, construction,
interpretation, effect, and enforcement of this Agreement. Each party hereby
irrevocably and unconditionally consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction
of the state and Federal courts located in the State of Illinois with respect to any
action relative to this Agreement and the parties hereby waive any objection to
personal jurisdiction of, venue at, and service of process of any of the
aforementioned Federal or state courts.

. 17.  Partial Invalidity: In casc any onc or more of the provisions contained in
this Agreement should be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, the
validity, legality, and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein
will not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
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18.  Entire Agreement: This Agreement contains the entire understanding
between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. There are no
representations or promises other than those expressly set forth herein. The
parties acknowledge that they are relying fully upon the contents of this
Agreement and not upon any other promises, representations or warranties,
expressed or implied, not contained herein concerning the subject matter hereof to
induce them to execule this Agreement. The headings contained 1n this
Agreement are for convenience only and are not intended to modify of affect the
meaning of any provision of this Agreement.

CONSULTANT: COMPANY:
By: By:

Name: Name:

Date: Date:
Address: Address:
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EXHIBIT “A>
Company and Consultant agree that during the term of this Agreement, Consultant shall perform
the following services for Company and its clients:
Neuropsychological Testing at $ 175.00 per hour
Direct Counseling scrvices at $ 125.00 per hour
Team Consuliation at $ 100.00 per hour
Psychological Testing when not part of Neuropsychological Evaluation at $125.00 per hour.
Tests/Inventories requiring external scoring/interpretation (computer scoring by test publishers at

Cost-receipt
required)
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EXHIBIT “B”

The following is a listing of the specific education, certification, licensure, insurance and
other requirements that Consultant must establish and maintain in order to provide the services
requested by Company under this Agreement:

Educatton:

1399 PHD University of 1llinois @ Urbana Champaign-Counseling
Psych

Certification:

Licenses:
L#071-
006462

Insurance (in addition to thai set forth in paragraph 11 of the Agreement):

Other:
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UNIT SIZE

The proposed community-based residential rehabilitation center consists of a total of
100 beds, 8 of which have been established/opened in Des Plaines. The request is for
an additional 8 beds to be opened on Deer Avenue is Palatine, IL. We are preparing for
this approval and opening as the demand requires it.

The co-applicants acknowledge that additional residences under the 100-bed license
cannot be established without the approval of the IHFSRB to do so.

ATTACHMENT 35
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UTILIZATION

It has been the experience of the co-applicants that the demand for the types of high
quality services provided by NeuroRestorative in its facilities, including Carbondale and
Des Plaines, far exceeds the supply. As a result, Carbondale and Des Plaines operates
at near 100% capacity, with vacant beds for only minimal times between discharges. A
similar high occupancy is expected at the new home 1o be opened in Palatine.
Utilization is expected at 95% of existing capacity, understanding that additional
residences, up to a total of 100 beds will be made available over time while following

licensure guidelines.

The proposed facility is an expansion under the current CON that was granted for 100
beds. Assuming an average length of stay of 120 days, it is projected that 23-24
patients will be admitted to the next home during its first year of opening based on
current demand.

Participant days Percentage
First 1-12 months 2,646 52%
Months 13-24 3,612 77%

ATTACHMENT 35
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BACKGROUND OF APPLICANT

The co-applicants operate two of the IDPH-licensed community-based residential
rehabilitation center in lllinois. This request is to add an additional 8 beds under the
current CON that is currently using 8 beds of the approved 100 for the Chicago-land
area. The Carbondale facility, which opened in 1977 and became licensed in 1999,
currently maintains a full census of the initial 100 beds approved CON.

The clients of the programs operated by the co-applicants include individuals who have
experienced brain injuries as a result of trauma through work, accident or military
service. Veterans are served in many of the co-applicants’ programs, and it is the co-
applicants’ belief that there is a pressing need to provide high quality and specialized
care to veterans from active service having brain injuries.

Aside from returning veterans, traumatic brain injury survivors are often young to middle
aged and need extensive therapies not typically offered in nursing facilities.

ATTACHMENT 35
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C Al iNTERNATIONAL

December 4, 2009

Ericka Grubbs

Regional Quality Analyst/Risk Manager
Center for Comprehensive Services
306 West Mill Street

Carbondale, IL 82901

Dear Ms. Grubbs:

Itis my pleasure to inform you that Center for Comprehensive Services has earned CARF
International accreditation for a period of three years for the following programs:

Home- and Community-Based Rehabilitation Programs: Brain Injury Program (Adults)
Interdisciplinary Outpatient Medical Rehabilitation Programs: Brain Injury Program (Adults)
Interdisciplinary Outpatient Medical Rehabilitation Pro§rams: Brain Injury Program \
(Children and Adolescents) -
Residential Rehabilitation Programs: Brain injury Program (Adults)

Residential Rehabilitation Programs: Brain Injury Program (Children and Adolescents}
Vocational Services: Brain Injury Program (Aduits)

R

This accreditation is effective October 23, 2009, through November 30, 2012. This achievement
is an indication of your organization’s dedication and commitment to improving the quality of the
lives of the persons served. Services, personnel, and documentation clearly indicate an
established pattern of conformance to standards.

Your organization should take pride in achieving this high level of accreditation. We will
recognize this accomplishment in our listing of erganizations with accreditation, and we
encourage you to make this accomplishment known throughout your community.
Communication of the accreditation to your referral and funding sources, the media, and local
and federal government officials can promote and distinguish your organization. Enclesed are
some materials that will help you publicize this achievement.

The enclosed accreditation report is intended to support a continuation of the quality
improvement of your programs. It contains:

» Consultation and comments on your organization's strengths and exemplary
conformance, if any.

» The reasons for any partial or nonconformance to standards identified as a result of the
survey.

* Benchmarking data that compare your organization’s standards conformance to the
conformance of other organizations in a number of areas, based on our vast survey

archives.
CARF INTERNATIONAL CARF-CCALC CARF CANADA
4591 East Geant Raad 1730 Riade Island Avenuwe, NW, Sutte 209 10665 Jasper Avenue, Sette 14G04
Tecson, AZ 85712 bsa Washington, BC 20035 U5A Edmonton, Afberta TS5 359 Canadz
Toll-free /TTY 888 281 6531 @ Fax 520318 1129 Totl-free 866 8BS 1122 W Fax 202 587 5009 Toll-free 877 434 5444 B Fax TRO 426 7274
wew.carl org www.carl.org/aging www.caricanada.ca 7 8
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Ms. Grubbs -2- December 4, 2009

A completed quality improvement plan (QIP) describing your organization's efforts to address
any partial or nonconformance to standards identified in the report must be submitted within the
next 90 days to retain accreditation. The QIP form is posted on Customer Connect
(customerconnect.carf.org), our secure, dedicated website for accredited organizations and
organizations seeking accreditation. Please log on to Customer Connect and follow the
instructions contained in the QIP form.

Your organization’s complimentary accreditation certificate will be sent separately. You may use
the enclosed form to order additional certificates.

If you have any questions regarding your organization’s accreditation or the QIP, please contact
Karen Kloter at kkloter@carf.org or (888) 281-6531, extension 180.

We commend your organization for its commitment to improve the quality of its programs. We
look forward to working with your organization in its ongoing pursuit of excellence.

Sincerely,

B R T

Brian .J. Boon, Ph.D.

President/CEQ
ssh
Enclosures
CARF INTERRATIONAL CARF-CCAC CARF CANADA
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filinois Department of

l,\/ Ll Damon T. Arnold, M.D., M.P.H., Director

525-535 West Jefferson Street Springfield, Illincis 62761-0001 www idph.state.il.us

November 16, 2009

Chris Williamson

Center for Comprehensive Services
306 West Mill Street

P.O. Box 2825

Carbondale, 1L, 62902

Dear Mr. Williamson:

The Community-Based Residential Rehabilitation Center, located at 306 West
Mill Street, Carbondale, Illinois is currently licensed in good standing under
the authority of the Alternative Health Care Delivery Act {210 ILCS 3) and the
Community-Based Residential Rehabilitation Center Demonstration Program
Code (771ll. Adm. Code 220).

Although the license for The Center for Comprehensive Services expires
January 1, 2010, a survey has not yet been conducted. This delay is in no way
due to any action by The Center for Comprehensive Services, its owners, or
employees. The Department considers your license in good standing currently
and in the future as long as no action has been taken by the Illinois
Department of Public Health to revoke your license. No such action is
contemtplated at this time. The enclosed renewal license is for 100 beds.

Please contact me with questions at Illinois Department of Public Health,
Division of Health Care Facilities and Programs, Central Office Operations
Section, 525 West Jefferson Street, 4% Floor, Springfield, IL 62761-0001, or at
217-782-0381.

Sincerely,

F/M_\_B—'—%W

Karen Senger, RN, BSN
Supervisor, Central Office Operations Section
Division of Health Care Facilities and Programs
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X, Uiinois Department of

Pat Quinn, Governor
Damon 7. Arnoid, M.D., M.P.H,, Director

§25-535 West Jeflferson Street » Springfield, Illinois 82761-0001 + www.idph.state.il.us

LICENSE, PERMIT CERTIFICATION, REGISTRATION |

The firm or corporation whose name appears on this certificate has complies
with the provisions of the Illinois Statutes and/or rules and regulations and is
hereby authorized to engage in the activity as indicated below.

Alternative Health Care Delivery Act and the Community-Based Residential
Rehabilitation Center Demonstration Program Code (771ll. Adm. Code 220)

Licensed number of Beds Expiration Date | License Identification

100 1/01/11 1B 4000021

Center for Comprehensive Services
306 W, Mill St.
Carbondale, IL 62901

Issued under the authority of The State of llinois Department of Public Health
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December 16, 2010

Chris Williamson
NeuroRestorative Carbondale
306 West Mill Street

P.O. Box 2825

Carbondale, IL 62902

Dear Mr. Williamson:

The Community-Based Residential Rehabilitation Center, located at 306 West
Mill Street, Carbondale, lllinois is currently licensed in good standing under
the authority of the Alternative Health Care Delivery Act (210 ILCS 3) and the
Community-Based Residential Rehabilitation Center Demonstration Program
Code {7711l. Adm. Code 220).

Although the license for The Center for Comprehensive Services expires
January 1, 2011, a survey has not yet been conducted. This delay is in no way
due to any action by The Center for Comprehensive Services, its owners, or
employees. The Department considers your license in good standing currently
and in the future as long as no action has been taken by the Illinois
Department of Public Health to revoke your license. No such action is
contemplated at this time. The enclosed renewal license is for 100 beds and
expires January 1, 2012,

Please contact me with questions at lllinois Department of Public Health,
Division of Health Care Facilities and Programs, Central Office Operations
Section, 525 West Jefferson Street, 4t Floor, Springfield, 1L 62761-0001, or at
217-782-0381.

Sincerely,

Karen Senger, RN, BSN
Supervisor, Central Office Operations Section

Division of Health Care Facilities and Programs

improving public heaith, one community at a time
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* Springfield, Minols 62761-0001 + www.ldph.slate.il.us

i LICENSE, PERMIT CERTIFICATION, REGISTRATION

The firm or corporation whose name appears on this certificate has complies
with the provisions of the lllinois Statutes and/or rules and regulations and is
hereby authorized to engage in the activity as indicated below.

Alternative Health Care Delivery Act and the Community-Based Residential
Rehabilitation Center Demonstration Program Code (77111, Adm. Code 220)

Licensed number of Beds

Expiration Date

License Identification

100

01/1/2012

4000021

NeuroRestorative Carbondale
306 West Mill Street
Carbondale, IL 62901

Issued under the authority of The State of [llinois Department of Public Health
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The firm or corpOrat;on whose name appears on this cert.lﬁcate has complies
with the provisions of the Illinois Statutes arid/or rules and regulations and is
hereby authorized: to engage in the activity as mdmatcd below.

Alternative Healti-l 'Care Delivery Act and .the Commumty—Based Residential
Rehabilitation Centér Demonstration Program Code (7711l Adm. Code 220)

Expiration Date

Liceﬁse Identification

Licensed number of Beds
5 .

8/16/11

' Neurorestorative Hlinois

820 Berkshire Lane
Des Plaines, IL 600 16

4000026

Issued under the authonty of 'I‘he State of Il]mms Dcpartment of Pubhc Health
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L LICENSE, PERMIT CERTIFICATION, REGISTRATION

The firm or corporation whose name appears on this certificate has complies
with the provisions of the Illinois Statutes and/or rules and regulations and is
hereby authorized to engage in the activity as indicated below.

Alternative Health Care Delivery Act and the Community-Based Residential
Rehabilitation Center Demonstration Program Code (7711, Adm. Code 220}

Licensed number of Beds

Expiration Date

License Identification

8

08/16/2012

4000026

NeuroRestorative [llinois
820 Berkshire Lane

Des Plaines, IL 60016

Issued under the authority of The State of lllinois Department of Public Health
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Deloitte.

200 Berketey Street
Boston, MA D2116
usa

Tel: 11617 437 2000
Fax. +1 617 437 2111
wwnwv.deltte.com

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Audit Committee of
National Mentor Holdings, Inc.
Boston, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of National Mentor Holdings, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the “Company™) as of September 30, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements
of operations, shareholder’s equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
September 30, 2011. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements. The {inancial statements of the
Company for the year ended September 30, 2009 were audited by other auditors whose report, dated
December 22, 2009, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (Untted States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.
Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes examining. on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

[n our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of National Mentor Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries as of September 30, 2011 and 2010, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for cach of the two years in the period ended

September 30, 2011, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements 1aken
as a whole. The supplemental consolidating information listed in the table of contents is presented for the
purpose of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. This
supplemental consolidating information is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Such
information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audits of the basic financial
statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them.

IQW ',‘/c]m./yé Le P

Boston, Massachusetts
Janvary 13, 2012

Member ol
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

92




NATIONAL MENTOR HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010
{Amounts in thousands)

2011 2010
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 263 b 26,448
Restricted cash 936 1,046
Accounts receivable, netl of allowances of $7,957 and §7,225 at
September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively 134,071 125,979
Deferred 1ax asscts — net 20,956 13,571
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 9,969 14,701
Totat current assets 166,195 181,745
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT — Net 146,256 142,112
INTANGIBLE ASSETS — Net 397,514 437,757
GOODWILL 231,015 229757
RESTRICTEDR CASH 50,000 -
OTHER ASSETS 19,870 i3,915
INVESTMENT IN RELATED PARTY DEBT SECURITIES - 10,599
TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,010,850 § 1,015885
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES: £ 27,059 5 26,503
Accounts payable 74,968 68,272
Accrued payroll and related cosis 46,528 48,307
Other accrucd lisbilities 312 92
Gbligations under capital lease — current 5,300 3,667
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities 154,167 146 841
OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 15,536 15,166
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES — NET 111,066 126,322
OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASE, LESS CURRENT PORTION 6,462 1,624
LONG-TERM DEBT, LESS CURRENT PORTION 754,742 500,799
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY
Common stock, §.01 par value, 1,000 shares authorized and
100 shares issued and outstanding, - -
Additional paid-in capital 33,098 250,620
Accumulated nther comprehensive (loss) income (4,017} 575
Accumulaled deficit {60,204) {26,062)
Total shareholder’s equity (31,123) 225,133
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY $ 1010850 § 1,0153885

See notes to consolidated financial stalements.



NATIONAL MENTOR HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS CF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2011, 2010 AND 2009

{Amounts in thousands)

NET REVENUE

COST OF REVENUE (Exclusive of depreciation
expense shown separately below)

OPERATING EXPENSES:
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization

Total operating expenses

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Management fee to related party
Other expense — net
Extinguishment of debt
Gain from available for sale investment security
Interest income
Interest income from relaied party
Interest expense

LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
INCOME TAXES

BENEFIT FOR INCOME TAXES

LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS — Net
of 1ax of $3,193, $3,529 and $1,706

NET LOSS

See notes to conselidated financial statements.

2011 2010 2009
$1,070,610  $1,011,469  $957.525
§29,032 776,656 731,372
144,516 133,731 125,734
61,901 56,413 55,598
206,417 190,144 181,332
35,161 44,669 44821
(1,271) (1,208) (1,146)
(159) (339) (503)
(19,278) - )
3,018 ; .
22 42 193
684 1,921 1,202
(61.718) (46,693) (48.,254)
(43,541) (1,608) (3,687)
(14,427) (205) (1,116)
(29,114) (1.403) (2,571)
(5,028) (5,464) (2,385)
$ (34.142) $ (6867) $ (5.456)

7/




NATIONAL MENTOR HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOQLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2011, 2010, AND 2009
{Amounts in thousands)

Accumulated
Additional Other Tota!
Common Stock Paid-n Comprehensive Accumulated Shareholder's Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capita) (Loss) Income Daficit Equity Income {Loss}

BALANCE — Gctober 1, 2008 _160 5 - 1 256,648 3(5,781} $(13,739} $ 237,128

Other comprehensive loss — nel of (ax - - - {1,334 - {1,334) $ (1.334)

Stock-based compensation - - 1,306 - - 1.306 -

Parent capital contribution - . 452 - - 452 -

Dividend 10 parent - - (;3,368] - - {8.368) -

Net loss - - - (5,456 (5,456) {3,456)

Comprehensive loss $ {6,790)
BALANCE — September 30, 2009 100 5 - $ 250,038 3(7,1135) 5(19,195} £223,7128

Other comprehensive income — net of 1ax - . - 7.690 - 7.6580 § 7.690

Stock-based compensation - . 677 - - 677 -

Dividend 10 parent - - (95} - - {95) -

Net loss - - - - {6,867) (6,867) (6,867)

Comprehensive loss § 823
BALANCE ~— September 30, 2010 130 5 - § 250,620 $ 575 $(26,062) $225,133

Other comprehensive income — net of tax - - - (4.592) - (4,592) $ (4,592)

Stock-based compensation - - 1,675 - - 3,675 -

Dividend 10 parent - - {221,197y - . (221,197 -

Net loss - - - - (34,142) {34,142} {34,142}

Comprehensive loss $(38.734)
BALANCE — September 30, 2011 _100 s - § 133,008 ${4.017) $(60,2043% $(31.123)

See notes to consolidated financial statcments




NATIONAL MENTOR HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2011, 2010, AND 2009
{Amounts in thousands)

2011 2010 2009
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Met loss $ (34,142) $ (6,867) $ (5.456)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activitres:
Accounis reccivable allowances 11,670 12 458 11,712
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 23,306 23,172 24,233
Amortization of other intangible assets 39,755 34903 33,667
Amortization of original issue discount and initial purchasers discount 1,924 - -
Amontization and write-off of financing costs 10,545 3,190 3,266
Accretion of investment in related party debt securities (325) (963) (601)
Stock-based compensation 3475 677 1,306
Deferred income taxes (19,524) (13,876) 415
Gain from available for sale investment securily (3.018) - -
{Gain) loss on disposal of assets {56) 560 945
Change in the fair value of contingent consideralion (2,545) 1,424 -
Non-cash impairment charge 11,893 6,552 3,012
Non-cash interest income from related party (359} {938) (601)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounis receivable (19,424) (16,004) {14,318)
Other assets 2,928 1,478 5722
Accounts payable (1,045) 6,096 {1,257)
Accrued payvrol! and related costs 6,580 8671 {2,040)
Other accrued liabilities (2,009) 9,351 (4,196)
Other long-term liabitities 370 1,704 2,603
Net cash provided by operating activities 30,199 71,568 38,412
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash paid for acquisitions. net of cash received (12,688) (49,337) (33,638)
Purchases of property and equipment (20,878) (20,873) (27,398)
Purchases of related party debt securities - - (6,555)
Changes in restricted cash (49,890 4,146 542
Proceeds from sale of assets Gl4 1.218 5,281
Net cash used in mvesting activities (82,542) {64,846) (61,768)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayments of long-term debt (507,114} (3.712) {3,736}
Issuance of long term debt, net of original issue discount 160,767 - -
Proceeds trom borrowings under senior revolver 30,600 - -
Repayments of borrowings under senior revolver (30,600} - -
Repayments of caputal lease obligations (244) {117} (208)
Cash paid for contingent consideration (4,975} - -
Dividend to Parent (207,855) {95) (8,368)
Parent capital contribution - - 452
Payments of financing costs (14.421) - (42}
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 26,158 {3.929) {11,902)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE [N CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (26,183) 2,798 (15,258)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — Beginming of period 26,448 23,650 38,908
CASH ANI} CASH EQUIVALENTS — End of period $ 263 § 26,448 $ 23,650
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid for interest $ 57.827 § 43,289 $ 44 933
Cush paid for income taxes i L8601 $ 1,482 3 R32
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Accrued contingent consideration L3 - 5 1617 5 -
Accrued property, plant and equipment £ 1601 5 - L S
SUFPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Capital lease obligation incurred to acquire assels $ 5302 $ 37 3 -
Dividend to Parent $ (13,342 8§ - £ -

See notes to consohdated financial stalements,
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NATIONAL MENTOR HOLDINGS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2011, 2010 AND 2009

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

National Mentor Holdings, Inc., through its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company™), is
a leading provider of home and community-based health and human services to adults and children with
intellectual and/or developmental disabilities, acquired brain injury and other catastrophic injuries and
ilinesses; and to youth with emotional, behavioral and/or medically complex challenges, Since the
Company’s founding in 1980, the Company has grown to provide services to approximately 22,000
clients in 33 states.

The Company designs customized service plans to meet the unique needs of its clients, which it delivers
in home- and community-bascd settings. Most of the Company’s service plans involve residential
support, typically in smali group homes, host home settings, or spectalized community facilities,
designed to improve the ciients’ quality of life and to promote their independence and participation in
community life. Other services offered include supported living, day and transitional programs,
vocational services, case management. family-based services, post-acute treatment and
neurorehabilitation, neurobehavioral rehabilitation and physical, occupational and speech therapies,
among others. The Company’s customized service plans offer its clients as well as the payors of these
services, an attractive, cost-effective alternative to health and human services provided in large,
instifutional settings.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation,

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the rcporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

These accounting policies and estimates are constantly recvaluated, and adjustments are made when
facts and circumstances dictate a change.

Cash Equivalents — The Company considers short-term investments with maturity dates of 90 days or
less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents primarily consist of bank deposits
and the carryving value of cash equivalents approximates fair value,

Restricted Cash — Restricted cash consists of a cash collateral account set up to support the issuance of
letters of credit under the institutional letier of credit facility and funds provided from government
payors restricted for client use. Restricted cash in fiscal 2010 also included cash related to certain
insurance coverage provided by the Company’s captive insurance subsidiary which was dissolved in
fiscat 2010.



Financial Instruments — Financial instruments include cash, accounts receivables and accounts
payable. The carrying value of these instruments approximates their fair values. For financial
instruments fair valued at the end of each reporting period, sce Note 14,

Concentrations of Credit and Other Risks — Financial instruments that potentially subject the
Company to credit risk primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. Cash and
cash equivalents are deposited with federally insured commercial banks in the United States. The
Company derives approximately 90% of its revenue from state and local government payors. These
entities fund a significant portion of their payments to the Company through federal matching funds,
which pass through various state and local government agencies.

The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts, which currently has unlimited coverage by
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC™).

Revenue Recognition — Revenue is reported net of allowances for unauthorized sales and estimated
sales adjustments. Revenue is also reported net of any state provider taxes or gross receipts taxes levied
on services the Company provides. Sales adjustments are estimated based on an analysis of historical
sales adjustments and recent developments in payment trends. Revenue is recognized when evidence of
an arrangement exists, the service has been provided, the price is fixed or determinable and collectibility
is reasonably assured,

The Company recognizes revenue for services performed pursuant to contracts with various state and
local government agencies and private health care agencies as follows: cost-reimbursement contract
revenue is recognized at the time the service costs are incurred and units-of-service contract revenue is
recognized at the time the service is provided. For the Company’s cost-reimbursement contracts, the rate
provided by the payor is based on a certain level of service and types of costs incurred in delivering the
service. From time to time, the Company receives payments under cost-reimbursement contracts in
excess of the allowable costs required 10 support those payments. In such instances, the Company
estimates and records a liability for such excess payments. At the end of the contract period, any balance
of excess payments is maintained as a liability until it is reimbursed to the payor. Revenue in the future
may be affected by changes in rate-setting structures, methodologies or interpretations that may be
enacted in states where the Company operates or by the federal government.

Cost of Revenue — The Company classifies expenses directly related to providing services as cost of
revenue, except for depreciation and amortization related to cost of revenue, which are shown separately
in the consolidated statements of operations, Direct costs and expenses principally include salaries and
benefits for service provider employees, per diem payments to independently contracied host-home
carcgivers (“Mentors™), residential occupancy expenscs, which arc primarily comprised of rent and
utilities related to facilities providing direct care, certain client expenses such as food and medicine and
transportation costs for clients requiring services.

Property and Equipment — Property and cquipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation.
The Company provides for depreciation using straight-line methods over the estimated useful lives of
the related assets. Estimated useful lives for buildings are 30 years. The useful lives of computer
hardware and softwarc are three years, the useful lives for furniture and equipment range from three to
five years and the useful lives for vehicles are five years. Leaschold improvements are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the lesser of the remaining lease term or seven years. Capital lease assets are
depreciated over the lesser of the lease term or the useful life of the asset. Expenditurcs for maintenance
and repairs are charged to operating expenses as incurred.



Accounts Receivable — Accounts receivable primarily consist of amounts due from government
agencies. not-for-profit providers and commercial insurance companies. An estimated allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded to the extent it is probable that a portion or all of a particular account will
not be collected. In evaluating the collectibility of accounts receivable, the Company considers a number
of factors, including payment trends in individual states, age of the accounts and the status of ongoing
disputes with third party payors. Complex rules and regulations regarding billing and timely filing
requirements in various states are also a factor in our assessment of the collectibility of accounts
receivable. Actual collections of accounts receivable in subsequent periods may require changes in the
estimated allowance for doubtful accounts. Changes in thesc cstimates are charged or credited to
revenue as a coniractual allowance in the consolidated statements of operations in the period of the
change in estimate.

Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets — The Company reviews costs of purchased
businesses in excess of the fair value of net assets acquired {(goodwill), and indefinite-life intangible
assets for impairment at least annually, unless significant changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment may have occurred sooner. The Company conducts its annual impairment test for both
goodwill and indefinite-life intangible assets on July | of each year.

The Company is required to test goodwill on a reporting unit basis, which is the same leve] as the
Company’s operating segments. The Company performs a two-step impairment test. The first step is to
compare the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying value. If the carrying amount of the
reporting unit exceeds its fair value then the second step of the goodwill impairment test is performed.
The second step of the goodwill impairment test compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s
goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill in order to determine the amount of impairment to
be recognized. The excess of the carrying value of goodwill above the implied goodwill, if any, would
be recognized as an impairment charge. Fair values are established using discounted cash flow and
comparative market multiple methods.

The impairment test for indefinite-life intangible assets requires the determination of the fair value of the
intangible asset. If the fair value of the indefinite-life intangible asset is less than its carrying value, an
impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the difference. Fair values are established using the

Relief from Rovalty Method.

The fair value of a reporting unit is based on discounted estimated future cash flows. The assumptions
used to estimate fair value include management’s best estimates of future growth, capital expenditures,
discount rates and market conditions over an estimate of the remaining operating period. As such, actual
results may differ from these estimates and lead to a revaluation of the Company’s goodwill and
indefinite-life inlangible assets. If updated estimates indicate that the fair value of goodwill or any
indefinite-life intangibles is less than the carrying value of the asset, an impairment charge is recorded in
the consolidated statements of operations in the period of the change in estimate.

Impairment of Long-Lived Asscts — The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment when
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable based on the
undiscounted future cash flows of the asset, If the carrying amount of the asset is determined not to be
recoverable, a write-down to fair value is recorded.

Income Taxes — The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liabtlity method. Under
this method, deferred tax assels and liabilities are determined by multiplying the differences between the
financial reporting and tax reporting bases for assets and liabilities by the enacted tax rates expected to
be in effect when such differences are recovered or settled. These deferred tax assets and liabilities are
separated into current and long-term amounts based on the classification of the related assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and netted by jurisdiction. Valuation allowances on deferred
tax assets are estimated based on the Company’s assessment of the realizability of such amounts.




The Company also recognizes the benefits of tax positions when certain criteria are satisfied. The
Company may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not
that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical
merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position
should be measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being
realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain
tax positions as a component of income tax expense which is consistent with the recognition of these
items in prior reporling periods.

Derivative Financial Instruments — The Company reports derivative financial instruments on the
balance sheet at fair value and establish criteria for designation and effectiveness of hedging
relationships. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recorded each period in current operations or
in shareholder’s equity as accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) depending upon whether the
derivative is designated as part of a hedge transaction and, if it is, the type of hedge transaction.

The Company, from time to time, enters into interest rate swap agreements to hedge against variability
in cash flows resulting from fluctuations in the benchmark interest rate, which is LIBOR, on the
Company’s debt. These agreements involve the exchange of variable interest rates for fixed interest rates
over the life of the swap agreement without an exchange of the notional amount upon which the
payments are based. On a quarterly basis, the differential to be received or paid as interest rates change
is accrued and recognized as an adjustment to interest expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. In addition, on a quarterly basis the mark to market valuation is recorded as an
adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a change to shareholder’s equity, net
of tax. The related amount receivable from or payable to counterparties is included as an asset or
liability, respectively, in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

Available-for-Sale Securities — The Company’s investments in related party marketable debt
securities have been classified as available-for-sale securities and, accordingly, are valued at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Unrealized gains and losses arising from such valuation are reported,
net of tax, in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Stock-Based Compensation — NMH Investment, LLC (“NMH Investment™), the Company’s indirect
parent, adopted an equity-based compensation plan, and issued units of limited liability company
interests consisting of Class B Units, Class C Units, Class D Units, Class E Units and Class F Units
pursuant to such plan. The units are limited liability company interests and are available for issuance to
the Company’s employees and members of the Board of Directors for incentive purposes. For purposes
of determining the compensation expense associated with these grants, management values the business
enterprise using a variety of widely accepted valuation techniques which counsidered a number of factors
such as the Company’s financial performance, the values of comparable companies and the lack of
marketability of the Company’s equity. The Company then used the option pricing method to determine
the fair value of these units at the time of grant using valuation assumptions consisting of the expected
term in which the units will be realizced; a risk-free interest rate equal to the U.S. federal treasury bond
rate consistent with the term assumption; expected dividend yield, for which there is none; and expected
volatility based on the historical data of equity instruments of comparable companies. The estimated fair
value of the units, less an assumed forfeiture rate, is recognized in expense on a straight-line basis over
the requisite service periods of the awards.

Accruals for Self-Insurance — The Company maintains employment practices liability, professional
and general liability, workers’ compensation, automobile liability and health insurance with policies that
include self-insured retentions. The Company records expenses related to claims on an incurred basis,
which includes estimates of fully developed losses for both reported and unreported claims. The accruals
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for the health and workers’ compensation, automobile, employment practices and professional and
general liability programs are based on analyses performed internally by management and may take into
account reports by independent third parties. Accruals relating to prior periods are periodically re-
evaluated and increased or decreased based on new information.

Legal Contingencies — The Company is regularly involved in litigation and regulatory proceedings in
the operation of its business. The Company reserves for costs related to contingencies when a loss is
probable and the amount is reasonably estimable. While the Company believes its provision for legal
contingencies is adequate, the outcome of its legal proceedings is difficult to predict and we may settle
fegal claims or be subject to judgments for amounts that differ from the Company’s estimates. In
addition, legal contingencies could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s results of
operations in any given future reporting period.

Reclassifications — The Company sold its home health business, closed certain business operations in
the state of Maryland and closed its business operations in the states of Colorado, Nebraska, New
Hampshire and New York. All fiscal years presented reflect the classification of these businesses as
discontinued operations.

The Company has reclassified $5.9 million and $5.6 million of expense associated with insurance
coverage for professional and general liability retentions and premiums and employment practices
liabtlity from General and administrative expense to Cost of revenue in the fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2009
consolidated statements of operations, respectively. This change in classification has been made to
conform to the fiscal 2011 presentation which the Company believes more accurately reflects the direct
relationship of these expenses to providing services.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Presentation of Insurance Claims and Related Insurance Recoveries — In August 2010, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update No 2010-24,
Health Care Entities (Topic 954), Presentation of Insurance Claims and Related Insurance Recoveries
(“ASU 2010-24™), which clarifies that companies should not net insurance recoveries against a related
claim liability. Additionally, the amount of the claim liability should be determined without
consideration of mnsurance recoveries. The adoption of ASU 2010-24 is effective for the Company
beginning the first quarter of the fiscal year ending September 30, 2012 (“fiscal 2012”). The Company’s
accounting for insurance recoveries and related claim liability will change on a prospective basis on the
date of adoption which will result in a corresponding increase in both assets and liabilities.

Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Information for Business Combinations — In December
2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2010-29, Business Combinations (Topic 805),
Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Information for Business Combinations (“ASU 2010-29").
ASU 2010-29 requires a public entity to disclose pro forma revenue and eamings of the combined entity
for the current reporting period as though the acquisition date for al! business combinations that occurred
during the fiscal year had been as of the beginning of the annual reporting period or the beginning of the
comparable prior annual reporting period if showing comparative financial statements. ASU 2010-29 is
effective prospectively for the Company for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on
or after October 1, 2011,

Amendments te Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S.
GAAP and IFRS — [n May 2011, the FASB issucd Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-04, Fair
Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and
Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRS (*ASU 201 1-04"). Under ASU 2011-04, the
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valuation premise of highest and best use is only relevant when measuring the fair value of nonfinancial
assets. Additionally, ASU 2011-04 includes enhanced disclosure requirements for fair value
measurements. ASU 2011-04 s effective for the Company beginning in the second quarter of fiscal
2012. The Company is evaluating the impact of this guidance on its financial statements.

Presentation of Comprehensive Income — In June 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards
Update No. 2011-05, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income
(“"ASU 2011-05). ASU 2011-05 eliminates the current option to report other comprehensive income
and its components in the statement of changes in equity. The final standard requires entities to present
net income and other comprehensive income in either a single continuous statement or in two separate,
but consecutive, statements of net income and other comprehensive income. ASU 2011-05 is effective
for the Company beginning in the second quarter of fiscal 2012. The Company does not expect this to
have a material impact to its financial statements.

Intangibles — Goodwill and Other — In September 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards
Update No. 2011-08, fntangihles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing Goodwill for Impairment
(“ASU 2011-08™). Under ASU 2011-08, an entity has the option to first assess qualitative factors to
determine whether further impairment testing is necessary. Additionally, an entity has the option to
bypass the qualitative assessment for any reporting unit in any period and proceed directly to performing
the first step of the impairment test, and the perform the qualitative assessment in any subsequent period.
ASU 2011-08 is effective for the Company beginning fiscal 2013. The Company is evaluating the
impact of this guidance on its financial statements.

COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME
The components of comprehensive (loss) income and related tax effects are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended September 30
2011 2010 2009

Net loss $(34,142) $(6,867) $(5.456)
Changes in unrealized (loss) gain on derivatives —

net of taxes of $(2,727), $5,030 and $(1,103) for the

year ended September 3¢, 2011, 2010 and 2009,

respectively (4,017) 7.408 (1,628)
Changes in unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale

debt securities net of taxes of $(390), $191 and $200

for the year ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009,

respectively (575) 282 294
Comprehensive (loss) income $(38,734) % 823 $(6,790)
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

The operating results of the businesses acquired are included in the consolidated statements of
operations from the date of acquisition. The Company accounted for the acquisitions under the purchase
method of accounting and. as a result, the purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based upon their respective fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the
estimated fair value of net tangible assets was allocated to specifically identified intangible assets, with
the residual being allocated to goodwill.
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Fiscal 2011 Acquisitions — During fiscal 2011, the Company acquired seven companies
complementary to its business for total fair value consideration of $12.6 miilion.

New Start Homes — On October 1, 2010, the Company acquired the assets of New Start Homes, Inc.
(“New Start Homes") for total fair value consideration of $0.7 million. New Start Homes is a health
facility located in California that provides congregate living inpatient services to mentally alert
individuals who have spinal cord injuries, neurological illnesses or injuries or similar conditions and
may be ventilator dependent. As a result of the New Start Homes acquisition, the Company recorded
$0.2 million of goodwill in the Post Acute Specialty Rehabilitation segment, which is expected to be
deductible for tax purposes, The Company acquired $0.5 million of intangible assets which included
$0.3 million in agency contracts with a weighted average useful jife of eleven years and $0.2 million in
license and permits with a weighted average useful life of ten years.

ViaQuest — On October 26, 2010, the Company acquired the asscts of ViaQuest Behavioral Health of
Pennsylvania, LLC (“ViaQuest™) for total cash of $1.1 million. ViaQuest provides residential and
periodic services to individuals with behavioral health issues. As a result of the ViaQuest acquisition, the
Company initially recorded $0.4 million of goodwill in the Human Services segment, which is expected
to be deductible for tax purposes. The Company acquired $0.6 million of intangibles assets which
primarily included $0.5 million of agency contracts with a weighted average useful life of eleven years.
The remaining purchase price was allocated to tangible assets. During fiscal 2011, the Company wrote
off $0.2 million of goodwill and $0.2 million of intangible assets related to underperforming programs
within the ViaQuest operations.

Phoenix Homes — On December 31, 2010, the Company acquired the assets of Phoenix Homes, Inc.
(“Phoenix Homes") for total cash of $1.1 million. Phoenix Homes is a licensed child-placing agency that
provides community-based, family focused therapeutic foster care to families and children in crisis or at
risk in Maryland and Rhode Island. As a result of this acquisition, the Company recorded $0.1 million of
goodwill in the Human Services segment, which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The
Company acquired $1.0 million of intangibles assets which primarily included $0.7 million of agency
contracts with a weighted average useful life of eleven years.

Inclusive Solution —— On June 1, 2011, the Company acquired the assets of MEIS, LLC and New Life
Enterprises N.W. Ghio, Inc., d/b/a Inclusive Solutions (“Inclusive Solutions™) for total cash of

$2.0 million. Inclusive Solutions operates in Chio and provides community based services to individuals
with developmental disabilities. As a result of this acquisition, the Company recorded $0.6 million of
goodwill in the Human Services segment, which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The
acquired intangible assets included $0.5 million of agency contracts with a weighted average useful life
of ¢leven years and $0.4 million of license and permits with a weighted average useful life of ten years.
The remaining purchase price was allocated to tangible assets.

Communicare — On June 23, 2011, the Company acquired the assets of Communicare. LLC
{(“Communicare”) for total fair value consideration of $8.1 million, which initially included $0.8 million
of accrued contingent consideration. The contingency will be resolved on June 30, 2012 and provides for
an additional $0.9 million in cash to be paid based upon the purchased entity’s achieving certain
earnings targets. The fair value of the contingent consideration on the date of acquisition was

$0.8 million and was subsequently reduced to zero at September 30, 201 1. The subsequent adjustment
was recognized as an increase {o earnings and included in General and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statements of operations.
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Communicare provides heaith, rehabilitation and residential services in the state of Florida to individuals
with brain injuries, neuromuscular disorders, spinal cord injuries, pulmonary disorders, congenital
anomalies, developmental disabilities and similar conditions. The Company recorded $3.8 million of
goodwill in the Post Acute Specialty Rehabilitation Scrvices segment as a result of the Communicare
acquisition, which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The Company acquired $4.2 million of
intangible assets which primarily included $2.0 million of agency contracts with a weighted average
useful life of eleven years and $1.6 million of non-compete with an estimated useful life of five years,
The remaining purchase price was allocated to tangible assets and liabilities.

Other Acquisitions — During fiscal 2011, the Company acquired the assets of SunnySide Homes of
Redwood Falls, Inc., which consists of iwo group homes and TheraCare of New Jersey, Inc., a provider
of behavioral health services for total cash of $0.3 million and $0.2 million of which was allocated to
intangible assets,

The following table summarizes the recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the date of the acquisition (in thousands):

New Start Inclusive Other

Homes  ViaQuest Phoenlx Solutions Communicare Acquisitions Total
Accounts recervable $ - § 191 $ - $ - $ - 3 - 5 191
Cther assets, current and long term - - 4 - - - 4
Identifiable intangible assets 450 641 951 984 4,238 317 7,381
Property and equipment 3 - - 413 a1 - 307
Accounts payable and accrued expenses - (116) - - (800} - {916)
Toatal idemifiable net assets $453 5 76 § 955 $1.397 $3,529 $ 317 5 7367
Goodwill 197 $ 3R4 $ 120 $ 603 33,795 $ 122 $ 5221

Fiscal 2010 Acquisitions — During fiscal 2010, the Company acquired seven companies
complementary to its business for total fair valne consideration of §52.1 million, including $3.0 million
of contingent consideration. Since the initial estimate, the fair value of the contingent consideration
increased to $3.3 million.

Springbrook — On January 15, 2010, the Company acquired the assets of Springbrook, Inc. and an
affiliate (together, “Springbrook™) for total fair value consideration of $6.3 million, which included $1.6
of initially estimated contingent consideration. Since the initial estimate, the fair value of the contingent
consideration increased to $3.3 million based on actual financial performance of Springbook and was
paid in its entirety during fiscal 2011. Adjustments to the fair value of the contingent consideration were
recorded in General and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

Springbrook operates in Arizona and Oregon and provides residential and mental health services to
individuals with developmental disabilities and behavioral issues. As a result of the Springbrook
acquisition, the Company recorded $1.4 million of goodwill in the Human Services segment, which is
expecled to be deductible for tax purposes. The Company recorded $6.0 million of intangible assets,
$5.2 million of which was agency contracts with a weighted average useful life of eleven years.

Villages — The Company acquired the assets of two California facilities (together, *Viilages™”), on
January 29, 2010 and on February 11, 2010. engaged in neurorehabilitation services for total cash of
$7.0 million. As a result of these acquisitions, the Company recorded $3.2 million of goodwill in the
Post Acute Specialty Rehabilitation Services segment, which is expected to be deductible for tax
purposes. The Company acquired $3.8 million of intangible assets which primarily included $3.5 million
of agency contracts with a weighted average useful life of eleven years.
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NeuroRestorative — On February 22, 2010, in a purchase of stock and assets, the Company acquired a
provider of neurobehavioral and supported living programs (“NeuroRestorative”) for total cash of

$16.8 million. NeuroRestorative has operations in Arkansas, Louisiana, Oklahoma and Texas and serves
individuals who have sustained a traumatic brain injury. As a result of the NeuroRestorative acquisition,
the Company initially recorded $6.3 million of goodwill in the Post Acute Specialty Rehabilitation
Services segment, none of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The Company acquired
$13.5 million of intangible assets which primarily included $1 1.4 million of agency contracts with a
weighted average useful life of eleven years and $1.4 million of licenses and permits with a weighted
average useful life of ten years. During fiscal 2011, the Company wrote off $0.5 million of goodwill and
$0.7 million of intangible asscts related to underperforming programs within the NeuroRestorative
operations.

Anchor Inne — On June 30, 2010, the Company acquired the assets of Anchor Inne, Inc. (“Anchor
Inne”) for total cash of $3.4 million. Anchor Innc has operations in Pennsylvania and serves individuals
who have sustained a traumatic brain injury. As a result of the Anchor Inne acquisition, the Company
recorded $1.3 million of goodwill in the Post-Acute Specialty Rehabilitation Services segment, which is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The Company acquired $2.1 million of intangible assets
which primarily included $1.9 million of agency contracts with a weighted average useful life of eleven
years.

Woodhill Homes — On September {5, 2010, the Company acquired the assets of Woodhill Homes, Inc.
(“Woodhill”) for total cash of $3.5 million. Woodhill operates group homes serving ¥DD residents in
Minnesota. As a result of the Woodhill acquisition, the Comnpany recorded $1.3 million of goodwill in
the Human Services segment, which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The Company
acquired $2.1 million of intangible assets which primarily included $2.0 million of agency contracts
with a weighted average useful life of eleven years.

PLUS — On September 24, 2010, the Company acquired the stock of Progressive Living Units Systems-
New Jersey, Inc. (“PLUS”) for total cash of $12.1 million. PLUS has operations in New Jersey and
Pennsylvania and provides supported and independent living services to individuals who have sustained
a traumatic brain injury. As a result of the PLUS acquisition, the Company recorded $5.2 million of
goodwill in the Post-Acute Specialty Rehabilitation Services segment, none of which is expected to be
deductible for tax purposes. The Company acquired $10.3 million of intangible assets which primarily
included $7.6 million of agency contracts with a weighted average useful life of ten years and

$2.7 million of licenses and permits with a weighted average uscful life of ten years.

The following table summarizes the recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed (in thousands).

Springbrock  Villages Neuro Anchor inne  Weodhill PLUS Total
Accounls receivable 258 5. £ 2.691 $ - 3 - § 799 $ 3748
Other assets, current and long term 32 - 752 - - 21 8035
Identifiable intangible assets 5,974 3.827 13,492 2,072 2,133 10,253 37.751
Property and equipment 17} 20 293 55 43 402 984
Accounts payable and accreed expenses {1.624) . (1,038) - - {451y (3.113)
Deferred tax liabilities - - (5,746) - - (4,146) (9,892}
Total identifiable net asscts § 4,811 $3 847 $10,444 $2,127 $2,176 $§ 6878 $30,283
Goodwill $ 1449 $3,195 $ 6336 £1,299 £1,324 $ 5211 $18 814
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Pro Forma Results of Operations — The unaudited pro forma results of operations provided below for
fiscal 2011 and 2010 is presented as though acquisitions made during fiscal 2011 and 2010 had occurred
at the beginning of the periods presented. The pro forma information presented below does not intend to
indicate what the Company’s results of operations would have been if the acquisitions had in fact
occurred at the beginning of the earliest period presented nor does it intend to be a projection of the
impact on future results or trends. The Company has determined that the presentation of the results of
operations for each of these acquisitions, from the date of acquisition, is impracticable due to the
integration of the operations upon acquistition.

Year Ended September 30,
{In thousands) 2011 2010
Net revenue $1,083,088 $ 1,068,656
Income from operations 37,470 56,634

Fiscal 2009 Acquisitions — During fiscal 2009, the Company acquired four companies for total cash of
$22.9 million, as described below:

Institute for Family Centered Services, Inc. — On June 1, 2009, the Company acquired the stock of
Institute for Family Centered Services, Inc. (“LFCS”) for total cash of $11.5 million. In addition, the
Company accrued an additional $3.4 million of contingent consideration which was paid in fiscal 201 1.
IFCS provides home and community-based mental health services to children and adults utilizing a
Family Centered Treatment model (“FCT Model”) which focuses treatment on the individual within his
or her immediate family environment. IFCS operates in Florida, Maryland, North Carolina and Virginia.
As a result of the IFCS acquisition, the Company recorded $4.5 million of aggregate goodwill in the
Human Services segment, none of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The Company
acquired $8.2 million of intangible assets which primarily included $6.8 million of agency contracts
with a weighted average life of eleven years.

Lakeview Healthcare Systems, Inc. — On August 1, 2009, the Company acquired the stock of Lakeview
Healthcare Systems, Inc, (“Lakeview™) for total cash of $10.4 million. Lakeview operates in

New Hampshire, Maine, Rhode Island, Virginia and Wisconsin and is a provider of neurobehavioral and
supported living programs serving individuals who have sustained a traumatic brain injury. As a result
of the Lakeview acquisition, the Company recorded $5.6 million of goodwill in the Post Acute Specialty
Rehabilitation Services segment, none of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The
Company acquired $7.5 million of intangible assets which primarily included $6.5 million of agency
contracts with a weighted average useful life of twelve years.

Orher Acquisitions — In addition to IFCS and Lakeview, the Company acquired RIA, Inc., a
developmental disability group home provider and Stepping Stones, Inc., a provider of transttional
therapeutic support services for adults with acquired brain injuries, both in the Human Services segment
for total consideration of $1.1 miltion. As a result of these acquisitions, the Company recorded

$0.4 million of goodwill and $0.6 million of intangible assets.




The following table summarizes the recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed (in thousands):

IFC3 Lakeview  Other Total

Accounts receivable $2,508 $ 588 5 - § 3,096
Other assets, current and long term 239 72 - 0&}
[dentifiable intangible assets 8,187 7,543 566 16,296
Property and equipment 810 246 119 1,175
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (4,773) (589) - (5,362)
Deferred tax liabilities - {3,724) - {3,724)
Total ientifiable net assets $6,971 $4.786 £685 $12,442
Goodwill $4.509 $5.582 $389 $10.480

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

RCDS — During fiscal 2011, the Company closed its business operations in the state of New York,
Rockland Child Development Services, Inc. (“RCDS*) and recognized a pre-tax loss of $8.0 mitlion.
RCDS was acquired in December 2006 and, as a resulit of this closure, the Company no longer provides
services in New York. RCDS was included in the Human Services segment and the results of operations
are reported separately as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of operations and the
prior periods have been reclassifted. All assets and liabilities related to RCDS were disposed of as of
September 30, 2011. Loss from discontinued operations for fiscal 2011 included a $3.1 million write-off
of goodwill and a $2.8 million write-off of intangible assets.

REM Colorado — During fiscal 2010, the Company closed its business operations in the state of
Colorado (“REM Colorado™) and recognized a pre-tax loss of $3.0 million for fiscal 2010. REM
Colorado was included in the Human Services Segment and the results of operations are presented as
discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of operations and the prior periods have been
reclassified. Loss from discontinued operations for fiscal 2010 included a $2.5 million write-off of
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.

REM Maryland — Also during fiscal 2010, the Company closed certain business operations in the
state of Maryland (“REM Maryland™) and recognized a pre-tax loss of $5.2 million for fiscal 2010.

REM Maryland was included in the Human Services Segment and the results of operations are presented
as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of operations and the prior periods have been
reclassified. Loss from discontinued operations for fiscal 2010 included a $4.2 million write-off of
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment and goodwill. At September 30, 2010, therc was
$1.8 million of property and equipment held for sale which was immaterial to the Company and, as a
result, was not reported separately as assets held for sale in the Company’s financial statements.

REM Health — During fiscal 2009, the Company sold REM Health, Inc., REM Health of

Wisconsin, Inc., and REM Health of Towa, Inc. (logether, “REM Health™) and recognized a pre-tax loss
of $0.9 million. REM Health was included in the Human Services segment and the results of operations
were reported separately as discontinued opcrations for all periods presented. All assets and liabilitics
related to REM Health were disposed of as of September 30, 2009.




Other — During fiscal 2011, the Company closed its business operations in the states of Nebraska and
New Hampshire and recognized a pre-tax loss of $0.2 million for fiscal 2011. The results of operations
are reported separately as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of operations and the
prior periods have been reclassified,

Also, during fiscal 2009, the Company sold its business operattons in the state of Utah (“REM Utah™)
and recognized a pre-tax loss from discontinued operations of $1.4 million. REM Utah’s results of

operations were immaterial and, as a result, were not reported separately as discontinued operations.

The net revenue and loss before taxes for the Company’s discontinued operations at September 30:

{In thousands) 2011 2010 2009
Net revenue $ 6,653 $14,426 $37.756
Loss before taxes 8,221 8,993 4,591

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill — The changes in goodwill for the years ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

Post Acute
Specialty
Human Rehabilitation
{In thousands) Services Services Total
Balance as of September 30, 2009 $164,030 342,669 $206,699
Goodwill acquired through acquisitions 2,788 16,283 19,071
Goodwili written off related to disposal of
businesses (435) - 435
Adjustments to goodwiil — net 3,502 920 4,422
Balance as of September 30, 2010 169,885 59,872 229,757
Goodwill acquired through acquisitions 1,229 3,992 5,221
Goodwill written off related to disposal of
businesses (3,296) (469) (3,765)
Adjustments to goodwill — net 59 (257) (198)
Balance as of September 30, 2011 $167,877 $63.138 $231,015

The adjustments to goodwill in fiscal 2010 primarily included an adjustment of $3.3 million related to
the earn-out payment associated with the [FCS acquisition. The remaining adjustments in fiscal 2010
and fiscal 2011 relate 1o the finalization of the purchase price for acquisitions during the measurement
period.

During fiscal 2011, the Company wrote-off goodwill of underperforming programs which were closed
as of September 30, 2011. The total charge was $3.8 million and included $0.5 million in Post-Acute
Specialty Rehabilitation Services segment and $3.3 million in the Human Services scgment, $3.1 million
of which related to RCDS and is reported as discontinued operations. The remaining charges are
included in General and amortization expense in the consolidated statements of operations.
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Annual Goodwill Impairment Testing — The Company tests goodwill at least annually for possible
impairment, Accordingly, the Company completes the annual testing of impairment for goodwill on
July 1 of each fiscal year. In addition to its annual test, the Company regularly evaluates whether events
or circumstances have accurred that may indicate a potential impairment of these assets.

The process of testing goodwill for impairment involves the determination of the fair value of the
applicable reporting units. The test consists of a two-step process. The first step is the comparison of the
fair value to the carrying value of the reporting unit to determine if the carrying value excecds the fair
value. The second step measures the amount of an impairment loss. and is only performed if the carrying
value exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit. The Company performed its annual impairment testing
for its reporting units as of July 1, 2011, its annual impainment date, and concluded based on the first
step of the process that there was no goodwill impairment.

The Company has consistently employed the income approach to estimate the current fair value when
testing for impairment of goodwill. A number of significant assumptions and estimates are involved in
the application of the income approach to forecast operating cash flows, including revenue growth, tax
rates, capital spending, discount rate and working capital changes.

Cash flow forecasts are based on business unit operating plans and historical relationships. The income
approach is sensitive to changes in long-term terminal growth rates and the discount rate. The long-term
terminal growth rates are consistent with the Company's historical long-term terminal growth rates, as
the current economic trends are not expected to affect the long-term terminal growth rates of the
Company.

In fiscal 2011, the long-term terminal growth rates for the Company’s reporting units ranged from 2.0%
to 11.0%. The range for the discount rates for the reporting units was 10.0% to 11.5%. Keeping all other
variables constant, a 5% to 10% change in any one of the input assumptions for the various reporting
units would still allow the Company to conclude, based on the first step of the process, that there was no
impairment of goodwill.

Intangible Assets — Intangible assets consist of the following as of September 30, 2011 (in thousands):

Weighted
Average Gross

Remaining Carrying Accumulated Intangible
Description Life Value Amortization Assets — Net
Agency contracts i1 years $459,044 $138,105 $320,939
Non-compete/non-solicit 4 years 2,693 664 2,029
Relationship with contracted 11,118 - -

caregivers 5 years - 5,765 5353

Trade names 6 years 3,774 1,688 2,086
Trade names (Indefinite life) - 42,400 - 42,400
Licenses and permits 5 years 43.636 19,532 24,104
Intellectual property 5 years 904 301 603

$563,569 $ 166,055 $397,514
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Intangible assets consist of the following as of September 30, 2010 (in thousands):

Weighted
Average Gross

Remaining Carrying  Accumulated Intangible
Description Life Value Amortization Assets — Net
Agency contracts {2 years $465,679 $113,418 $352,261
Non-compete/non-solicit 5 years 1,044 403 641
Relationship with contracted

caregivers 6 vears 12,804 5,977 6,827

Trade names 7 years 4,039 1,463 2,576
Trade names - 47700 - 47,700
Licenses and permits 6 vears 42,713 15,693 27,020
Intelfectual property 6 years 904 172 732

$£574,883 $137,126 $437.757

For fiscal years ended 2011, 2010 and 2009, the amortization expensc for consisting operations was
$38.7 million, $33.6 million and $32.0 million, respectively, and the amortization expense for
discontinued operations was $1.0 million, $1.3 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

Annual Indefinite Life Impairment Testing — The Company tests indefinite-life intangible assets at least
annually for possible impairment. Accordingly, the Company completes the annual testing of
impairment for indefinite-life intangible assets on July | of each fiscal year. In addition to its annual test,
the Company regularly evaluates whether events or circumstances have occurred that may indicate a
potential impairment of these assets.

The Company has consistently employed the Relief from Royalty model to estimate the current fair
value when testing for impairment of indefinite-life intangible assets. The impairment test consists of a
comparison of the fair value of the non-amortizing intangible asset with its carrying amount. If the
carrying amount of an indefinite-life intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss in an
amount equal to that excess is recognized.

In addition, the Company evaluates the remaining useful life of its indefinite-fife intangible assets at
least annually to determine whether events or circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life.
If events or circumstances indicate that the useful lives of indefinite-life intangible assets are no longer
indefinite, the assets will be tested for impairment.

The Company performed its annual impairment testing as of July 1, 2011, its annual impairment date,
and concluded that its indefinite lived trade names were impaired by $5.3 million. The decline in the fair
value of the tradenames to below their book value is primarily the result of lower revenue growth
relative to the assumptions made in the prior fiscal year. This impairment charge is included in General
and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and is classified
as “Corporate” tn Note 18. The fair market value of these assets was determined using management’s
estimates about future cash flows, which is a Level 3 financial measurement.

Long Lived Impairment Testing — During the assessment of long-lived assets that was performed during
fiscal 2011, the Company determined that the carrying value of cerlain of its agency contracts, licenses
and permits in the Human Services and Post-Acute Specialty Rehabilitation Services segments exceeded
their fair value. As a result, the Company recorded an amount of these long-lived assets to their fair
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value as of September 30, 201 1. The total impairment $2.7 million charge primarily related to the write-
off of agency contracts of underperforming programs which were closed as of September 30, 2011. The
fair market value of these assets was determined using management’s estimates about future cash flows,
which is a Level 3 financial measurement. These impairment charges are incfuded in Depreciation and

amortization expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The estimated remaining amortization expense related to intangible assets with finite lives for each of

the five succeeding years and thereafter is as follows:

Year Ending
September 30
2012 $ 36,605
2013 36,579
2014 35,908
2015 34,065
2016 32,399
Thereafter 179,558
$35.114
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consists of the following at September 30 (in thousands):
2011 2010

Buildings and land $122,602 $114,926
Vehicles 35,915 32,263
Computer hardware 21,032 16,827
Leasehold improvements 19,856 15,012
Furniture and fixtures 8,949 0,011
Office and telecommunication equipment 7,640 6.601
Construction in progress 654 178

216,648 197,818
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (710,392) (55,706)
Property and equipment — net $ 146,256 $142,112

For fiscal years 2011, 2010 and 2009, depreciation expense for continuing operations was $23.2 million,
$22.8 million and $23.6 million, respectively, and depreciation expense for discontinued operations was

$0.1 million, $0.4 million and $0.6 million, respectively.

/11
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CERTAIN BALANCE SHEET ACCOUNTS

Prepaid Expenscs and Other Current Assets — Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of
the following at Scptember 30 (in thousands):

2011 2010
Prepaid business insurance $ 3,572 $ 3,184
Prepaid insurance 3,099 7.103
Other 3,298 4414
Prepaid expenses and other current assels $ 9969 $14,701

Other Accrued Liabilities — Other accrued liabilities consist of the following at September 30 (in
thousands):

2011 2010
Accrued insurance $14.074 $ 6,238
Accrued swap valuation liability 6,744 -
Due to third party payors 6,339 5,547
Income taxes payable - 9420
Contingent consideration - 6,353
Other 19,371 20,749
Other accrued liabilities $46,528 $48,307

221 -
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LONG-TERM DEBT

The Company's long-term debt consists of the following at September 30 (in thousands):

2011 2010

Term loan, principal and interest due in quarterly installments

through February 9, 2017 $ 527350 5 -
QOriginal issue discount on term loan, net of accumulated amortization (7.081) -
Senior notes, duc February 15, 2018, semi-annual cash interest payments

due each February Ist and August Tst (interest rate of 12.50%) 250,000 -
Original issue discount and initial purchase discount on senior

notes — net of accumulated amortization (10.227) -

Senior revolver, due February 9, 2016; quarterly cash interest

payments at a variable interest rate - -
Old senior term B loan, principal and interest were due in quarterly

installments through June 29, 2013 - 320,763
Old senior revolver, due June 29, 2012; quarterly cash interest payments

at a variable interest rate - -
Senior subordinated notes, due July 1, 2014; semi-annual cash interest

payments were due each Janvary Ist and July st {interest rate of 11.25%) - 180,000
Mortgage facility, principal and interest due in monthly installments

through June 29, 2012; variable interest rate (4.75% at September 30, 2010) - 3,703

760,042 504,466

Less current portion 5.300 3,667

Long-term debt 5 754,742 $ 500,799

At September 30, 2010, the Company had $504.5 million of indebtedness, consisting of $320.8 million
of indebtedness under the old senior secured term B loan facility, $180.0 million principal amount of the
11.25% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014 (the “senior subordinated notes™) and $3.7 million
outstanding under the mortgage facility. As of September 30, 2010, the Company did not have any
borrowings under the old senior revolving credit facility (the “old senior revolver™).

On February 9, 2011, the Company completed refinancing transactions, which included entering into
senior secured credit facilities (as discussed below) and issuing $250.0 million in aggregate principal
amount of 12.50% senior notes due 2018 (the “senior notes™).

In connection with the refinancing transactions, the old senior secured credit facilities and the mortgage
facility were repaid. Approximately $171.9 million of the senior subordinated notes were purchased on
February 9, 20t 1 pursuant to a tender offer and consent solicitation for the senior subordinated notes and
the remaining senior subordinated notes were redeemed prior to March 31, 2011.

The Company incurred $19.3 million of expenses related 1o the refinancing transactions including

(i) $10.8 muillion related to the tender premium and consent fees paid in connection with the repurchase
of the senior subordinated notes, (ii) $7.9 million related to the acceleration of financing costs related to
the prior indebtedness and (iii) $0.6 million related to transaction costs. These expenses are recorded on
the Company’s consolidated statements of operations as Extinguishment of debt.

VIR
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Senior Secured Credit Facilities — On February 9, 2011, the Company entered into new senior
secured credit facilities, consisting of a (1) six-year $530.0 million term loan facility (the “term loan™), of
which $50.0 million was deposited in a cash collateral account in support of issuance of letters of credit
under an institutional letter of credit facility (the “institutional letter of credit facility”) and a

(i1) $75.0 million five-year senior secured revolving credit facility (the “senior revolver”), The Company
refers to these facilities as the “senior secured credit facilities™,

Term Loan — The $530.0 million term loan was issued at a price equal to 98.5% of its face value and
amortizes one percent per year, paid quarterly, with the remaining balance payable at maturity. The
senior credit agreement also includes a provision for the prepayment of a portion of the outstanding term
loan amounts beginning in fiscal 2011 equal to an amount ranging from 0 to 50% of a calculated
amount, depending on the Company’s leverage ratio, if the Company generates certain levels of cash
flow. The Company was not required to make such a prepayment of its term loan during fiscal 2011.
The variable intercst rate on the term loan is equal to (i) a rate equal to the greater of (a) the prime rate,
(b) the federal funds rate plus 1/2 of 1% and (c) the Eurodollar rate for an interest period of one-month
beginning on such day plus 100 basis points, plus 4.25%; or {ii} the Eurodollar rate (provided that the
rate shall not be less than 1,75% per annum), plus 5.25%, at the Company’s option. At September 30,
2011, the variable interest rate on the term loan was 7.0%.

Senior Revolver — During fiscal 2011, the Company borrowed $30.6 million under the senior revolver
and repaid the entire amount during the year. At September 30, 2011, the Company had the full

$75.0 million of availability under the senior revolver and $35.9 million of standby letters of credit
issued under the institutional letter of credit facility primarily related to the Company’s workers’
compensation insurance coverage. Letters of credit can be issued under the Company’s institutional
letter of credit facility up to the $50.0 miilion limit and letters of credit in excess of that amount reduce
availability under the Company’s senior revolver. The interest rates for any borrowings under the senior
revolver are the same as the term loan.

Senior Notes — On February 9, 201 1, the Company issved $250.0 million of the senior notes at a price
equal to 97.737% of their face value, for net proceeds of $244.3 million. The net proceeds were reduced
by an initial purchasers’ discount of $5.6 million. The senior notes are the Company’s unsecured
obligations and are guaranteed by certain of the Company’s existing subsidiaries.

Covenants — The senior credit agrecment and the indenture governing the senior notes contain
negative financial and non-financial covenants, including, among other things, limitations on the
Company’s ability to incur additional debt, transfer or sell assets, pay dividends, redeem stock or make
other distributions or investments, and engage in certain transactions with affiliates. In addition, the
senior credit agrecment governing the Company’s senior secured credit facilities contamns financial
covenants that require the Company to maintain a specified consolidated leverage ratio and consolidated
interest coverage ratio commencing with the quarier ending September 30, 2011,

The Company is restricted from paying dividends to NMH Holdings, LLC (“Parent™) in excess of
$15.0 million, except for dividends used for the repurchase of equity from former officers and
employees and for the payment of management fecs, taxes, and certain other expenses.

Derivatives — The Company entered into an interest rate swap in a notional amount of $400.0 million
effective March 31, 2011 and ending September 30, 2014. The Company entered into this interest rate
swap to hedge the risk of changes in the floating rate of interest on borrowings under the term loan.
Under the terms of the swap, the Company receives from the counterparty a quarterly payment based on
a rate equal to the greater of 3-month LIBOR and 1.75% per annum, and the Company makes payments
to the counterparty based on a fixed rate of 2.5465% per annum, in each case on the notional amount of
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$400.0 million, scttled on a net payment basis. Based on the applicable margin of 5.25% under the

Company’s term loan, this swap effectively fixes the Company’s cost of borrowing for $400.0 million of

the term loan at 7.7965% per annum for the term of the swap.

The Company accounts for the interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge and the effectiveness of the hedge
relationship is assessed on a quarterly basis. The fair value of the swap agreement, representing the price
that would be patd to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, was
£6.7 million or $4.0 million after taxes at September 30, 2011. The fair value was recorded in current
liabilities (under Other accrued liabilities) and was determined based on pricing models and independent
formulas using current assumptions. The cntire change in fair market value is recorded in shareholder’s
equity, net of tax, on the consolidated balance sheets as accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Annual Maturities — Annual maturities of the Company’s debt for the years ended September 30 are
as follows.

Amounts due at any year end may increase as a result of the provision in the senior credit agreement that
requires a prepayment of a portion of the outstanding term loan amounts if the Company generates
certain levels of cash flow.

Years Ending

September 30

2012 $ 5,300
2013 5,300
2014 5,300
2015 5,300
2006 5,300
Thereafter 750,850
Total $777,350

SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

Common Stock -— The holders of the Company’s common stock are entitled to reccive dividends when
and as declarcd by the Company’s Board of Directors. In addition, the holders of common stock are
eatitled to one vote per share. All of the outstanding shares of common stock are held by Parent.

Dividend to Parent — On February 9, 2011, as part of the refinancing transactions described in note
10, the Company declared a dividend of $219.7 million 10 Parent, which in turn made a distribution of
$219.7 million to its direct parent, NMH Holdings, Inc. (“NMH Holdings™). NMH Holdings vsed the
proceeds of the distribution to (i) repurchase $210.9 million aggregate principal amount of the Senior
Floating Rate Toggle Notes due 2014 (the “NMH Holdings notes™) at a premium not including

$13.3 million principal amount of NMH Holdings notes the Company held as an investment and that
were also repurchased and (ii) pay related fees and expenses.

During fiscal 2009, the Company paid a $7.0 million dividend to Parent, which used the proceeds of the
dividend to make a distribution to NMH Holdings. NMH Holdings used the proceeds of the distribution
to repurchase $13.9 million in aggregate principal amount of the NMH Holdings notes.

Also, during fiscal 2009, the Company paid a dividend of $1.05 million to Parent, which used the

proceeds of the dividend to make a distribution to NMH Holdings, which in turn used the proceeds of
the distribution to pay a dividend of $1.05 million to NMH Investment. NMH Investment used the

-24 .
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proceeds of the dividend to make a contribution to its wholly-owned subsidiary ESB Holdings, LLLC,
which is an affiliate of the Company. ESB Holdings, in turn, used the proceeds to reimburse the
Company for certain expenses the Company had incurred on its behalf in connection with exploring a
strategic initiative,

EMPLOYEE SAVINGS AND RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company has a multi-company plan {the “Plan™) which covers all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
Under the Plan, employees may contribute a portion of their earnings, which are invested in mutual
funds of their choice. Afier January 1, the Company makes a matching contribution for the previous
calendar year on behalf of all participants employed on the last day of the year. This matching
contribution vests immediately. In addition, there is a profit sharing feature of the Plan, whereby, at the
discretion of management, an allocation may be made to all of the eligible employees in one or more of
its subsidiaries. Profit sharing contributions vest ratably over three years with forfeitures available to
cover plan costs and employer matches in future years. The Company made contributions of

$3.7 million, $4.6 mitlion and $3.8 million, for fiscal years 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The Company has the following two deferred compensation plans:

The National Mentor Holdings, LLC Executive Deferred Compensation Plan — The National Mentor
Holdings, LLC Executive Deferred Compensation Plan is an unfunded, nonqualified deferred
compensatton arrangement for senior management, in which the Company contributes to the executive’s
account a percentage of the executive’s base compensation, This contribution is made at the end of the
year for service rendered during the year. The Company contributed $0.5 million, $0.3 million and

$0.2 million for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The unfunded accrued liability was

$1.8 million as of September 30, 2011 and 2010 and was included in other long-term liabtlities on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

The National Mentor Holdings, LLC Executive Deferral Plan — The National Mentor Holdings, LLC
Executive Deferral Plan, available to highly compensated employees, is a plan tn which participants
contribute a percentage of salary and/or bonus earned during the year. Employees contributed

$1.0 million, $0.8 million and $0.9 million for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The accrued
liability related 1o this plan was $3.8 million and $3.6 million as of September 30, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, and was included in other long-term liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheels.

In connection with the National Mentor Holdings, LL.C Executive Deferral Plan, the Company
purchased Company Owned Life Insurance (“COLI”) policies on certain plan participants. The cash
surrender value of the COLI policies is designed to provide a source for funding the accrued liability.
The cash surrender value of the COLI policies was $3.4 million and $3.1 million as of September 30,
2011 and 2010, respectively, and was included in other assets on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheets.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Management Agreements — On June 29, 2006, the Company entered into a management agrecment
with Vestar Capital Partners V, L.P. (“Vestar”) relating to certain advisory and consulting services for
an annual management fee equal to the greater of (i) $850 thousand or (ii) an amount equal to 1.0% of
the Company’s consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and management
fee for cach fiscal year determined as set forth in the Company’s senior credit agreement,
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As part of the management agreement, the Company agreed to indemnify Vestar and its affiliates from
and against all losses, claims, damages and liabilities arising out of the performance by Vestar of its
services pursuant to the management agreement. The management agreement will terminate upon such
time that Vestar and its pariners and their respective affiliates hold, directly or indirectly in the
aggregate, less than 20% of the voting power of the outstanding voting stock of the Company.

This agreement was amended and restated effective February 9, 2011 to provide for the payment of
reasonable and customary fees to Vestar for services in connection with a sale of the Company, an initial
public offering by or involving NMH Investment or any of its subsidiarics or any extraordinary
acquisition by or involving NMH Investment or any of its subsidiaries; provided, that such fees shall
only be paid with the consent of the directors of the Company who are not affiliated with or employed
by Vestar, The Company expensed $1.3 million, $1.2 million and $1.1 million of management fees and
expenses for the years ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The accrued liability
related to the management agreement was $0.4 million at September 30, 2011 and 2010.

Consulting Agreement — During fiscal 2011 and 2010, the Company engaged Alvarez & Marsal
Healthcare Industry Group (“Alvarez & Marsal”) to provide certain transaction advisory and other
services. A Company director, Guy Sansone, is a Managing Director at Alvarez & Marsal and the head
of its Healthcare Industry Group. The engagement resulted in aggregate fees of $1.0 million for the year
cnded September 30, 201 1, and was approved by the Company’s Audit Committee. Mr. Sansone is not a
member of the Company’s Audit Committee and was not personally involved in the engagement.

The Company ecngaged Duff & Phelps, LLC as a financial advisor in connection with the refinancing
transactions described in note 10, including the repurchase of the NMH Holdings notes, and related
matters. According to public filings, Vestar owns 12.4% of the Class A common stock of Duff & Phelps
Corporation, the parent company of Duff & Phelps, LLC, and one of Vestar’s principals serves on the
Board of Directors of Duff & Phelps Corporation but was not personally involved in this engagement.
This engagement resulted in fees of approximately $0.2 million during the year ended September 30,
2011 and was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors, with the Vestar members abstaining from
voting.

Lease Agreements — The Company leases several offices, homes and other facilities from its
employees, or from relatives of employees, primarily in the states of California, Nevada and Minnesota,
which have various expiration dates extending out as far as July 2016. In connection with the acquisition
of NeuroRestorative in the second quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company entered into a lease of a
treatment facility in Arkansas with a former shareholder and executive who is providing consulting
services. The lease is an operating lease with an initial ten-year term, and the total expected minimum
lease commitment is $7.0 million.

Related party lease expensc was $3.7 million, $3.9 million and $2.6 million for the fiscal years ended
September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Investment in Related Party Debt Securities — During fiscal 2009, the Company purchased

$11.5 million in aggregate principal amount of the NMH Holdings notes for $6.6 million. The security
was classified as an available-for-sale debt security and recorded on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets as Investment in related party debt securities. Cash interest on the NMH Holdings notes
accrued at a rate per anntum, reset quarterly, equal to LIBOR plus 6.375%, and PIK Interest {defined
below) accrued at the cash interest rate plus 0.75%. NMH Holdings paid all of the interest on the NMH
Holdings notes entirely by increasing the principal amount of the NMH Holdings notes or issuing new
notes (“PIK Interest™).
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The carrying value of the asset increased after it was purchased as a result of the Company recording
(1) PIK Interest income and (ii) accretion of the purchase discount on the security. The Company’s
tnvestment in related-party debt securities was reflected on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets
at fair value with the unrealized holding gain recorded in accumulated other comprehensive (loss)
income,

In connection with the refinancing transactions on February 9, 2011, NMH Holdings repurchased the
NMH Holdings notes (which the Company purchased at a discount) from the Company at a premium,
As a result, the Company recorded a gain of 33.0 million which was recorded on the consolidated
statements of operations as Gain from available for sale investment security.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company measures and reports its financial assets and liabilities on the basis of fair value. Fair
value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a Lability (an exit
price} in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants on the measurement date.

A three-level hierarchy for disclosure has been established to show the extent and level of judgment
used to estimate fair value measurements, as follows:

Level ] — Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Significant other observable inputs (quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or
liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or
inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability).

Level 3 — Significant unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. These values are generally
determined using pricing models which utilize management estimates of market participant assumptions.

Valuation techniques for assets and liabilities measured using Level 3 inputs may include methodologies
such as the market approach, the income approach or the cost approach, and may use unobservable
inputs such as projections, estimates and management’s interpretation of current market data. These
unobservable inputs are only utilized to the extent that observable inputs are not available or cost-
effective to obtain.

A description of the valuation methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value as well as the
general classification of such instruments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy, is set forth below.

Assels and liabilities recorded at fair value at September 30, 2011 consist of {in thousands):

Quoted Significant Other  Significant

Market Observable Unobservable
Prices Inputs Inputs
Total {Level 1) {Level 2) {Level 3)

Interest rate swaps $(6.749) § - $(6,744) $ -




Assets and liabilitics recorded at fair value at September 30, 2010 consist of (in thousands):

Quoted  Significant Other  Significant

Market Observable Unobservable
Prices Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents $15,500 $15,500 i - h) -
Investment in related party
debt securities 10,599 - 10,599 -
Contingent consideration (3,041) - - (3,041)

Cash equivalents — Cash equivalents consist primarily of money market funds and the carrying value of
cash equivalents approximates fair value.

Investment in related parity debt securities — The fair value of the investment in related party debt
securities was recorded in long-term assets (under Investment in related party debt securities). The fair
value measurements consider observable market data that may include, among other data, credit ratings,
credit spreads, future interest rates and risk free rates of return.

Contingent consideration — The fair value of the contingent consideration associated with the fiscal
2010 acquisitions was determined based on unobservable inputs, namely management’s estimate of
expected performance based on current information.

Interest rate swap agreements — The fair value of the swap agreements was recorded in current
liabilities (under Other accrued liabilities). The fair value of these agreements was determined based on
pricing models and independent formulas using current assumptions that included swap terms, interest
rates and forward LIBOR curves and the Company’s credit risk.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for the liability
measured at fair value using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3).

Due to

Seller
Balance at September 30, 2010 $(3,041)
Increase related to new acquisitions (800)
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 479
Payment of contingent consideration 3,362

Balance at September 30, 2011 3 -
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At September 30, 2011, the carrying values of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and variable
rate debt approximated fair value. The carrying value and fair value of the Company’s fixed rate debt
instruments are set forth below (in thousands):

September 30, 2011 September 30, 2010
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Senior subordinated notes
(retired February 9, 2011) $ - $ - $ 180,000 $ 184,050
Senior notes (issued February 9, 2011) 239,773 228.750 - -

The Company estimated the fair value of the debt instruments using market quotes and calculations
based on current market rates available.

LEASES

Operating leases — The Company leases office and client residential facilities, vehicles and certain
office equipment in several locations under operating lease arrangements, which cxpirc al various dates
through 2026. In.addition to base rents presented below, the majority of the leases require payments for
additional expenses such as taxes, maintenance and uttlities. Certain of the leases contain renewal
options at the Company’s option and some have escalation clauses which are recognized as rent expense
on a straight line basis. Total rent expense for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $48.0 million,

$44.3 million and $39.9 million, respectively.

In fiscal 1995, the Company entered into an initial five year operating lease agreement for its corporate
office with a total expected minimum lease commitment of $2.4 million. The lease has been cxtended
and amended through eleven amendments, and as of September 30, 2011, the Company had total
expected minimum lease commitments of approximately $9.2 million over the lease term. The lease
expires in 2017 and the Company has the option to extend the lease term. Total rent expense related to
this lease was $1.5 million, $1.4 million and $1.4 million for fiscal years 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.

Future minimum lease payments for noncancelable operating leases for the fiscal years ending
September 30. are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending

September 30

2012 $ 38,811
2013 29,986
2014 24,096
2015 18.437
2016 12,220
Thereafter 21,454

$ 145,004
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Capital leases — The Company leascs certain facilities and vehicles under various non-cancellable
capital leases that expire at various dates through fiscal 2025. Assets acquired under capital leases with
an original cost of $7.1 million and $2.0 million and related accumulated amortization of $0.7 million
and $0.5 million are included in property and equipment, net for fiscal 2011 and 2010, respectively.
Amortization expense for fiscal years 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $0.4 million, $0.2 million and

$0.3 million, respectively.

The following is a schedule of the future minimum lease payments under the capital leases al
September 30 (in thousands):

Years Ending

September 30

2012 $ 312
2013 331
2014 351
2015 374
2016 398
Thereafter 5,008
Total minimum lease payments $6,774

Interest expense on capital leases during fiscal years 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $0.6 million, $0.2 million
and $0.1 million, respectively.

ACCRUALS FOR SELF-INSURANCE AND OTHER COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENCIES

The Company maintains insurance for professional and general liability, workers’ compensation
liability, automobile liability and health insurance liabilities that include self-insured retentions, The
Company intends to maintain such coverage in the future and is of the opinion that its insurance
coverage is adequate to cover potential losses on asserted claims, Employment practices liability is fully
self-insured.

From October 1, 2010 through September 30. 2011, the Company was self-insured for $2.0 million per
claim and $8.0 million in the aggregate. and for $500 thousand per claim in excess of the aggregate. In
connection with the Merger on June 29, 2006, subject to the $1.0 million per claim and up to

$2.0 million in the aggregate retentions, the Company purchased additional insurance for certain claims
relating to pre-Merger periods. For workers' compensation, the Company has a $350 thousand per claim
retention with statutory limits. Automobile liability has a $100 thousand per claim retention, with
additional insurance coverage above the retention. The Company purchases specific stop loss insurance
as protection against extraordinary claims liability for health insurance claims. Stop loss insurance
covers claims that exceed $300 thousand on a per member basis.

The Company is in the health and human services business and, therefore, has been and continues to be
subject to substantial claims alleging that the Company, its employees or its independently contracted
host-home caregivers (“Mentors™) failed to provide proper care for a client. The Company is also subject
to claims by its clients, its employees, its Mentors or community members against the Company for
negligence, infentional misconduct or violation of applicable laws. Included in the Company’s recent
claims are claims alleging personal injury, assault, battery, abuse, wrongful death and other charges.
Regulatory agencies may initiate administrative proceedings alleging that the Company’s programs,
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employees or agents violate statutes and regulations and seek to impose monetary penalties on the

Company. The Company could be required to incur significant costs to respond to regulatory

mvestigations or defend against civil Jawsuits and, if the Company does not prevail, the Company could
be required 1o pay substantial amounts of money in damages, settlement amounts or penalties arising

from these Icgal proceedings.

The Company reserves for costs related to contingencies when a loss 1s probable and the amount is
reasonably estimable. While the Company believes the provision for legal contingencies is adequate, the
outcome of the legal proceedings is difficult to predict and the Company may settle legal claims or be

subject to judgments for amounts that differ from the Company’s estimates.

INCOME TAXES

The benefit for income taxes consists of the following at September 30: (in thousands)

2011 2010 2009
Current:
Federal $ 435 $ 8310 $ 2,265
State [,349 2,726 1,524
Total current taxes payable 1,788 11,036 3.789
Net deferred tax benefit (16,215) (11,241)  (4,905)
Income tax benefit $(14,427) $ (205) §(l1.116)

The Company paid income taxcs during fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 of $1.6 million, $1.5 million and

$0.8 million, respectively.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount
of the assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax
purposes. Significant components of the Company’s defcrred tax asscts and liabilities at September 30
are as follows (in thousands}:

2011 2010
Deferred compensation $ 846 3 347
Interest rate swap agreements 2,726 -
Accrued workers’ compensation 11,481 9,744
Net operating loss carryforwards 11,384 5,425
Allowance for bad debts 2,650 2,246
Other 3,122 2.608
32,209 20,870
Valuation allowance (6,397) (5,356)
Deferred tax assets 25,812 15,514
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation (13,985) (13.212)
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets (101,259) (112,950)
Other accrued liabilities (678) (2,103)
Net deferred tax liabilities § (90,110) §(112,751)

The Company is required to record a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets if, based on
the weight of the evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets
will not be realized. After consideration of all the evidence, both positive and negative, management
determined that a valuation allowance at September 3¢, 2011 and 2010 of $6.4 millien and $5.4 miliion,
respectively, was necessary to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amount that will more likely than not
be realized. The valuation allowance primarily related to certain state net operating loss carryforwards.

For federal purposes, the Company had $13.5 million of net operating loss carryforwards for fiscal 2011,
For state purposes, the Company had $136.3 million of net operating loss carryforwards for {iscal 2011,
which expire from 2012 through 2031 and $107.2 million of net operating loss carryforwards for fiscal
2010, which expire from 2011 through 2030.
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The following is a reconciliation between the statutory and effective income tax rates at September 30
(in thousands):

2011 20190 2009

Federal income tax at statutory rate 350% 350% 350%
State income laxes, net of federal tax benefit 22 (20.8) (16.0)
Nondeductible comp (3.2) (49.9) (25.7)
Other nondeductible expenses (1.4) (9.6) 4.7
Credits 0.6 100.5 37.9
Unrecognized tax benefit 0.] 0.6 8.2
Other (0.2) (43.0) (4.5)
Effcctive tax rate 33.1% 12.8% 302 %

Companies may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not
that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical
merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position
should be measured based on the iargest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being
realized upon uvltimate settlement.

As of September 30, 2011 and September 30, 2010, there was $4.9 million in total unrecognized tax
benefits, which if recognized, would favorably impact the Company’s effective tax rate. The Company
recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense
which is consistent with the recognition of these items in prior reporting periods. As of September 30,
2011 and September 30, 2010, the Company had accrued a total of $2.3 million and $1.8 million in
interest and penalties, respectively, recorded under other accrued liabilities.

A reconctliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in
thousands):

Balance at September 30, 2009 54,965
Reduction due to lapse of statute of limitation _@n

Balance at September 30, 2010 4,918
Reduction due to lapse of statute of limitation __ (61

Balance at September 30, 2011 $4.857

The Company does not expect any significant changes to unrecognized tax benefits within the next
twelve months.

The Company files a federal consolidated return with NMH Holdings, Inc. and files various state income
tax returns and, generally, the Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations by the taxing
authorities for years prior to Scptember 30, 2003. The Company believes that it has appropriate support
for the income tax positions taken and to be taken on the Company’s income tax returns. In addition, the
Company believes its accruals for income tax liabilities are adequate for all open years based on an
assessment of many factors including past experience and interpretations of the tax laws as applicd to
the facts of each matter.
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18. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company has two reportable segments, Human Services and Post-Acute Specialty Rehabilitation
Services (“SRS™).

The Human Services segment delivers home and community-based human services to adults and
children with intellectual and/or developmental disabilities and to youth with emotional, behavioral
and/or medically complex challenges. Human Services is organized in a reporting structure composed of
two operating segments which are aggregated into one reportable segment based on similarity of the
economic characteristics and services provided.

The SRS segment delivers health care and community-based health and human services to individuals
who have suffered acquired brain, spinal injuries and other catastrophic injuries and illnesses. This
segment is organized in a reporting structure composed of two operating segments which are aggregated
based on similarity of economic characteristics and services provided.

Activities classified as “Corporate™ in the table below relate primarily to unallocated home office items.

The Company generally cvaluates the performance of its operating segments based on income from
operations. The following is a financial summary by reportable operating segment for the periods
indicated (in thousands).

Post Acute
Specialty
Human Rehabilitatlon

For the Year Ended September 30, Services Services Corporate  Consolidated
2011
Net revenue $895.134 £175,476 P - $1,070.610
Income {loss) {rom operations 77.885 18,434 (61,158) 35161
Total assets 784,643 168.780 60,425 1,010,850
Depreciation and amortization 44 641 13,374 3.886 61.9M
Purchases of propeniy and equipment 12.495 6.909 1,474 20,878
Income (loss) from continuing operations before

income taxcs 17,549 7.012 (68.502) (43,54 1)
2010
Nel revenuc $874,528 $136.941 5 - $1.011.469
Income (loss} from operations 80,801 15.356 (51.488) 44,669
Total assets 807,031 155115 53,735 1,015 885
Depreciation and amortization 42318 9.366 4,729 56413
Purchases of property and equipment 11,886 7.007 1.980 20,873
Income (loss) from continuing operations before

income taxes 38.876 9.378 (49.862) {1.608)
2009
Net revenue $861,030 $ 06,495 L $ 957,525
Income (loss) from operations 74,828 12.805 (42.812) 44,821
Depreciation and amortization 44,667 6,627 4304 55.598
Purchases of property and equipment 12,966 8,505 5.927 27,398
Income (loss) from continuing operations before

income taxes 29,530 8,524 {41,741} (3,687}
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19.

Revenue from contracts with state and local governmental pavors in the state of Minnesota, the
Company’s largest state, which is included in the Human Services segment, accounted for 15%, 16%
and 16% of the Company’s net revenue for fiscal 201!, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Under its equity-based compensation plan adopted in 2006, NMIH Investment previously issued units of
limited liability company interests consisting of Class B Units, Class C Units, Class D Units and Class E
Units to the Company’s employees and members of the Board of Directors as incentive compensation.
As of September 30, 2011, there were 192,500 Class B Units, 202,000 Class C Units, 388,881 Class D
Units and 6,375 Class E Units authorized for issuance under the plan. These units derive their value
from the value of the Company.

On June 15, 2011, NMH Investment issued the Class F Units, a new class of non-voting common equity
units of NMH Investment, as incentive compensation. Up to 5,396,388 Class IF Common Units may be
issued under the 2006 Unit Plan to management of the Company as equity-based compensation. In
addition, the terms of the Class B, C and I Common Units were amended to accelerate the vesting of
any outstanding unvested Class B, C and D Common Units so that they became 100% vested.

For participants who have been continuously employed by the Company since December 31, 2008, 75%
of the Class F Common Units vested upon grant and 25% of the Class F Common Units will vest on the
date that is 18 months following the date of grant if the participant continues to be employed by the
Company on that date. For participants who have not been continuously employed by the Company
since December 31, 2008, 50% of the Class F Common Units vested upon grant, 25% of the Class F
Common Units vest on the date that is 18 months following the date of grant and 25% of the Class F
Common Units vest on the date that is 36 months following the date of grant, in each case, if the
participant continues to be employed by the Company on that date. Class F Common Units that are
awarded after the initial issuances approved on May 10, 2011 will vest in three equal tranches on each of
the first three anniversaries of the date on which such Class F Common Units are awarded.

For purposes of determining the compensation expense associated with these grants, management valued
the business enterprise using a variety of widely accepted valuation techniques which considered a
number of factors such as the financial performance of the Company, the values of comparable
companies and the lack of marketability of the Company’s equity. The Company then used the option
pricing method to determine the fair value of the units granted.

The fair value of the units issued during fiscal years 2011. 2010 and 2009 was calculated using the
following assumptions:

FY2011 FY2010 FY2008

Risk-frce interest rate 068% 067% 127%
Expected term 3 years 1.7years 3.5years
Expected volatility 500% 55.0% 40,0 %

The estimated fair value of the units, less an assumed forfeiture rate of 9.7%, was recognized as expense
in the Company’s consolidated financial statements on a straight-line basis over the requisite service
periods of the awards. The assumed forfeiture rate is based on an average of the Company’s historical
forfeiture rates, which the Company estimates is indicative of future forfeitures.
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20.

The Company recorded $3.7 million, $0.7 million and $1.3 million of stock-based compensation

expense for fiscal years 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Stock-based compensation expense is
included in General and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations. The
summary of activity under the plan is presented below:

Weighted
Average
Units Grant-Date
Qutstanding  Fair Value
Nonvesied balance at September 30, 2010 103,065 $3.87
Granted 4,279,546 1.02
Forfeited (14,983) 7.50
Vested (3.435,620) 1.09
Nonvested balance at Seplember 30 , 2011 932,008 1.02

As of September 30 2011, there was $0.8 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to
the units. These costs are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.6 years.

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

The following table summarizes information about the allowances for doubtful accounts and sales
allowances for the years ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):

Balance at Balance at

Beginning End of

of Period Provision Write-Offs Period
Year ended September 30, 2011 $7225 $11,670 $(10,938) $7.957
Year ended September 30, 2010 5,896 12,458 (11,129) 7,225
Year ended September 30, 2009 5,057 14,712 (10,873) 5,896
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21. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following table presents consolidated statement of operations data for each of the eight quarters in
the period which began October |, 2009 and ended September 30, 2011. This information 1s derived
from the Company’s unaudited financial statements, which in the opinion of management contain all
adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of such financial data. Operating results for these periods
are not necessarily indicative of the operating results for a full year. Historical results are not necessarily
indicative of the results to be expected in future periods.

For the Quarters Ended (1}

December 31, March 31, June 30, Septernber 30, December 31, March 31, Juna 30, September 30,
2009 2010 2010 2010 2010 b1k B ] 201 2011
Net revenue $247 454 $248,539 §$257,008 $258 448 5264474 £264 960 $269,701 $271,466

{L.oss} income from

continuing operations,

net of tax $ {n 5 (363} 5 fR4 £ {1,693) $ 1722 $(12.214) $ (8,265) $(10,357)
{Loss) income from

discontinued operatinns,

net of tax (29) {4,293) (1,363) 221 44 {843) {68) (4,161)
Net loss S (40) 8 (4656) 5 (699 S (1472) S 1766  ${13,057) 5 (8333)  $(14,51%)

(1) The Company sold s home health business, closed certain busmess operations in the state of Maryland and closed its business operations
in the states of Colorado, Nebraska, New Hampshire and New York. All fiscal years presented reflect the classification of these
businesses as discontinued eperations,

22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to year end, the Company acquircd three companics complementary to its business.
Aggregate consideration for these acquisitions was $3.2 million.

* Xk x k ok
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SUPPLEMENTAL CONSOLIDATING INFORMATION

-38 -

/29




ICiT)

(ENT PORTION

¢ |

National
Mentor
Services, LLC

Mational
Mentor

$ a1 $ sl
560 -

42,473 51,451
3,619 21,286
503 684
47,896 73472
95,471 26.052
127,502 130,309
816 3,002
81,278 1,269
£352,963 $234,194
$ 7,505 $ 7477
310,383 212,229
6,635 1997
4,722 11,71

. 312
329,245 239,726
1,901 1,340

; 6462
80,630 14,821
(58,813) (28.155)
21,817 (13,334)

First Step
Indepandent
Healthcare, LLC Llving Pregram, Inc.

203
63
3,562

Horrlgan South
Cole illinois Massachusetts Mentor Ohio Carolina
Enterprises, Inc. Mentor, Inc.  Mentor, Inc. ABY, LLC  Mentor, inc. Mentor, Inc.
$ 5 3 1 5 - b 23 $ 1 5 3
- 6
2,106 2,780 2217 300601 326 2,609
- 25,699 - - 11,703 -
3 7 20 2068 6 3
2,114 28487 2,237 30,898 12,036 2,617
G40 263 300 18,530 66 551
1,001 10,013 2,040 65,720 1,044 4223
- - - 13,789 - -
114 15 13 2395 3 67
$ 4,189 $38.778 5 4,652 §131,336 $13,151 57458
% 63 $ 173 $ 570 $ 2.020 ¥ 27 $ 302
17.982 19.218 83,345 2.911
727 122 281 1,386 58 365
72 57 668 2,842 20 32
18,846 354 20,737 £9,593 105 3,630
43 93 12 1,182 4 i8]
3,757 6,574 3,539 10.893 4,468 3,768
(tR.477) 31,757 (19,636) 29.668 8,374 (5
_(14.720) 38,331 (16,097) 40,561 13,042 3,763
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Care Cornerstone
1 Arizona California Meridian, Llving
Mentor Mentor LLC. Skills, Inc.
s 2 5 ] 5 10 s -
3,450 4,115 11,139 233
6 150 230 8
3458 4,271 11,379 241
6,503 7458 2909 153
0,012 3,963 19,468 642
- - 1424 -
125 123 265 8
530,058 5 1582 §37,4d35 1,004
§ 324 5 839 5 1450 5 9
31,873 2738 25491 1935
634 974 1,361 155
57 kLY 1,502 104
- 32 - .
32,908 29,792 29 504 2,203
i 122 873 4
- 6,462 - -
2512 (14,089) -
Sm—
k__‘:J (5,793} (6,467) H,768 (1,163)
(2,881) (20,556} 6,768 {1,163)

Institite

of Family
Indiana Cantered
Defawars  Flosida Georgia Indiana  Supporied Services, Louisiana
Menior Mentor Mentor Mentor Living Ine, Mentor
5 - M 13 b 4 5 2 5 - 3 5 s -
409 6,307 1,366 99 428 3,070 346
. . - 1,324 - 200 -
- 60 31 4 2 58 3
409 6,389 1,401 2,309 430 3,333 344
94 2976 346 3 86 367 66
38 2,035 13,355 1,213 (192) 6,308 66
15 228 52 - - 75 B
$556 5 11.631 $15,154 $3,530 5 324 510,083 5489
s 7 L I £ 2 $ 435 5 39 5 30 5 99 5 8¢9
355 V7,353 16,739 - 3495 9973 421
49 1,816 169 [ 155 651 6
37 4,586 109 3 1 90 3
448 24,789 17,452 76 1641 10,818 53
14 53 | - 2 2
- 1,878 2417 643 - - -
94 (15.089) (4,711 2,811 {3,357} (737) (32)
94 (3211 {2,295) 3454 (3,337 (737} (52}

Rockland
Child

Loyds Murttor Mew New North Developm#nt Rhods
Liberty Maryland, Hampshire Jersay Carolina  Qktzhoma Pennsytvanla Services, Island
Homes, Int. e, Mentor Mentar Mentor Mantor Mentor Inc. Mantor

$ 2 s - 5 - 3 1 5 4 s - 5 - 5 - 5 -
9350 2,219 {1 3778 EX T 4,209 870 785

- 9,118 7541 - - - -
El (2 28 32 3 3 14 16
61 11,337 {3 11,348 3221 3 4212 584 E01
265 218 - 678 466 - 1,585 1 35
4,348 ERTH] - 20,771 2,006 - 6,612 - 2,238

- - - - - (332) -
g 49 1 49 52 - 79 23 18
$ 5,582 §20,705 5 (2 332,846 § 12,745 - 3 $13,156 5 908 33,092
5 62 5 498 5 - 5 28 5 583 S - s 439 s 32 5 128
8,582 555 31,952 4219 7,238 B.639 2,729
192 117 (3 287 403 - 429 156 32
597 345 1,33 597 58% 483 20
9433 960 550 2,436 33,037 4,210 5,694 3310 2902
12 | 0 25 - 35 15
5,469 3909 - 4,845 (12,336) 852 7,221 - 286
(9,31 i5 R3S (552) 25,536 {71,931} {5,059} {2,794) {8.402) 1135
(3.863) 15 744 (552) 30381 20217 4,207y 4,427 (8,402} 171




Famity Family
Advocay  Advocay REM
Swrvices, Services, Connecticin REM REN
LLC - LLC - REM REM Community REM REM REM REM REM REM REM Narth REM REM Wes
dba FAS dbe FAS Missouri Mebraska MENTOR  Colorado, Community  Services, Health, Indians, lowa, Maryiand, Minnesota, Neovada, HNew Jersey, Dakota, Ohie, Utah, Virgin
Maryland  Virginia Mentor Mantor Oregon Ine. Options, LLE Inc. Ine. Inc. Ing. ine, Inc. Ine, fnc. ine. inc. Int. LLC
$ 6 5- $ - 5 - s - - 5 1 5 - 5 - 5 9 § 5 - 5 k4 S - 5 g 1 3 4 5 - 5 -
£60
1,006 510 596 - 1,338 5,100 1,579 - 2110 2,102 (63) 12,945 480 1,107 1,694 5,541 - 1,38
LL] 12 - 29 2 52 24 - 32 12 12 K1k 45 26 46 132 - ) 2
1,060 510 609 - 2,227 2 6,153 1,663 - 2,151 2,114 (50) 13,272 525 1,133 1,741 5,677 - 141
.11 42 a4 - 1,063 - ik A7 - 6,622 5,127 1,550 50 B25 2,557 1,891 2,468 3,864 - 213
7,392 3,714 - - 3198 - 3,821 2215 - 6,053 2874 - 58,592 1,600 3,942 1,745 16,10 7.26
. - - - - - - - - 1,324 - - - - -
24 10 2 - 75 k4 i8 46 - 13 20 5 352 3z 10 3 53 - -
$ 8564 $4,296 5 675 5 5 6.563 11 5 10965 § 7,508 5 - £14.839 510,015 5 1,504 5133415 54,714 5 6,976 § 5977 525,695 5 - 510,81
s 17 $ 8 3 197 £ - § 238 - 5 2918 5 137 ¥ - 5 1,041 5 24 5 1 $ 1,153 5 57 5 49 5 269 $ 657 $ 3 L b
13,443 4,686 1,026 1.212 9,540 4,040 18,845 6,630 7280 13,379 14,906 6976 58,285 6,699 7,068 5,934 22,614 1,428 1.4%
75 12 59 n 109 - Pl 247 - 136 598 - 1,507 46 &5 1.692 a96 - 9,
EL 18 20 - 32 - 3 620 - Y 254 172 1,434 11 98 977 pasi 9 -
13,674 A812 1,302 1,311 10,205 4,040 22 54D 7,634 7,280 i4,847 15972 714y 62,370 4813 7,300 8,872 24,266 1,440 17
39 | - 45 - ] 11 82 1 - 64 | 1.574 10 - -
ORTION - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- . - - - 1,108 280 1,059 {955) 7,298 2,236 858 44,004 1,046 246 1,366 4,646 385 3,23
T
QJ\) {5,149) {516} {628} (1,21 (3,687 {5,137} (11,863} {1,199} (6,325} (7,388} {8,074}y _[6,503) 24 568 [3,146% {2,144) (4,261) (3,220 (1,825) 58
?\J {5,149 (5163 [628) (1,211 (3.687) (4,029} (1,580 (140 (7.280) (90} (5,838} (5,645 10572 (2,100} (1.898)  _(2.895) 1,419 (1,440} 5,100
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ERATIONS

¥ EXPENSE SHOWN SEPARATELY BELOW)

BEFORE INCOME TAX

TAX

el

National
Mentor

National
Mentor

$451.710 $419.960
361,757 321,193
25,165 36,93
21,872 21.871
22345 19,954
69,382 78,756
20,571 20,011
(536) (496)
{757 (628)
9 9
(29,561) 12{33m
(10,274) (8,434)
(3,369) (2,864)
(6,909) (5,570)
(149) (4.884)

$ (7.053) 5 (10,454)

First Step
independent
Services, LLC  Healthcare, LLC Living Program, inc. Enterprises, Inc. Mentor, Ing,

$3.360

2,896

——

10
460
380

850

(386)

Horrigan Soutl
Cole Blinois Massachusetts Mentor Ohio Carolit
Mentor, Inc. ABI, LLC Mentor, Inc.  Mentor,
$20,311 £15,087 $24,971 $113.519 $3,703 $1542
17,644 8921 20,363 79,913 1,368 15,45:
L3 1456 2,214 12,628 364 1,33
2,476 1.011 1,470 4812 147 §,02
567 2,882 456 10,784 195 71
3,158 5,349 4,140 28,224 706 307
49 817 468 5,382 1,629 90
(25) (1N (3N (128} {3 (2.
(28) {20} {48) {300) {3 (3

1 - I 2 - -
(1,387 (955) {1,647) (7.013) {139 {124
{1,930 (175) {1,257 2.057) 1,484 (4
657 I Y)] {428) (700} 505 {13!
{1,273) (113) (829 (1,357) Q19 (26
$(1.273) $ {I15) $ (829) 3 (1,357 $ 979 $ (26




{amounts in thousands)

FY11 cash temporarily impacted by billing system conversion

NMH, Inc.  NMH, inc. NMH, inc.  NMH, Inc.
Mational Mentor Holdings, Inc. - Parent FY09 FY10 FY11 FY14
Cash and cash equivalents 23,837 26635 263 25,236
note: majority of cash “swept’ dally and held by Central Qffice
FY11 cash temporarly Impacted by billing system conversion
Asseots
Current assets FY09 F¥10 FY41 FY14
Cash and cash equivalents 6§33 111 23 35
Restricted cash 3 - <] a9
Accounts receivable, nat of allowance 13,376 22,360 30,801 48,820
Deferred tax assets, net 4 u] o 0
Intercompany receivables - - - -
Prapaid expenses and gther current assets 354 153 268 410
Total current asacts 14,366 22,653 30,898 47,274
Property and eguipment, net 12,829 17,509 18,530 28,351
Intangibke assets, net 47 (40 68,456 65,720 100,552
Goodwill 1,672 8,587 13,789 14,478
Other assets 681 1,272 2,395 3 670
Total assets 76,588 118,477 131,336 194,325
Liabilities and sharohotdor's (deficit) equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 1,148 1,738 2,020 3,081
Intercompany payables 32,099 70,418 083,345 127 518
Accrued payroll and related costs 802 1,600 1,386 2121
Other accrued liabilitiss 859 2013 2,842 4,348
Cbligations under capltal lease, current 14 30 - -
Current portion of long-term debt a 0 0 1]
Total current liahilitles 34,922 75,799 89,553 137,077
Other kong-term liabilities 1,147 1,183 1,182 1,808
Deferred tax Fabilities, net i 4] a o]
Obligations under capital lease, less current portion & 12 - -
Long-term debt, Yess cumeni portion | 1] a [
Commitmants and contingencies o 9 4] ]
Sharehoider's {deficlt) equity
Common stock 0 0 o 0
Parent Company Equity 0 o - .
Additional paid-in capital 10,892 10,893 10,893 10,893
Accumulated other comprehensive toss, net of tax 0 v} 1] 0
{Accumulated deficil) relained earnings 29,621 30,5580 {29,636) 46,355
Total sharehelder's {deficit] equity 40,513 41,483 {18,743} £7,248
Total habilities and sharoholder's {deficit) equity 76,568 118,477 131,336 194,325

HMH, Inc. NMH, Inc. NMH, Inc. NMH, Inc.
NMH Holdings, Inc. - Parent  Fros FY10 FY11 FY14
Days Cash on Hand 10.6 113 0.1 8.9
Cperating Expanse 879,195 920,792 973,548 4,104.950
Depreciation Expensa 57,770 57.633 61,901 69,160
Op Exg minus Depreciation 821,425 863,159 911647 1035791
Dvided by 365 2,250 2,365 2,498 2,838
F¥09 FY10 FY11 FYt4
Curraont Ratlo .2 1.6 1.6 1.6
Met Margin 4.3% 1.2% -1.2% 4.2%
Debt to Capitalization no long term debt
Debt Service Covarage na long term debt
Cushion Ratia no lonyg term debt
MNMH, Inc, NMH, Inc. NMH, Inc. NMH, Inc.
NMH Hoidings, Inc. - Parent FY08 FY10 FY11 FY1a
Cosl of revanues 745576 779,977 629,032 919,304
General and administralive 133,619 140,815 144 516 170,686
Depreciation and amortization 57,770 57,633 61,901 59,160
FYO3 FY10 FY11 FY14
Net revenues 54,014 83,929 113,513 124,871
Cost of revenues 34,184 56,301 79,813 BY. 904
Gross profit 19,830 27.628 33,606 315,967
Operating expensos:
General and administrative 7,178 11,700 12,628 13,259
G&A -Centrat support allocation 2,235 3,660 4,812 5053

Stock Qption settiemant
Transaction costs

10,784

!

Depreciation and amortization 7077 11,323
Total aperating expenses 14,092 22,437 28,224 29,615
Income (loss) from operations 5738 5,191 5,382 7,331
Other income {oxponse):
Management fee of refaled party {54) [88) [128) (141)
Other {expense) income, net (29) 1 (300) {330)
Interest income 9 3 2 2
Interest expense (2,245) {3,503) (7,013) (4,254)
Incame from continuing ops before income tax 3,419 1,616 {2,057) 2,609
Provisian {benefit) for income taxes 1,108 621 {700} 770}
[Loss) income from continuing operationa 2,310 995 {1,357) 1,639
Loss from discontinued operations 0 0 ] -
Net (loss} Income 2,310 995 (1,357} 1.839
Caleulation of Financial Viahility Ratios
FY09 FY10 FY11 FY14
Current Ratis 76,588 118,477 134,336 194,325
34,922 75,799 89,593 137,077
Net Margin 2,310 995 {1,357} 1,83%
54,014 83,929 113,519 78,672
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COST AND GROSS SQUARE FEET BY DEPARTMENT OR SERVICE

A | B c | D E | F G H
Department / Project CostiSquare Foot Gross Sq. Ft. Gross Sq. Ft. Const. $ Mod. $ Total Cost
New Mod. New New Cire.* Mod. Circ." {A x C} (B x E} (G + H)
NR - Palatine* Thlamrs | § 49.79 | FARRGRE | PRERNS 3,615 e I | $ 180,000 | $ 180,000
Contingency anEsE  § 7.73 [GusamE) | aEvEE e wispexss ;.| $ 18,000 | % 18,000
TOTALS [~eiay| § 57.52 |Fdwed s | MR- 3,615 s, | $ 198,000 | $ 198,000
* Community-based Residential Rehabilitation Center
WL
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REASONABLENESS OF FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS

1) The letter is to attest that all estimated project and related costs will be funded in
total cash and equivalents through Center for Comprehensive Services, Inc and
MENTOR ABI, LLC

Sincerely,

Che 0o

Chris Williamson, MS

VP of Central Region

/%//%

Nota r| ~OFFICIAL senL

David 1. McCab
state of Illlnols
Notary Pubucém e 6.11-2012

vossuAod
2u02-11-9 5B o seoN
siouml JO s "M
gedw 't oined

-'Na S ‘[mid 50-
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NR - Palatine
FIRST FULL YEAR OF OPERATION

PROJECTED OPERATING COSTS

Bed capacity
Placements:

6
5.5

Patient Days

2,008

Direct salary and benefits
Supplies
TOTAL

1,019,673
41,226

1,060,899

Operating cost per patient day

$ 528.47

(Direct salary, benefits and supplies, only)
PROJECTED CAPITAL COSTS

Interest expense
Depreciation and Amortization
TOTAL

Facility capital cost per day
Project capital cost per patient day

8,320

34,667

42,987

$ 117.77
$ 2141

* for inpatient/residential units, unadjusted patient days are used
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SAFETY NET IMPACT STATEMENT

Community —based residential rehabilitation centers do not provide acute care services.,
The proposed facility, however, will be Center for Comprehensive Services, Inc., second
group home.

The co-applicants operate two of illincis IDPH-licensed community-based residential
rehabilitation center, Center for Comprehensive Services-Carbondale and Center for
Comprehensive Services-Des Plaines. Identified below is the amount of Medicaid
services provided by those facilities, during each of the last three fiscal years:

FY2011 18,946,351
FY2010 18,010,234
FY2009 16,910,246
Medicaid services increased by nearly 12% over the past two years.

Center for Comprehensive Services, Inc does have a mechanism to track Charity Care.
The amounts over the following years are FY11 $298,175, FY10 $295,586, and FY09
$97,790. These amounts reflect care provided to individuals unable to pay due to an
indigent status.

In addition, the co-applicants work closely with the United States Veteran’s
Administration on programming for military personnel acquiring traumatic brain injuries
through active service. Last, and due in major part to CCS’s unique programming, the
Carbondale center serves as a research site for a variety of studies, offers join
programs with Southem lllinois University, and provides externship opportunities for a
number of area universities.

ATTACHMENT 43
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Attachment 43

Safety Net Information per PA 96-0031

CHARITY CARE FY11 FY10 FY09
Charity (# of patients)
Inpatient 4 4 4
Qutpatient residential program
Total 4 4 4
Charity (cost In dollars)
Inpatient $ 286,248 % 283,763 § 28,124,983
Qutpatient residential program
Total § 286,248 § 283,763 % 190,101
MEDICAID FY11 FY10 FY09
Medicaid (# of patients)
Inpatient 85 81 77
Outpatient residential program
Total 85 81 75
Medicaid (revenue)
Inpatient $ 18,946,351 § 18,010,234 § 16,910,246
Outpatient residential program
Total $18,946,351 $ 18,010,234 § 16,910,246
Attachment 44
CHARITY CARE FY11 FY10 FY09
Net Patient Revenue $ 29,827,666 $§ 29,053,261 $ 28,124,983
Amount of Charity Care (charges) $ 298175 § 295,586 $§ 97,790
Cost of Charity Care $ 286,248 §$ 283,763 % 87,402

includes direct and indirect expenses

Attachment 43 and Attachment 44
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